
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Cabinet  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 17 December 2019 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield 

Contact: Ms. J. Bailey (Tel. 0116 305 2583) 

Email: jenny.bailey@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (Chairman) 

 
Mr. R. Blunt CC 

Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 
Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC 

Mr. B. L. Pain CC 

Mr. T. J. Pendleton CC 
Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC 
Mrs H. L. Richardson CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk - notices will be on display at 
the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 

AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 
2019.  
 

 
 

(Pages 3 - 14) 

2.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Declarations of interest in respect of items on 
the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

4.  
  

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 to 
2023/24 - Proposals for Consultation.  
 

Director of 
Corporate 
Resources 
 

(Pages 15 - 16) 

 
 

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 

 
Item   Report by   

 
5.  

  
Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children's 
Social Care Services.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 17 - 44) 

6.  
  

Corporate Parenting Strategy.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 45 - 86) 

7.  
  

Community Safety Strategy 2019-2021.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 87 - 100) 

8.  
  

Re-commissioning of Substance Misuse 
Treatment and Recovery Services.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 101 - 104) 

9.  
  

Exception to Contract Procedure Rules - 
Proposed Appointment of a Provider to Deliver 
Warm Homes Fund Project.  
 

Director of Public 
Health 
 

(Pages 105 - 110) 

10.  
  

Response to Charnwood Borough Council's 
Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-2036) 
Preferred Option Consultation.  
 

Chief Executive 
 

(Pages 111 - 154) 

11.  
  

Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 

 
 

 

12.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet held at County Hall, Glenfield on Friday, 22 
November 2019.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mr. N. J. Rushton CC (in the Chair) 
 

Mr. R. Blunt CC 
Mr. L. Breckon JP CC 
Mr. I. D. Ould OBE CC 
Mr. B. L. Pain CC 
 

Mr. T. J. Pendleton CC 
Mr. J. B. Rhodes CC 
Mrs H. L. Richardson CC 
Mr. R. J. Shepherd CC 
 

In attendance 
 
Mrs. C. M. Radford CC, Mr. O. O’Shea CC, Mr. S. J. Galton CC, Mr. P. Bedford CC, Mrs. 
R. Page CC.   
 

338. Minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 October 2019 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 

339. Urgent items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

340. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
Mr. Shepherd CC declared a personal interest with regard to item 7 on the agenda, 
‘Barrow Road/Poole Farm, Quorn Development – Solar Farm and Light Industrial Units’ 
as a member of Charnwood Borough Council.  
 

341. Outcome of Consultation on the County Council's Priorities.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources concerning the 
outcome of the consultation on the Council’s priorities.  A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda item 4’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Mr. Rhodes CC thanked those who had taken part in the consultation. He said the 
responses had indicated that the Council had achieved the right balance in its service 
provision and that the Council’s support for residents was appreciated.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the results of the public consultation on the County Council’s priorities, which will be 
used to inform the development of the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2020/21 – 
2023/24, be noted.  

3 Agenda Item 1



 
 

 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION:  
 
To ensure future decisions around service delivery in relation to the MTFS are, where 
possible, taken mindful of the views expressed by residents and other stakeholders. 
 

342. Special Education Needs and Disabilities - Proposed Transfer of Funding within 
Dedicated Schools Grant.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services 
concerning the outcome of the consultation with schools on the proposal to transfer up to 
0.5% from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block.  A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda item 5’ is filed with these minutes. 
 

The Director said that an amended statement had been received from the Schools Forum 

as follows:  

 
“The Schools Forum does not agree to the proposals to transfer £2m/0.5% from the 
schools block and asks Leicestershire County Council not to appeal to the Secretary of 
State but to appeal for improved funding for high needs SEN, either directly or through 
improved grant from government.  The Forum welcomes the joint work to progress the 
high needs programme.” 
 
Mr. Ould CC said he had attended the Schools Forum meeting on 6 November and was 
aware of the strength of feeling on the matter.  
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the outcome of the consultation on the proposed transfer of 0.5% from the 

Schools Block of the dedicated Schools Grant to the High Needs Block and the 
position of Schools Forum be noted; 

 

b) That a transfer of funding from the Schools Block to the High Needs Block is not 
pursued further at present; 

 

c) That the Director of Children and Family Services be authorised to engage with 
Leicestershire schools to develop alternative measures to address the High Needs 
Block deficit;  

 

d) That it be noted that should the High Needs Block deficit continue to increase, it 
may be necessary to consider further measures, including a transfer of funding, in 
future years.   

 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
Local authorities are able to transfer up to 0.5% of the gross Schools Block funding to 
High Needs following consultation with schools and with the approval of the Schools 
Forum. Should the Schools Forum not approve a transfer, approval can be sought from 
the Secretary of State. 
 

4



 
 

 

It is considered that effecting the transfer in 2020/21 at this stage in the High Needs 
Development Plan may affect the achievability of the overall Plan. Alternative 
arrangements are being explored to address the funding gap. 
 

343. Delivering Growth in Leicestershire: East of Lutterworth Strategic Development Area and 
Other Projects.  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Director of Corporate Resources and the 
Chief Executive which detailed the outcome of the work undertaken to identify the 
Council’s objectives for the East of Lutterworth Strategic Development Area Scheme and 
assessed the potential delivery options available.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda 
item 6’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Mr. Rhodes CC welcomed the proposals adding that the project was a major step forward 
in the programme to bring about development in Leicestershire, which could bring 
considerable benefits, including financial returns, for the Council. He acknowledged that 
there were some risks and that these would need careful management.   
 
RESOLVED: 

 
a) That the outcome of the options appraisal for the delivery of the East of 

Lutterworth Strategic Development Area (SDA) scheme be noted; 
 

b) That the comments of the Scrutiny Commission on the proposed preferred 
approach be noted; 

 

c) That the East of Lutterworth SDA scheme be delivered via a hybrid approach of 
Option 5 (Joint Venture – Enabling / Development / Operational Partner) and 
Option 2 (Self Development) as outlined in paragraphs 51 to 54 of the report; 

 

d) That the delivery of other growth schemes arising in the County and their possible 
inclusion within the Joint Venture arrangement at (c) above be considered on a 
project-by-project basis, and subject to further reports to the Scrutiny Commission 
and the Cabinet as appropriate;  

 

e) That the specific objectives for the delivery of the Lutterworth East SDA scheme 
as listed in paragraph 25 of the report be approved; 

 

f) That the proposed next steps for the Lutterworth East SDA project be noted and 
further reports be submitted to the Cabinet in March 2020 to seek approval for: 

 
i. the planned procurement approach and scope; 

 
ii. proposals for the establishment, structure and governance of the Joint 

Venture arrangement through a limited liability partnership; 
 

g) That the Director of Corporate Resources undertake further member and officer 
engagement as outlined in paragraph 102 of the report. 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 

5



 
 

 

REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
Establishing a joint venture with a strategic private sector partner on a 50/50 basis to 
fund, develop and manage the Lutterworth scheme most closely aligns to the Council’s 
aspirations for ensuring control over site development whilst sharing risk and obtaining a 
financial return.  Once established the partnership can also be used as a vehicle for the 
delivery of future sites if deemed appropriate by members.  This approach was supported 
by the Scrutiny Commission on 6 November 2019. 
 
The risks generated by self-development of the employment site to the south of 
Lutterworth East are clearer and more manageable and the financial rewards significant 
enough to offset these, therefore this area will be developed by the Council 
independently of the joint venture. 
 
The specific objectives developed for delivery of the Lutterworth East SDA reflect the 
aspiration for a high-quality development in line with the Council’s Strategic Plan 
outcomes whilst also recognising the need to generate financial returns relative to the 
risks taken during development. 
 
OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
The following five options were considered: 
 
Option 1: Disposal with Planning Permission 
The traditional approach, used as a baseline against which other options were compared.   
 
Option 2: Self Development 
The Council carries out construction of the entire housing and commercial development. 
 
Option 3: Joint Venture - Enabling Partner 
The Council plus one or more commercial partners. Each contributes resources (land, 
capital, staff and/or other equipment/assets) and a new Joint Venture business is created 
in which all collaborate, risks and benefits shared. The Council enters into a partnership 
with a development/investment partner, the site is enabled by the partnership and 
serviced plots sold to the market. All services to establish planning consents, removal of 
development issues, etc. is undertaken by the Joint Venture partnership and the Council 
receives a land receipt and share of the profit from enablement.   
 
Option 4: Joint Venture - Development Partner 
The Council goes into partnership with a development/investment partner. The site is 
enabled, residential/commercial elements are developed by the Joint Venture, and the 
Council receives a land receipt and share of the development profit.  
 
Option 5: Joint Venture - Enabling / Development / Operational Partner 
The Council enters into a 50/50 partnership with a strategic partner. The site is enabled 
by the Joint Venture, some developed by the partnership and other plots sold to 
developers. Operational elements are owned/operated by the partnership over the long-
term. The Council receives a land receipt and share of the development/operational profit 
(e.g. private rental, commercial income).   

6



 
 

 

 
344. Barrow Road/Poole Farm, Quorn Development - Solar Farm and Light Industrial Units.  

 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which presented 
the outcome of the further analysis of the proposed Barrow Road/Poole Farm, Quorn 
Development and sought approval to submit a planning application for a solar farm and 
light industrial unit on Council-owned land.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 7’ 
is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Committee noted the comments of local member Mrs. H. Fryer CC, a copy of which 
is filed with these minutes. In response, the Director confirmed that both Quorn and 
Barrow upon Soar Parish Councils would be included in the consultation on the planning 
application.  
 
Members were informed that the solar farm would in fact generate 8,790 megawatt hours 
of energy per annum (not 8.79 as indicated in the report).  
 
Mr. Rhodes CC welcomed the scheme, from which the energy generated would offset 
either all the carbon emissions of Council properties or half the street lighting across the 
County.  
 
RESOLVED: 

 
(a) That the Director of Corporate Resources be authorised to submit a planning 

application for the commercial development of a new solar farm and light industrial 
units at Quorn as detailed in the report; 

 
(b) That subject to planning consent being granted, construction of the first phase of the 

development - the solar farm and Barrow Road light industrial units - be approved 
subject to a maximum capital cost of £14 million; 

 
(c) That a further report be made to the Cabinet when it is considered that construction 

of phase two of the development - light industrial units at Poole Farm - is viable. 
 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASON FOR DECISION: 
 
The development of the Council-owned land will provide the Authority with future revenue 
income and support environmental and economic objectives. 
 

345. Tree Management Strategy.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which sought the 
Cabinet’s support for the draft Tree Management Strategy which set out the approach for 
the management of the County Council’s trees and woodlands and included a tree 
management and planting programme.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 8’ is 
filed with these minutes. 
 
Members noted the comments of Mr. G. A. Boulter CC, a copy of which is filed with these 
minutes. 
 

7



 
 

 

Mr. Pain CC welcomed the report and said that funding had been allocated to explore 
how the carbon reduction would be addressed across Council services. The introduction 
of the Tree Management Strategy was one measure the Council was taking to address 
the climate change emergency. 
 
It was noted that evergreen species, which held their leaves all year, had more capacity 
to absorb pollution, although native species were also planted to improve and protect eco 
systems.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the draft Tree Management Strategy and Tree Management and Planting Plan 

be supported and referred to the Environment and Transport Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for comment; 

 
(b) That a further report be submitted to the Cabinet in March 2020 presenting the final 

Tree Management Strategy and Tree Management and Planting Plan for approval. 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
The County Council has a legal duty to manage and maintain all trees on County 
Council-owned land, in parks and open spaces and on the public highway.  
 
The draft Tree Management Strategy and associated Plan set out standards for the 
management of the tree resource under the stewardship of the County Council which 
comply with nationally recognised codes of practice and will mitigate the risk (e.g. of 
insurance claims) as well as helping to protect trees and woodlands as a valuable natural 
asset to Leicestershire.  
 
It is intended to carry out some consultation with partner agencies and specialist groups 
(such as the National Forest Company and Woodland Trust) to inform the final Strategy 
and to seek feedback from the Council’s Environment and Transport Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 

346. Melton Mowbray Local Plan Delivery Partnership - Housing Infrastructure Fund Bid.  
 
The Cabinet considered a joint report of the Director of Environment and Transport and 
the Director of Corporate Resources regarding the success of the Housing Infrastructure 
Fund bid for the southern section of the Melton Mowbray Distributor Road and the 
discussions with Melton Borough Council regarding a risk-sharing agreement for the 
remaining funding of the road and related infrastructure.  A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda item 9’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
The Chairman personally thanked the outgoing Member of Parliament the Rt. Hon. Sir 
Alan Duncan for his support with the HIF bid.  
 
Mr. Rhodes CC welcomed the success of the HIF bid. He commented on the need for 
support from Melton Borough Council and that the County Council was taking on risk in 
funding the project whilst developer contributions were awaited.  
 
Members supported the inclusion of an additional recommendation concerning air quality; 
an issue that had been raised during the consultation and highlighted the benefits to 
residents of other bypasses built in the county.  

8



 
 

 

 
The Cabinet commended officers for their work on this project.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the implications of the broad principles agreed with Melton Borough Council, set 

out in paragraph 37 of the report, that will feed into the risk-sharing agreement, be 
noted; 
 

(b) That the Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance, 
following consultation with the Cabinet Lead Member for Resources, be authorised to 
finalise and enter into the risk-sharing agreement with Melton Borough Council prior 
to signing of the agreement with Homes England for the Housing Infrastructure Fund 
(HIF) funding (expected to be in place by the end of the financial year); 
 

(c) That the HIF funding be accepted, for the reasons set out in paragraphs 22 to 31 of 
the report; 
 

(d) Melton Borough Council be asked to provide assurance that both now and in the 
future the Council will carry out its statutory obligations to monitor air quality in 
Melton Mowbray, in particular associated with pollution caused by traffic, and to 
produce appropriate plans to address issues identified; 

 
(d) That the Director of Environment and Transport, in consultation with the Director of 

Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance and following 
consultation with the Cabinet Lead Members for Resources and Environment and 
Transport, be authorised to take the necessary actions to deliver the Melton 
Mowbray Distributor Road (MMDR) northern eastern and southern sections. 

 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
Following the Cabinet decision of May 2019, officers have continued to work to develop a 
suitable risk-sharing agreement to support the funding of the MMDR and other 
infrastructure, required to support Melton Borough Council’s Local Plan. 
 
The financial risk faced by the County Council in delivering the infrastructure, principally 
the MMDR and schools, necessary to support growth in Melton is significant. The 
introduction of risk-sharing arrangements with Melton Borough Council and maximising 
developer contributions helps to manage better these risks and share these in a way that 
is proportionate and fair.   
 

347. A511 Growth Corridor Proposals.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Environment and Transport concerning 
the consultation on the A511 Growth Corridor proposals and seeking continued support 
for the prioritisation and delivery of the scheme.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda 
item 10’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Mr. Pain CC welcomed the scheme which would be delivered jointly with North West 
Leicestershire District Council. Members noted that the Environment and Transport 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee welcomed the scheme.  

9



 
 

 

 
Mr. Pendleton CC added that the scheme addressed concerns regarding air quality and 
commended officers for their work.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the consultation feedback and comments of the Environment and Transport 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee be noted; 
 

(b) That the MRN A511 Growth Corridor scheme, comprising proposed improvements to 
eight junctions along the A511, including a Bardon Link Road extension to south-east 
Coalville, and dual carriageway between Thornborough Road and Whitwick Road as 
shown in the plan attached as Appendix A to the report, be supported; 

 
(c) That the existing funding allocation of £4m capital funding be used to: 

 
i. Develop and submit a planning application for the extension to the Bardon 

Link Road, 
  

ii. Undertake all necessary preparations to progress the scheme to Full 
Business Case (FBC) and, subject to Department for Transport (DfT) 
approval, delivery;  

 
(d) That the Director of Environment and Transport, in consultation with the Director of 

Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance and following 
consultation with the Cabinet Lead Members for Environment and Transport and 
Resources be authorised to submit the FBC to the DfT for approval and to take the 
necessary actions to deliver the MRN A511 Growth Corridor scheme subject to (e) 
below;  
 

(e) A further report be submitted to the Cabinet prior to submission of a planning 
application for the Bardon Link Road Extension to include, amongst other things – 

 

i. The detailed design and updated cost estimates for the scheme which will 
form the basis for the planning application; 

 
ii. Requests for approval to make and implement any required Compulsory 

Purchase Orders and associated statutory orders; 
 

iii. The updated cost-sharing agreement with North West Leicestershire District 
Council. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION: 
 
Following the Cabinet decision of March 2019 to support development of a package of 
measures which meet the criteria for MRN finding, officers have continued to work on the 
proposals for the A511 corridor and are confident that they will provide value for money. 
 
Whilst the Coalville Contribution Strategy provides a means of financing individual 
schemes, the delivery of the package of measures in the A511 scheme would be in a 
piecemeal fashion over a long period, as delivery of each of the individual proposals 
could only be carried out when developer funding became available or central 
government funding could be secured. 

10



 
 

 

 
The MRN funding of up to £50m provides the best opportunity to ensure that all the 
mitigation identified through planning can be delivered whilst minimising the disruption to 
the public.  To bid for this, it is necessary for the County Council to commit funding of 
£4m to prepare a business case. 
 
Authorising the Director to proceed with actions to deliver the scheme up to the 
submission of a planning application will ensure that it is progressed at the earliest 
opportunity. 
 

348. Annual Delivery Report and Performance Compendium 2019.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive which presented the draft Annual 
Delivery Report and Performance Compendium for 2019.  A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda item 11’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Mr. Rhodes CC welcomed the report and highlighted that IMPOWER had rated 
Leicestershire as the most productive Council for the third year running.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the overall progress during 2018/19 in delivering on the Council’s Strategic 

Priorities, securing transformation, and mitigating the impact of national funding 
reductions, as set out in the draft Annual Delivery Report, be noted; 

 
(b) That the current comparative funding and performance position, service pressures 

and risks set out in the Performance Compendium be noted; 
 

(c) That the comments of the Scrutiny Commission be noted; 
 

(d) That it be noted that whilst the provision of resources through the business rates 
retention pilot in 2019/20 and extra resources for 2020/21 is welcomed, the delay in 
implementing the national fair funding system has created significant uncertainties in 
the medium-term with risks to being able to address the many service challenges 
and priorities facing the County;  

 
(e) That the Council continues to press its case for a fairer funding settlement and 

pursue other major savings initiatives;     
 
(f) That the Chief Executive, following consultation with the Leader, be authorised to 

make any amendments to the draft Annual Delivery Report and Performance 
Compendium prior to its submission to the County Council on 4 December 2019 for 
approval. 

 

(g) That IMPOWER rating the County Council as the most productive council for the 
third year running, be welcomed.  

 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
It is best practice in performance management, implicit in the LGA Sector-Led approach 
to local authority performance and part of the Council’s Internal Governance Framework, 
to undertake a review of overall progress at the end of the year and to benchmark 
performance against comparable authorities. It is also good practice to produce an 

11



 
 

 

annual performance report and ensure that it is scrutinised, transparent, and made 
publicly available. 
 
The Council is poorly funded in comparison with other local authorities and this, until 
addressed, will continue to impact on delivery, performance and council tax levels.  
 
The draft Report and Compendium may be modified to reflect comments made by the 
Cabinet as well as to include any final national comparative data which becomes 
available prior to its consideration by full Council. 
 

349. Delivering Wellbeing and Opportunity in Leicestershire: Adults and Communities 
Department Ambitions and Strategy 2020-24 - Permission to Consult.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Adults and Communities which sought 
approval to consult on the draft ‘Delivering Wellbeing and Opportunity in Leicestershire: 
Adults and Communities Department Ambitions and Strategy for 2020-2024’.  A copy of 
the report marked ‘Agenda item 12’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Members noted the comments of the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, a copy of which is filed with these minutes.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
a) That the comments of the Adults and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee be noted;  
 

b) That the draft ‘Delivering Wellbeing and Opportunity in Leicestershire: Adults and 
Communities Department Ambitions and Strategy for 2020–2024’ (attached as 
Appendix A to the report), and the associated consultation document (attached as 
Appendix B) be approved for consultation; 

 
c) A further report be submitted to the Cabinet in summer 2020 presenting the outcome 

of the consultation and the final Strategy for approval. 
 
(KEY DECISION) 
 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
The Director of Adults and Communities requires the Cabinet’s permission to undertake a 
formal consultation exercise on the ambitions and Strategy for adult social care, library, 
museums and heritage, and adult learning service delivery in the coming four-year 
period.   
 
The draft Strategy for 2020-24 has been developed to fulfil statutory duties and provide a 
basis for the Adults and Communities Department’s vision, planning, commissioning and 
delivery of services up until 2024. 
 
The views of service users and other stakeholders are necessary to inform the 
Department’s future approach and to determine how this can be best achieved through 
the provision and commissioning of services. 

12



 
 

 

 
350. Annual Report of the Director of Public Health: Leicestershire's Health - Physical Activity - 

Moving to a Whole System Approach.  
 
The Cabinet considered the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report for 2019.  A copy 
of the report marked ‘Agenda item 13’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Members endorsed the comments of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, a 
copy of which is filed with these minutes, and added that ‘Choose How You Move’ 
messages needed to be promoted to the public to improve the key performance 
indicators in Leicestershire’s Physical Activity profile.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the comments of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee be noted; 

 
(b) That the recommendations contained within the Director of Public Health Annual 

Report 2019 be supported;  
 

(c) That it be noted that the Annual Report will be submitted to the County Council on 4 
December 2019. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
The Director of Public Health's Annual Report is a statutory independent report on the 
health of the population of Leicestershire. 
 
To enable the County Council to consider the Report, which will help inform future 
commissioning decisions. 
 

351. Leicestershire Substance Misuse Strategy 2020-2023.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Director of Public Health which sought approval 
for the Leicestershire Substance Misuse Strategy 2020-23.  A copy of the report marked 
‘Agenda item 14’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the outcome of the consultation on the Leicestershire Substance Misuse 

Strategy including comments of the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee be 
noted; 
 

(b) That the Leicestershire Substance Misuse Strategy 2020-23 be approved; 
 

(c) That it be noted that the Director of Public Health, following consultation with the 
Lead Member for Health, will produce an Implementation Plan to deliver upon the 
priorities set out in the Strategy. 

 
REASONS FOR DECISION:  
 
The Leicestershire Substance Misuse Strategy 2020-23 has been developed in 
recognition of the need to coordinate substance misuse related work across the Council 

13



 
 

 

and has been informed by a public consultation exercise. The Strategy will set an agreed 
direction for substance misuse service provision across Leicestershire.  
 
The development of an implementation plan, which will deliver upon the priorities set out 
in the Strategy, will be led by the Director of Public Health and the wider Public Health 
Team.   
 

352. Response to Consultation on Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service Integrated Risk 
Management Plan 2020 - 2024.  
 
The Cabinet considered a report of the Chief Executive which sought approval of the 
draft response to the Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service consultation on the 
Integrated Risk Management Plan.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda item 15’ is filed 
with these minutes. 
 
Members noted that the response to Proposal 1 (use of fire engines flexibly) would be 
amended to read: 
 
“... However, the reason that the Fire and Rescue Service is unable at present to always 
meet the ’10-minute goal’ is due to assets being committed at other incidents, availability 
of crew and vehicle maintenance.  It is not clear how the proposal of flexibly using 
operational assets would enable this goal to be achieved. The County Council would 
welcome greater clarity on how this proposal would work in practice.  However, it 
welcomes the intention to record response times from receipt of the 999 call”; (additional 
text indicated in italics). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That subject to the amended wording above regarding Proposal 1 (use of fire engines 
flexibly), the response set out in Appendix B to the report be approved for submission to 
the Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service as the views of the County Council.   
 
REASON FOR DECISION:  
 
To enable the views of the County Council to be submitted to the Leicestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service. 
 

353. Items referred from Overview and Scrutiny.  
 
There were no items referred from Overview and Scrutiny. 
 
 
 

      2.00  - 3.39 pm CHAIRMAN 
      22 November 2019 

 

14



 
 

CABINET – 17 DECEMBER 2019 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020/21 TO 2023/24 - 
PROPOSALS FOR CONSULTATION 

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES 

 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to enable consideration to be given to the 
provisional Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2020/21 to 2023/24 (the 
MTFS) which incorporates the 2020/21 revenue budget and capital 
programme.   

 
2. A supplementary report setting out the detailed proposals for the MTFS is 

currently being prepared and this will be circulated to members and published 
on the County Council’s website as soon as it is available. 

 
Recommendation 
 

3. The Cabinet is asked to note this and the supplementary report and consider 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2020/21 to 2023/24. 

 
Reason for Recommendation 
 

4. To enable the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2020/21 to 2023/24 to be 
agreed for consultation and submission to the Scrutiny Commission and 
appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
5. Subject to agreement by the Cabinet, the MTFS will be considered by the 

Scrutiny Commission and the Overview and Scrutiny Committees during 
January 2020, as follows - 

 

Health - Wednesday 15 January  

Environment and Transport - Thursday 16 January  

Adults and Communities - Monday 20 January  

Children and Families - Tuesday 21 January  

Scrutiny Commission - Monday 27 January  

 
 

 

15 Agenda Item 4



6. It is intended that the Cabinet will then consider comments of the Scrutiny 
bodies and responses from the wider consultation process at its meeting on 7 
February 2020 and the final MTFS will be submitted to the County Council for 
approval on 19 February 2020.  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
7. The MTFS is a rolling financial plan that is updated annually. The current 

MTFS was approved by the County Council in February 2019. The County 
Council’s Strategic Plan outlines its long-term vision and the MTFS, along with 
other plans and strategies such as the Transformation Programme, aligns with 
and underpins the Strategic Plan. 

 
8. Consideration of the relevant corporate policies and plans will be given in the 

supplementary report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

9. None.   
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

10. There are no equality or human rights implications arising from this report. 
 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the County Council on 20 February 2019: Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2019/20-2022/23 - http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5125 

 
County Council Strategic Plan –  
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan  

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources  
Tel: 0116 305 6199 
Email: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk 
 
Declan Keegan, Assistant Director, Strategic Finance and Property  
Corporate Resources Dept. 
Tel: 0116 305 7668 
Email: declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5125
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
mailto:chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
mailto:declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk


            

     APPEN 

 
 

CABINET - 17TH DECEMBER 2019 
 

OFSTED INSPECTION OF LOCAL AUTHORITY CHILDREN’S 
SOCIAL CARE SERVICES 

 
REPPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the outcome of the recent 

Ofsted inspection of children’s social care services in Leicestershire and to 
present the Action Plan which has been developed to address the 
recommendations in the Ofsted Report.  The Ofsted findings and the Council’s 
response are attached to this report as Appendix A and Appendix B 
respectively. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. The Cabinet is recommended to: 

 
(a) Note the Ofsted inspection report on children’s social care services; 

 
(b) Note the action plan which has been prepared by Children and 

Family Services in response to the recommendations in the Ofsted 
Report. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3. To ensure Members are aware of the outcome of the recent Ofsted Inspection 

and the measures being taken in response. 
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 

4. The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee will consider the 
Ofsted findings and associated action plan at its meeting on 21st January 
2020. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
5. The Cabinet in March 2017 noted the outcome of an Ofsted inspection of 

children’s social care services which had taken place at the end of 2016 and 

17 Agenda Item 5



 

agreed and agreed an Action Plan which set out the approach to the future 
development and improvement of services to children and families in 
Leicestershire. 
 

6. The Ofsted Inspection was undertaken in accordance with the framework for 
the Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services.  

 
Resource Implications 
 
7. There are no resource implications arising from the recommendations in this 

report. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
8. This report will be circulated to all members. 

 
Officer to contact 
 
Jane Moore 
Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel:  0116 305 2649 
email:  jane.moore@leics.gov.uk 
 

18

mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk


 

PART B 
 

Background 
 
9. Ofsted undertakes the Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services on all 

local authority areas with the statutory responsible for delivering children’s 
services. The inspection framework inspects local authority services for 
children in need of help and protection, children in care and care leavers and 
the effectiveness of leaders and managers and the impact they have on the 
lives of children and young people and the quality of professional practice. 

 
10. The last full inspection of the County Council’s children’s services was 

undertaken in November 2016 when the services were graded as “requiring 
improvement to be good” across all areas.  Following the 2016 Inspection a 
comprehensive action plan was created in order to drive improvements across 
a number of key areas in the Department including the development of a 
quality assurance framework, social work development programme, practice 
and management standards, improved quality of supervision for staff, service 
improvements and the development of strong policies and procedures. 

 
11. In November 2018 a focused visit was undertaken by Ofsted on the ‘Front 

Door’, which deals with all new requests for services coming into the 
Department, the conclusion of which was that services had improved from 
November 2016. (Focused visits evaluate an aspect of service, a theme or the 
experiences of a cohort of children and take place between standard and 
short inspections). 

 
Leicestershire’s Ofsted Inspection 
 
12. The inspection was carried out over three weeks from 16th September to 4th 

October 2019, involving 8 inspectors. The inspectors considered the quality of 
work across Early Help and Children’s Social Care and the impact of services 
on children and young people in Leicestershire. 

 
13. The inspectors read case files, met with staff and leaders in the Department 

and considered the Department’s Self Assessment of its performance and 
improvement journey since the inpsection in 2016. 

 
Inspection Findings 
 
14. The findings of the inpsection are detailed in a report from Ofsted, attached at 

Appendix A. This includes gradings indicating how the service is judged to be 
performing in 4 broad areas. The grades available to Ofsted are (1) 
inadequate – which triggers formal intervention by DfE, (2) requires 
improvement to be good (3) good, and (4) outstanding. 

 
15. To date, in relation to overall effectiveness, around 13% of councils in 

England have been graded inadequate, 35% require improvement to be good, 
36.5% are good and 15.5% are outstanding. 

 

19



 

16. Leicestershire has been graded as follows:- 
 

Service Area Grade 

The impact of leaders on social work practice with 
children and families. 

Good 

The experiences and progress of children who 
need help and protection. 

Requires 
Improvement 

The experiences and progress of children in care 
and care leavers. 

Good 

Overall effectiveness. Requires 
Improvement 

 
Report Headlines 
 
17. Ofsted identfied that progress has been made in many areas of children’s 

social care services in Leicestershire since the last inspection in 2016,when 
all judgements were graded as ‘requires improvement to be good’.  However, 
it acknowledged that whilst services for children in care are now judged to be 
good, those for children needing help and protection still require some further 
improvement. The report further emphasised that overall, children are not 
experiencing good practice consistently enough across all services, and that 
the extent and impact of the remaining areas for improvement are substantial. 
For these reasons, in terms of overall effectiveness Ofsted concluded that the 
services still require improvement to be good. 

 
Leicestershire’s Strengths 
 
18. Ofsted recognised that the commitment and investment by political and 

corporate leaders, together with effective work by staff and senior managers, 
have meant that responses to the needs of children and families have 
improved in many areas across children’s services.  For instance - 
 

 Leicestershire provides a good variety of Early Help Services which 
support parents to safely care for their children. 

 

 Children receive a timely and effective response when they need help 
and protection in the evenings and at weekends. Swift action is taken to 
ensure that children are protected, with those at risk of immediate harm 
seen early, and initial assessments of their needs are prompt. Moreover, 
improvements in the first response service mean that checks are now 
timelier, and thresholds are more clearly understood.  

 

 Disabled children who need help and protection receive a good service. 
They are seen regularly, according to their plan, and are supported 
effectively by social workers who know them well.  

 

20



 

 Inspectors were impressed by the Vulnerability Hub and its effectiveness 
in safeguarding children and young people who are at risk of harm or 
who are experiencing harm from sexual exploitation, as well as those 
who go missing from home and from care. Ofsted highlighted the strong 
multi-agency collaboration and investment that enables the work to be 
effective. 

 

 Inspectors praised the effective systems in place to monitor the welfare 
of children who are electively home educated, as well as those who are 
missing from education.  

 

 Most children in care and care leavers make good progress, are settled 
in good homes with their needs well met, and their lives are better 
because of the improved services. 

 

 Social workers have manageable caseloads, enabling them to get to 
know the children well and work with them. Furthermore, most children 
enter care only when it is necessary and appropriate to do so. 

 

 The Fostering and Adoption Services were identified by inspectors as 
very strong, in particular the training and support provided to children in 
foster care and to foster carers, post-adoption support and the Adoption 
Panel process. 

 

 Most care leavers live in suitable accommodation, and the majority are 
participating in education, training or employment. Inspectiors noted that 
the Council has aspirations for its children in care and care leavers and 
holds regular events that celebrate their acheivements. 

 
Areas for Further Improvement 
 
19. Ofsted identified a number of areas for improvement in addition to the key 

actions set out in the report, in particular -  
 

 That the quality of social work practice is still too variable, particularly for 
children needing help and protection. In addition, core areas of social 
work practice (in particular planning and recording) and management 
oversight still need to be improved.  

 

 Inspectors noted that plans for children in need or at risk did not always 
state the specific actions that needed to be taken, and most plans lacked 
timeframes within which actions needed to be completed, and were 
concerned that this might inhibit timely progress and could lead to drift 
and delay for children. 

 

 Inpsectors considered that permanence planning was significantly 
weaker for those children who are needed options other than adoption 
(for instance, foster or residential placements) and that permanence is 
not being sufficiently driven through management oversight or planning. 

 

21



 

 Supervision of social workers is not of a high enough quality to ensure 
that social work practice is always effective and meeting the needs of 
children in a timely way. 

 
Ofsted Key Recommendations  
 
20. The report contains 6 recommendations for improvement covering the 

following areas:- 
 

i. The timeliness of assessment and help for children who are not 
identified as being at immediate risk of significant harm but who live 
with the impact of cumulative risk and harm.  

 
ii. The timeliness of work to secure positive change for children during the 

pre-proceedings stage of the Public Law Outline.  
 

iii. The quality and consistency of social work practice in care planning, 
including the quality of supervision and oversight to prevent 
unnecessary drift and delay for children.  

 
iv. The quality of case recording to enable new workers to more easily 

understand a child’s history and circumstances.  
 

v. Planning for permanence for children whose plan is not adoption.  
 

vi. Monitoring of the quality and appropriateness of alternative education 
provision for children in care.  

 
21. The action plan prepared by Children and Family Services in response to this 

is attached as Appendix B.  This builds on the continuous improvement plan 
(The Road to Excellence) that was developed as a four-year plan following 
the 2016 Ofsted inspection. The latest action plan must be submitted to 
Ofsted by 10th February 2020. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
22. There are no specific equality or human rights implications arising from the 

recommendations in this report. The findings apply to all children and young 
people with whom the Council is engaged regardless of any protected 
characteristic. The changes as a result of the Action Plan will help improve the 
outcomes for children and their families. 

 
23. Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessments will be undertaken as 

appropriate should there be any reviews of Departmental strategies or 
services. 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Ofsted Report 
Appendix B - Action Plan 

22



 

Background Papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 10 March 2017  
Ofsted Report - Leicestershire: Inspection of services for children in need of help 
and protection, children looked after and care leavers (2016) 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4859&Ver=4  

 
Ofsted – framework, evaluation criteria and inspector guidance for the inspection of 
local authority children’s services 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services-from-2018 

 
 
 

23

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4859&Ver=4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inspecting-local-authority-childrens-services-from-2018


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

1 
 

 

 

Leicestershire County Council 
 
Inspection of children’s social care services 
 
Inspection dates: 23 September 2019 to 4 October 2019 
 
Lead inspector:  Kate Malleson 

Her Majesty’s Inspector 
 

Judgement Grade 

The impact of leaders on social work practice with children 
and families 

Good 

The experiences and progress of children who need help and 
protection 

Requires improvement 
to be good 

The experiences and progress of children in care and care 
leavers 

Good 

Overall effectiveness 
Requires improvement 
to be good 

 

Progress has been made in many areas of children’s services in Leicestershire 
since the last inspection in 2016, when all judgements were graded as ‘requires 
improvement to be good’. While services for children in care are now judged to be 
good, those for children needing help and protection still require improvement to 
be good. Overall, children are not experiencing good practice consistently enough 
across all services, and the extent and impact of the remaining areas for 
improvement are substantial. For these reasons, overall effectiveness requires 
improvement to be good.  
 
Commitment and investment by political and corporate leaders, together with 
effective work by staff and senior managers, have meant that responses to the 
needs of children and families have improved in many areas. Most children in care 
are settled in good homes with their needs well met, and, for that reason, they 
make good progress. Most care leavers live in suitable accommodation, and the 
majority are participating in education, training or employment. There is a more 
timely and effective response when children first need help and protection, 
including out of hours and for children at risk of sexual exploitation and for 

25



 
 

 
 

2 
 

 

children who go missing, as well as those experiencing the impact of domestic 
abuse. The quality of assessments has improved, and they now more clearly 
identify children’s needs. Therapeutic support for children in foster care or who 
have been adopted or achieve permanence through special guardianship has been 
strengthened. For these reasons, more children and families experience better 
outcomes.  
 
The quality of social work practice is still too variable, particularly for children 
needing help and protection. Although the pace of improvement has accelerated 
in the last 12 months, since the appointment of a permanent director of children’s 
services, core areas of social work practice and management still need to be 
improved. Plans for children in need or at risk do not always state the specific 
actions that need to be taken, and most plans lack timeframes for actions to be 
completed within. These omissions inhibit timely progress. Permanence planning 
is significantly weaker for those children who are needing permanence through 
options other than adoption. Supervision of social workers is not of a high enough 
quality to ensure that social work practice is always effective.     

 

What needs to improve 

◼ The timeliness of assessment and help for children who are not identified as being 
at immediate risk of significant harm but who live with the impact of cumulative 
risk and harm. 

 

◼ The timeliness of work to secure positive change for children during the pre-
proceedings stage of the Public Law Outline. 

 

◼ The quality and consistency of social work practice in care planning, including the 
quality of supervision and oversight to prevent unnecessary drift and delay for 
children. 

 

◼ The quality of case recording to enable new workers to more easily understand a 
child’s history and circumstances. 

 

◼ Planning for permanence for children whose plan is not adoption. 
 

◼ Monitoring of the quality and appropriateness of alternative education provision 
for children in care. 

 
The experiences and progress of children who need help and 
protection: requires improvement to be good 
 
1. Children and families can access a good variety of targeted early help services, 

which support parents to safely care for their children. However, some children 
wait too long to access this support. Senior managers are aware that the steps 
which are built into the system at the front door through early help triage and 

26



 
 

 
 

3 
 

 

subsequent allocation to the appropriate early help service are unnecessarily 
difficult.  

 

2. There has been some improvement in the quality of referrals since the 
implementation of a newly designed multi-agency referral form in April 2019. 
Prior to this, the quality of referrals from partner agencies about children who 
need help and protection was too variable. When there is a lack of information, 
this causes delay while more information is sought to inform decision-making. 
The improved form and shared language enable professionals to be specific 
about concerns and to keep positive factors in mind. It also helps parents to be 
clearer about their requests. This added clarity facilitates timelier decision-
making to meet children’s needs.  

 
3. Children receive a timely and effective response when they need help and 

protection in the evenings and at weekends. Risk is responded to swiftly, and 
action is taken to ensure that children are protected. This includes holding 
strategy discussions out of normal office hours. Thorough recording means that 
it is clear what immediate actions have been taken and what the next steps are 
to ensure that children’s ongoing needs are assessed and responded to 
appropriately. 

 
4. Children at risk of immediate harm are seen early, and initial assessments of 

their needs are prompt. Improvements in the first response service mean that 
checks are now timelier and thresholds are more clearly understood. Consent is 
routinely sought or dispensed with when appropriate. 

 
5. Management oversight of high-risk duty work is firmly in place. Strategy 

meetings are usually prompt and result in clear actions and timescales. 
However, there are sometimes delays when cases are already open, and instead 
of police attending in person, reports are sent in. This means that there is no 
shared discussion about the most current presenting risks to children.  

 
6. Child protection enquiries are thorough, and a clear rationale for the decision to 

begin section 47 enquiries is recorded. Most initial child protection conferences 
are timely, and children receive help quickly. 

 
7. Work with police, education and health partners is mostly a strength. 

Information is efficiently shared, contributes to assessments and planning, and 
influences decisions about how to safeguard children. 

 
8. Although improving, the quality of assessments remains variable. More recent 

assessments are better at identifying the impact for children of cumulative risk, 
but for a small minority of children, there is insufficient analysis of the risks that 
they are exposed to. A lack of effective action and planning for a small number 
of children living in circumstances of chronic neglect or domestic abuse means 
that their circumstances do not improve quickly enough. These children have 

27



 
 

 
 

4 
 

 

remained in neglectful or harmful circumstances for longer than they should 
have.  

 
9. Where children are not at immediate risk of harm, assessments are not 

undertaken swiftly enough. Sometimes there is a delay in allocating to a worker, 
children are not seen quickly enough, and recommendations are not routinely 
signed off as management decisions. Some of these children experience delay in 
receiving help because of the lack of urgency in progressing actions which would 
improve their daily lived experiences. 

 
10. The quality of plans is not consistent. Stronger plans are rooted in a thorough 

assessment and are specific and clear about expectations and timeframes for 
improvements to be made. Weaker plans lack clear, specific timeframes for 
action and are not sufficiently clear about what needs to happen and who is 
responsible for making it happen. While the use of the social work methodology 
helpfully clarifies and articulates the concerns and strengths, this enhanced 
understanding does not consistently translate into effective positive action. 
Where there are multiple children in a family, the needs of individual children are 
sometimes lost. For some children, the ineffectiveness of poor-quality plans is 
further compounded by weak management oversight. This combination causes 
drift and delay for children, who then wait too long for their circumstances to 
improve. 

 
11. Children in the pre-proceedings phase of the Public Law Outline (PLO) wait too 

long for social workers and managers to formulate plans and act to achieve 
positive change for them. Letters written to parents help them to understand 
what they need to do to prevent court proceedings. Weaker letters include 
complex social work terminology that prevents parents from having absolute 
clarity about what the concerns are and when the changes are needed. 
Management oversight of planning and tracking needs to be more robust so that 
delay is reduced for all children. An appropriate plan is in place to address this, 
with some progress evident, but an even sharper focus is needed.  

 
12. Social workers feel well supported by their managers. Management oversight is 

visible on case records, but the impact that managers have on case progression 
is too variable and does not prevent children from waiting too long to achieve 
positive change. This is because supervision is not regular, there is limited 
evidence of analysis or reflective practice, and it does not lead to specific or 
challenging actions with timescales for completion that are followed up and 
children’s progress monitored.  

 
13. Although most social workers know their children well, and take care to 

understand their wishes and feelings, records do not consistently reflect the 
positive work they do. In some cases, there has been a lack of persistence in 
developing a relationship with a child or young person and a lack of evidence of 
trying to build this. The phrases ‘hard to engage’ or ‘does not engage’ are then 
used inappropriately in case records. 

28



 
 

 
 

5 
 

 

 
14. Children’s rights officers support children well to express their views during 

conferences and reviews, including good engagement by these workers with 
children in the PLO. Children using this service value the listening ear of 
advocates, but a minority expressed frustration about their relationships with 
their social workers, and about the impact their social workers had on their lives. 

 
15. Disabled children who need help and protection receive a good service. They are 

seen regularly, according to their plan, and are supported effectively by social 
workers who know them well. Risks and vulnerabilities are well understood, and 
a variety of help is provided to meet their needs, including the use of short 
breaks and access to leisure activities and physical aids.  

 
16. Timely pre-birth assessments are undertaken to assess the risks to unborn 

babies, and these lead to appropriate child protection planning. This includes 
providing support to parents before and after the birth, which enables parents to 
care for their baby safely. In a small minority of cases, pre-birth assessments 
had not progressed quickly enough. This meant that risk could not be mitigated 
and mothers and babies were separated at birth while work was completed. The 
local authority has used learning from speaking to these parents about how this 
creates stress for families at birth and might be preventable with earlier action. 
As a result, they had already delivered specific workshops to further improve 
practice to minimise the risk of unnecessary separation at birth. 

 
17. The impressive Vulnerability Hub is effective in safeguarding children and young 

people who are at risk of harm or who are experiencing harm from sexual 
exploitation, as well as those who go missing from home and from care. Strong 
multi-agency collaboration and investment enable teams of specialist social 
workers, police and other staff to quickly share information, fully consider 
historical concerns, and to make effective decisions which safeguard and 
minimise the risks to children and young people. Return interviews are 
comprehensive, include children’s views and are completed in a timely manner, 
with information used to inform work with individual children and wider 
disruption activity. 

 
18. Although work to address child sexual exploitation is well established and 

embedded, the local authority and police partners acknowledge further work is 
needed to understand the true scale of child criminal exploitation in 
Leicestershire and to develop an equally effective response. Training and 
awareness-raising activity following the discovery of several active county lines 
has been effective in increasing the number of referrals which link sexual and 
criminal exploitation. The multi-agency co-located child sexual exploitation team 
is suitably evolving into a child criminal exploitation team, with the modern 
slavery and human trafficking team now appropriately aligned alongside. An 
additional service manager in First Response, who has operational responsibility 
for child criminal exploitation, means that there is an increased and important 

29



 
 

 
 

6 
 

 

focus on the development of work to prevent the criminal exploitation of 
children.  

 
19. Where children live in homes in which domestic abuse and violence is a concern, 

there is prompt and effective information-sharing and careful consideration of 
risk and history. This leads to appropriate early intervention or signposting to 
relevant services. In contrast, in cases where risk is less urgent, and which are 
referred to the early help service, there is delay in families receiving support 
because of the cumbersome triage system. The local authority had identified this 
issue, which is being addressed by senior managers. 

 
20. Allegations against professionals and carers are treated seriously, and there is 

an effective process in place to respond to allegations which meet the threshold 
of concern. The local authority has recognised that the current use of email 
processes means that there is not an effective system in place to measure the 
capacity and volume of work. Further development is also needed to analyse 
and understand patterns and trends of low-level concerns which might need to 
be addressed. 

 
21. Private fostering assessments are thorough. They consider the views of the 

children and their parents and assess the capacity of the carer to meet the 
specific needs of the child they are caring for. The local authority has identified 
the need to streamline the referral and assessment process so that children are 
seen more quickly. Positively, children living in private fostering arrangements 
are seen regularly by their social worker to monitor their well-being during and 
beyond the assessment process. This continuing oversight ensures that their 
welfare is regularly reviewed and helps to ensure their safety. 

 
22. The local authority has effective systems in place to monitor the welfare of 

children who are electively home educated, as well as those who are missing 
from education. Extra attention is given to the oversight of vulnerable children, 
including those who have an education, health and care plan. Joined-up work 
between different service areas and sharp tracking systems minimise the risk to 
young people who are out of education.  

   

The experiences and progress of children in care and care 
leavers is: good 
 
23. Most children in care and care leavers make good progress, and their lives are 

better because of the improved and good services they now receive in 
Leicestershire. They are settled and live in homes which meet their needs and 
they thrive because of the good standard of care they receive. Many children 
receive regular visits from social workers at above the statutory minimum level. 
Social workers are good at ensuring that children’s health and education needs 
are met through regular health and education reviews, and additional resources 
are sought and commissioned where necessary. Social workers have 
manageable workloads, so they can get to know the children well and undertake 

30



 
 

 
 

7 
 

 

direct work to help children understand their life experiences and journey into 
care. Homeless young people eligible to become looked after are informed of 
their rights and accommodated when it is in their best interests. Most children 
come into care when it is necessary and appropriate to do so. However, for a 
few children, this is not in a planned or timely manner, making it harder for 
them to settle when they do come into care.   

 
24. Children return home from care when it is safe to do so, because their parents 

have been well supported to make the necessary changes and because risks 
have reduced. A few children have waited too long for their care orders to be 
revoked after moving back home to live with their parents. This means they 
have been subject to unnecessary statutory intervention for too long.   

 
25. Children achieve permanence through adoption within the right timescales. The 

local authority has strengthened the service through structural changes, such as 
bringing the completion of child permanence reports into the adoption service. 
As a result, the quality of reports and support plans has improved, which in turn 
supports better matching and earlier planning and family finding for children. 
Investment in several specialist posts, including a life-story worker and birth 
records counsellor, strengthens the service further. The adoption panel and 
agency decision-maker provide a good gatekeeping service and offer challenge 
to ensure that the correct decisions are made for children. Children who have 
achieved permanence through adoption and special guardianship benefit from 
effective post-placement support. 

 
26. Care planning for children who achieve permanence other than through adoption 

is not good enough. A full range of permanence options is considered for 
children, but a lack of robust management oversight and consistent challenge 
from independent review officers (IROs) leads to drift and delay for some 
children achieving permanence through long-term fostering and special 
guardianship. Although most children do not experience instability in their long-
term foster placements, because they have not been formally matched to their 
permanent carers, they do not benefit from having absolute certainty about their 
living arrangements. Similarly, some children wait too long to achieve 
permanence via special guardianship orders (SGOs), which means that these 
children experience statutory intervention for longer than necessary.  

 
27. The written plans for children in long-term foster care, are lengthy and difficult 

for the children to understand. Actions are sometimes vague and lack 
timescales, making it unclear exactly who will be doing what and by when to 
ensure that children’s permanence and day-to-day needs are going to be met.  

 
28. Brothers and sisters benefit from well-considered assessments about whether 

they should live together or apart. These assessments contain a strong analysis 
of children’s individual needs and circumstances. When some brothers and 
sisters cannot live together, their important relationship is mostly supported 

31



 
 

 
 

8 
 

 

through regular time together. Other children have complicated family time 
arrangements, which are sensitively managed and supported.  

29. Most children in care have developed positive and trusting relationships with 
social workers who they have known for many years and who visit them 
regularly. These children have benefited from effective relationship-based 
practice, which has helped them to understand why they came into care, 
including through life-story work. The local authority has invested in an 
innovative electronic system which captures and stores personal information, 
records and memories for children in care. They feel secure in the knowledge 
that they have a consistent worker who they can trust. A small minority of 
children have experienced too many changes in social worker because of 
turnover in the workforce, which has made it harder for them to develop trusting 
or positive relationships.  

 
30. When changes of social workers occur, an absence of up-to-date chronologies 

and case summaries in children’s records hinders the new workers’ ability to 
quickly learn about the experiences of children. Similarly, placement plans are 
not always up to date. This gap in data does not help to inform planning or 
prevent children from having to repeat their stories.  

 
31. Where necessary, children in care and care leavers are linked with children’s 

rights officers, who help them to express their views at statutory reviews. 
Independent visitors are available and carefully matched to children in care. 
Some children have benefited from the continuity of a visitor over some years, 
which has helped to mitigate the impact of other changes in their lives. 

 
32. The Children in Care Council (CiCC) and Supporting Young People After Care 

(SYPAC) group are an impressive assembly of children and young people who 
feel listened to and valued by the highly visible and effective lead member and 
other senior leaders. Their participation enhances their negotiation skills and 
helps develop their confidence and self-esteem. They are proud of the recent 
contact expectations statement, approved by senior leaders, which will enhance 
children and young people’s family time experiences. Prospective foster carers 
hear from these groups of children and young people about what makes a good 
foster carer and placement, as well as about the types of complex needs that 
some children in care have. This enhances their understanding about the needs 
of children in care. 

 
33. The local authority is aspirational for its children in care and care leavers and 

holds regular events that celebrate their achievements. Children in care enjoy a 
range of social, sporting and creative activities that help to boost their self-
confidence and are fun. One child said, ‘Being in care has given me opportunities 
I wouldn’t have.’ Many children have been successful in achieving awards for 
their talents. 

 
34. The virtual school can demonstrate that work to enhance children’s personal 

development is helping them to make better progress in their learning. School 

32



 
 

 
 

9 
 

 

staff speak positively about the quality of support they receive from the virtual 
school and the impact it has on their children. Virtual school staff work well as a 
team to support children in care and to provide wider enrichment activity, but 
there is more work to do to capture the impact of wider enrichment activity on 
children’s progress. Effective work has improved the quality and consistency of 
personal education plans. A few children attend non-registered alternative 
provision. Although leaders know that the children are safe, they have 
insufficient oversight of the quality of education provided in these settings. 
Leaders are aware of, and have suitable plans in place to address, this. 

 
35. Risk is well identified and managed for children in care and care leavers. This 

also includes the response to children placed in Leicestershire by other local 
authorities. Most children receive a prompt and effective response when they go 
missing from care. Vigorous activity is undertaken to locate them and ensure 
their safety. Children’s views are carefully elicited through comprehensive return 
interviews, during which the reasons for going missing are fully explored. Social 
workers respond sensitively to their concerns. The local authority adopts an 
appropriately pragmatic and individualised approach when making decisions 
about how to minimise the risk of further missing episodes for the most highly 
vulnerable teenagers. 

 
36. Children’s physical and emotional health needs are mostly well monitored, and 

they have all the checks they need. The local authority proactively commissions 
additional resources where specific need is identified by the ‘strengths and 
difficulties’ questionnaires. Although social workers express difficulty in accessing 
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service support for children in care, 
therapeutic support, such as art and equine therapy, is accessed independently 
and funded through the pupil premium or by the local authority. Care leavers 
spoken to do not recall being given information about their health history, and 
although the local authority intends for this information to be available to them 
electronically, this is not yet in place. 

 
37. Most children in care live in homes that meet their needs, where they can settle 

and achieve the stability that has often not been a feature of their early lives. 
Where appropriate, brothers and sisters live together in good quality, stable 
foster homes that meet their needs to a high standard. Children who live out of 
Leicestershire are not at a disadvantage, and they receive the same good level 
of support.  

 
38. Foster carers and children in foster care homes are well supported. Carers are 

appropriately challenged in supervision and continue to access relevant training. 
A dedicated placement support team supports specialist foster carers and 
provides effective and intensive support to placements where children have 
more complex needs. This includes young people who are moving from 
residential care into family homes. A range of wraparound therapeutic services, 
including theraplay and dyadic developmental psychotherapy, are delivered by 
specialist practitioners and clinicians. This trauma-informed approach is 

33



 
 

 
 

10 
 

 

improving the stability of children’s placements with their foster families and is 
enabling more children in care to experience family life. 

 
39. A dedicated and knowledgeable team of social workers, personal advisers and 

education staff provides an effective service to unaccompanied asylum-seeking 
children. These young people live in suitable accommodation, learn English and 
access education. Personal advisers support them to develop independent living 
skills and to move into their own tenancies.     

 
40. Care leavers value the support they receive from personal advisers who know 

them well and who understand their past lived experiences. The local authority 
is in touch with nearly all of its care leavers. Personal advisers visit regularly, 
often over and above what is required on the pathway plan, and according to 
current needs and changes in circumstances. They support young people at the 
start of university courses or during the move from supported to independent 
living. Young people’s accommodation needs are addressed flexibly and 
responsively, and they are offered individualised support to help them to access 
employment and education opportunities. A majority of care leavers are making 
good progress through council apprenticeships, employment and further 
education.  

 

The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and 
families is: good 
 
41. Since the last inspection in 2016, the local authority has appropriately prioritised 

children’s social care with the allocation of additional funding and resources. 
These have substantially improved service performance in specific areas, such as 
responses at the front door, the quality of assessments, and strong post-
adoption and special guardianship support. Improvement activity and analysis is 
well informed by a strong culture of learning from a wide range of sources, 
which increasingly include feedback from service users, and are underpinned by 
accurate data, an embedded model of social work practice and reduced social 
worker caseloads. Most areas for improvement identified at the last inspection 
have been acted on. The local authority has a good understanding of the 
remaining practice shortfalls, which is consistent with inspection findings and has 
appropriate plans in place to continue its journey of improvement. 

 
42. There has been a noticeable increase in the pace of improvement activity since 

the appointment of the current director of children’s services 12 months ago. 
Her commitment to improving the lives of children is evident, and she has 
established her credibility and earned the confidence of members, staff and 
corporate leaders. 

 
43. The local authority is a good corporate parent. The highly visible and effective 

lead member is vastly experienced and is a strong advocate not only for 
Leicestershire’s children in care and care leavers, but also for children in need of 

34



 
 

 
 

11 
 

 

help and protection. He has a depth of knowledge about the key issues for 
children who need statutory services and is therefore able to provide effective 
and rigorous challenge and oversight to senior leaders. Children and young 
people value the contact they have with him because ‘he always does what he 
says he is going to do’. 

 
44. Partnerships with other agencies are well established and strong. They underpin 

innovative work, such as the development of the vulnerability hub with police 
and neighbouring local authorities. School leaders value the improved and more 
timely response to their concerns and referrals, and the quality and impact of 
training provided on attachment and trauma, as well as advice and guidance 
about alternatives to exclusion. The police, local judiciary and CAFCASS describe 
positive relationships and confidence in the current local authority senior leaders, 
who are regarded as open and realistic about the challenges they face.  

 
45. The local authority has successfully reduced caseloads for frontline staff, and 

this means that they have more time available to get to know their children well. 
However, half of the senior practitioners are still carrying larger caseloads than 
the local authority has planned for, and this reduces their capacity to undertake 
wider developmental work with staff. The capacity of IROs has been 
strengthened in response to increasing caseloads. 

 
46. Leaders have responded appropriately to the need to reduce paperwork so that 

social workers can spend more time with children and families. Electronic forms 
and templates have been redesigned, and this reduces duplication.  

 
47. An effective range of performance management processes means that senior 

leaders and managers know their services well. No major weaknesses were 
identified by the inspection that leaders were not already aware of and already 
acting on. Accurate performance information is systematically used to 
understand the effectiveness of service delivery and the impact of improvement 
activity. Senior leaders and the lead member are suitably involved with monthly 
keeping in touch with practice visits and practice weeks, which give them an 
insight into practice on the ground and provide an opportunity for social workers 
and managers to describe challenges and successes. 

 
48. The safeguarding improvement and quality assurance service undertakes a 

comprehensive cycle of auditing activity which feeds into the programme of 
workshops delivered by the Practice Excellence Team (PET). Very successful 
‘warm’ audits that include worker and service user feedback have deepened 
understanding of the impact of practice and mean that the local authority is well 
placed to improve children’s experiences further.   

 
49. There is a well-established social work model of practice throughout children’s 

services which underpins practice improvement activity. The shared language 
and methodology are routinely supported by the PET through its training and 
development programme. Further expansion of this team is evidence of a 

35



 
 

 
 

12 
 

 

continuing commitment to improvement activity. Partners are also familiar with 
the methodology, which helps families to better understand the concerns that 
professionals have.  

 
50. While significant improvement has been achieved in a wide range of service 

areas, actions to address some deficits have not had sufficient impact. So, while 
leaders have initiated campaigns to improve the quality of plans and the impact 
of frontline management supervision, these have not led to consistent or 
sustained improvements in frontline practice.  

 
51. Maintaining a stable and sufficiently qualified workforce is recognised as an 

ongoing and significant challenge for Leicestershire, and an appropriate 
workforce strategy is in place that is having a positive impact. This includes a 
commitment to recruit social workers over establishment and thereby reduce the 
use of agency staff and reduce caseloads. Additional strategies include a focus 
on ‘growing our own’ and improved support for ASYEs and frontline social 
workers who increasingly value the support and opportunities for learning being 
provided. An appropriate focus on increasing the emotional well-being and 
resilience of the workforce and enabling career progression through the aspiring 
managers course are part of a holistic workforce strategy to improve workforce 
stability. As a result, more social workers are choosing to continue to work in 
Leicestershire, and recruitment and retention are improving. 

   

36



 
 

 
 

13 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
The Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) regulates and inspects to 
achieve excellence in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for learners 

of all ages. It regulates and inspects childcare and children’s social care, and inspects the Children 
and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher training, 

further education and skills, adult and community learning, and education and training in prisons and 

other secure establishments. It assesses council children’s services, and inspects services for children 
looked after, safeguarding and child protection. 

 
If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print or Braille, please 

telephone 0300 123 1231, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

 
You may reuse this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under 

the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit 
www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence, write to the Information Policy Team, 

The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 
 

This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofsted. 

 
Interested in our work? You can subscribe to our monthly newsletter for more information and 

updates: http://eepurl.com/iTrDn. 
 

Piccadilly Gate 

Store Street 
Manchester 

M1 2WD 
 

T: 0300 123 1231 
Textphone: 0161 618 8524 

E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk 

W:www.gov.uk/ofsted 
 

© Crown copyright 2019 
 

 
 

37

file:///C:/Users/jcullimore/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/E7TBW8CO/enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/jcullimore/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/E7TBW8CO/www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence
file:///C:/Users/jcullimore/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/E7TBW8CO/psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/jcullimore/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/E7TBW8CO/www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ofsted
http://eepurl.com/iTrDn
file:///C:/Users/jcullimore/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/E7TBW8CO/enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/jcullimore/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/IE/E7TBW8CO/www.gov.uk/ofsted


This page is intentionally left blank



     
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             

Draft Action Plan for Ofsted Recommendations 2019 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progres
s RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19  

Performance 
Q2 19/20 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
2020 

Target 
March 
2021 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress 
by September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer 
for further 
actions 

2019  
1. 

The timeliness of 
assessment and help for 
children who are not 
identified as being at 
immediate risk of 
significant harm but who 
live with the impact of 
cumulative risk and harm 

A 

Where children are not at risk of 
immediate harm they receive a timely 
response and do not experience delay 
in receiving help. 

Measures 
 
Timeliness of assessments to be 
consistently good across all teams / 
areas. % completed within 45 working 
days 

 

 
 

Children seen within 5 days from 
referral 

 

 

*proportion of assessments (between 5 – 10% 
will be for children unborn therefore not be 
seen.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2018/19 
66.3% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
March 
2019 – 
25.4% 

 

 

 

 

October 
2019 
90.1% avg. 
Teams 
range from 
52.9% to 
92.4% 
 
 
October 
2019 
35.4% 

 

 

 

 

At 
least 
85% 
all 
teams 

 

 

80%* 

 

 

 

 

At least 
95% all 
teams 

 

 

 

90%* 

Reviewed focus in 2019 via management 
oversight and data KLoE meetings have shown 
improvement in timeliness of single assessments. 
Since February 2019 steady improvements have 
been made and 90.1% of assessments were 
completed in time in October 2019 

Revised threshold document has been launched 
in Q1 2019 giving all partners and the local 
authority a clearer, more consistent 
understanding of their responsibilities to support 
and protection children and how to make timely 
and good quality referrals for targeted and 
specialist services. 

Tableau report on child seen now developed to 
assist managers to monitor first visit to child. 

 

Majority of assessments are completed 
in First Response, and most of those 
assessments are completed in time 
(Oct19 92.4%).  However, assessments 
completed outside of First Response 
require improvement to be as timely.  
This is being monitored by managers via 
monthly performance meetings chaired 
by AD 

Review steps / process at the front door 
through to early help triage and 
allocation as Ofsted identified these are 
“unnecessarily difficult” 

Actions have been identified via 
Monthly performance update meetings 
with TMs as there are some data quality 
issues in recording child seen date e.g. 
no date entered, or wrong date 
entered. 

Transfer document to be reviewed and 
published by Jan 2020. 

Head of 
Service 
Fieldwork 

39



     
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progres
s RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19  

Performance 
Q2 19/20 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
2020 

Target 
March 
2021 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress 
by September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer 
for further 
actions 

2019 
2. 

The timeliness of work to 
secure positive change for 
children during the pre-
proceedings stage of the 
Public Law Outline 

A 

Children and families are supported to 
remain at home where this is not 
possible decisions regarding legal 
permanency are made in a timely way 
with records that capture decisions that 
reflect the child’s journey 

Measures 
 
Pre-proceedings process do not exceed 
6 months and recorded evidence clear 
on work completed to support with step 
down and step up to care proceedings 

 

 

 

 
 

Q4 
2018/19 
Pre-
proceeding
s average 
length 
(open) 
29 wks 
 

 

 

 

 
 

Q1 
2019/20 
Pre-
proceeding
s average 
length 
(open) 28.7  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

20 
weeks 
(pre-
procee
dings) 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

18-20 
weeks 
(pre-
proceed
ings) 

An appropriate plan is in place to address 
timeliness of proceedings which is led by a 
dedicated service manager & Head of Service 
with responsibility for driving forward 
improvements in Public Law Outline, which 
include: 

 New PLO tracker is being trialled to 
enable better gathering of information 
and management oversight of cases. 

 Review meetings with colleagues in legal 
services takes place chaired by AD 

 CDM meeting and agenda includes review 
of PLO tracker with Service Managers. 
Tighter timescales and oversight are 
being set in CDM which is then followed 
up. 

 Planned audits e.g. parenting capacity 
assessments, specialist assessments, pre-
birth assessments, cases recorded on 
SWET. 

PLO action plan needs to be evidenced 
as driving forward improvement and 
this will be measured by improved 
timeliness for children in pre-
proceedings and proceedings as well as 
outcomes of the QA / audit work 
planned within the action plan. 

Work to improve quality of recording on 
the tracker to be completed by 
December 2019 

Developments to Mosaic to enable 
tracking of cases via Mosaic and 
Tableau reporting by May 2020. 

Service 
Manager 
Disabled 
Children’s 
Service  

Head of 
Service 
Fieldwork  

40



     
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progres
s RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19  

Performance 
Q2 19/20 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
2020 

Target 
March 
2021 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress 
by September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer 
for further 
actions 

2019 
3. 

The quality and 
consistency of social work 
practice in care planning, 
including the quality of 
supervision and oversight 
to prevent unnecessary 
drift and delay for 
children. 

A 

Plans are focused on achieving timely 
outcomes for children and young 
people, informed by a robust 
assessment of need and driven by 
systematic and high-quality 
management oversight & reflective 
supervision 

Supervision records evidence robust 
management oversight and clear 
timescales for actions that lead to plans 
for children being progressed in a timely 
way. 

Measures 

Routine audit shows consistent 
application of thresholds, improved 
quality of assessment and care planning 
and strong management oversight to all 
stages of a child’s journey. 

Outcomes of case file audits: 
Assessment 

Planning 

Management oversight 

 
Performance reports show good 
performance in frequency of 
supervisions. 

 
Performance show care plans are 
completed and updated routinely. 

Under 16 CiC with plan in last 6 months 
(%) 

16 + CiC with pathway plan in last 6 
months (%) 

Reduction in timeframes for care 
proceedings 

 

Improved performance regarding 
timeliness of permanence decisions (see 
indicator 2019.5 “Children with 
permanence (indicator to be agreed)” & 
Matching at second review below) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2018/19 all 

thematic 

audits. % 

grade good 

or above 

36% 

44% 

47% 

 

2018 - 75% 

meeting 

standard  

 

 

18/19 

64.9% 

18/19 

82.5% 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Q2 Impact 
thematic 
audit % 
grade good 
or above 

73% 

82% 

55% 

77% 
average 
(Apr - Sept 
19) 
 
 
 
 
Oct19 – 
73.6% 

Oct19 – 
73.8% 

Latest 44.2 

weeks July-

Sept19 

(Leicester 

& Leics) 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

80% 

80% 

80% 

83% 

 
 

85% 

85% 

40 

weeks 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

90% 

90% 

90% 

83% 

 
 

100% 

100% 

26 
weeks 

Practice standards set out expectations in relation 
to high quality assessment, planning, recording, 
and decision making. 

Assessment campaign has been successful in 
driving completion rates and quality. 

Planning campaign will run from November 2019 
to May 2020.  This will emphasise SMART 
planning, supervision and management oversight 
to ensure it is driving the progression of plans for 
children and young people. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning campaign started on 18th 
November and is focused on SMART 
planning, child at the centre, family 
networks and management drive of the 
plan. 

Practice leaders are identified, and 
activity is supported by Practice 
Excellence Team. 

Work planned with IROs to strengthen 
the oversight and quality assurance role 
of the IRO in order to improve oversight 
and challenge.  

Developments to Mosaic are planned 
which will enable better monitoring and 
performance reporting around 
children’s permanence decisions. 

Head of 
Service 
Children in 
Care, VS & FAP  

 

Head of 
Service 
Fieldwork  

 

Head of 
Service 
Safeguarding 
and 
Improvement  

 

41



     
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progres
s RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19  

Performance 
Q2 19/20 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
2020 

Target 
March 
2021 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress 
by September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer 
for further 
actions 

2019 
4. 

The quality of case 
recording to enable new 
workers to more easily 
understand a child’s 
history and 
circumstances. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A 

Records being meaningful for children 
and focus on the child’s story 

Quality of recording is improved  

Chronologies & Genograms are kept up 
to date 

Measures 

Reduction in number of complaints 
regarding recording inaccuracies 

Performance/audits demonstrates that 
all cases have an up to date chronology 

Audit demonstrates that all cases have 
a detailed, up to date genogram 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

Managers increased access to Tableau reports are 
quickly highlighting performance and data 
inaccuracy as reports are ‘live’.  Support available 
to rectify problems within Mosaic. Delays in 
recording are therefore addressed appropriately.   

Information held on children and families is more 
accurate and up to date. Clear improvements can 
be evidenced in the quality of statutory returns 
(July 2019). Clear improvements can be 
evidenced in quality of datafiles (October 2019). 

Develop and introduce a recording 
policy and guidelines for staff 

Work is ongoing to ensure system and 
process (especially new suite of SOS 
style forms and group working) are 
aligned with practice and more efficient 
(e.g. avoid duplication of data entry) 

Exploring other methods of recording 
systems to make records more focused 
on the child for example ‘talk to text’ – 
support via technology etc. 

New suite of SOS style forms include a 
chronology step – once introduced this 
can therefore be monitored by tableau 
so managers have closer oversight of 
case recording. 

Head of 
Service 
Safeguarding 
and 
Improvement  

 

Head of 
Service 
Practice 
Excellence  

 

Head of 
Service 
Children in 
Care, VS & FAP  

 

Head of 
Service 
Fieldwork  

2019 
5. 

Planning for permanence 
for children whose plan is 
not adoption 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A 

Children benefit from having absolute 
certainty about their living 
arrangements at the earliest 
opportunity. Robust management 
oversight and consistent challenge from 
IROs reduces drift and delay for children 
achieving permanence through long-
term fostering or SGOs. 

Measures 

Permanence plan identified at second 
review (new measure from Sept19) 

Children with permanence (indicators 
to be agreed) 

Matching to be concluded by: 
2nd ROA (in identified placement) + 2 
months 

2nd ROA (identified placement to be 
found) + 6 months 

*target for identifying permanence plans at second 

ROA is not at 100% as we are aware there may be a 

small minority of children where this is not agreed due 

to individual circumstances. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
October 
2019 
98% 

tbc 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

95%* 
 
 
tbc 

 

 

 

 

 

 

95%* 
 
 
tbc 

Matching permanency dip sample audit has been 
completed (Sept19) on children where 
permanency has not been agreed via the new 
permanency panels (but may have been agreed 
previously formally).  The audit found that 
permanency had been previously agreed and 
recorded for most children via a variety of 
different methods (e.g. in ROA, in SV, in case 
records etc).  Children where permanency had 
not been agreed had either recently broken down 
or children were not yet ready for permanence 
e.g. in supportive short-term placement with 
planned future move agreed to achieve 
permanence. 

In September 2019 work was undertaken on 
children where a permanence plan was not 
agreed at second review.  In many cases this was 
a data entry / quality issue resulting in 
performance increasing from 85% in Sept19 to 
98% in Oct19 

Recommendations from dip sample 
(Sept19) include system developments 
to record permanency decisions have 
been agreed. Work underway to 
identify historical permanency agreed 
for children in care. Report awaiting to 
be presented at Lead Members (ALC). 

Quality assurance role of IROs to ensure 
challenge and robust oversight of 
permanency planning to prevent drift 
and delay.  

Head of 
Service 
Children in 
Care  

42



     
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progres
s RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19  

Performance 
Q2 19/20 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
2020 

Target 
March 
2021 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress 
by September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer 
for further 
actions 

2019 
6. 

Monitoring the quality 
and appropriateness of 
alternative education 
provision for children in 
care. 

A 

Sufficient oversight of the quality of 
education provided in non-registered 
alternative provision. 

 
Measures 

Tracking of progress of pupils in 
alternative provision demonstrates 
equal or better progress than they 
would receive in mainstream school. 

All providers are clear about 
expectations and responsibilities with 
the result that very few placements fail. 

    We check the progress of all children in care at 
each of their PEPs.  Most of our alternative 
provision is commissioned by the secondary 
education inclusion partnership and therefore 
standards will be met but further work is required 
to tighten and provide oversight and assurance of 
the quality of provision. 
 
Commissioners are contacted for all children in 
alternative provision to verify the Quality 
Assurance process already undertaken and 
actioning where appropriate as well as requesting 
progress information for the child that 
demonstrates equal or better progress that they 
would receive in mainstream school. 

Procedures are in place and being 
tightened to ensure that LCC officers 
have oversight and assurance when we 
are notified of any child in care is in 
alternative provision.   

 

Virtual School 
Head  

Head of 
Service 
Children in 
Care 

 

 

43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

CABINET – 17TH DECEMBER 2019 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING STRATEGY 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES  

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of the report is to present to the Cabinet the final draft of the 

Corporate Parenting Strategy that sets out the responsibilities of Leicestershire 
County Council as corporate parent to children in care. The Strategy outlines 
the key principles and expectations that provide the framework for a cohesive 
and effective corporate parenting response for children in care and Care 
Leavers.  
 

Recommendations 
 

2. It is recommended that  
 

a) The responses to the consultation and comments of the Children and 
Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee are noted; 

 

b) That the Corporate Parenting Strategy be submitted to the Council for 
approval on 19 February 2020. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations 

 
3. The feedback has informed the final Corporate Parenting Strategy which will 

provide the basis for the Council’s corporate parenting role.  The final Strategy 
must be submitted to full Council for approval and implementation as it forms 
part of the Plans Framework in the Council’s Constitution (Part 2, Schedule 2).   
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 

4. The draft Strategy was considered by the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 5th November 2019.  It will be submitted to the Council 
in February 2020 for approval. 

 
 
 
 
 

45 Agenda Item 6



 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

5. The Corporate Parenting Strategy applies the corporate parenting principles as 
set out in section 1 of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 to which local 
authorities must have regard.  
 

6. Local Authorities in England must have regard to statutory guidance in relation 
to the appointment of the Director of Children’s Services and the designation of 
the Lead Member for Children’s Services, which describes how those roles set 
the tone for the local authority to be an effective corporate parent.  
 

7. In May 2019 the Cabinet agreed the Council’s approach to support for care 
leavers, following on from the launch of its ‘Promise to children in care and care 
leavers’ in April 2019.  
 

8. In June 2019 the Cabinet received a report of the Scrutiny Review Panel on 
Corporate Parenting and accepted its recommendations.  
 

9. The Corporate Parenting Strategy forms part of the Council’s Policy Framework 
(Schedule 2 to Part 2 of the Constitution). It supports the Council’s Strategic 
Plan outcome for wellbeing and opportunity and keeping people safe and sits 
alongside the Children and Family Services Department Care Placement 
Strategy 2018-2021 and the Children and Family Services Continuous 
Improvement Plan ‘The Road to Excellence’. 
 

Resource Implications 
 

10. There are no resources implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report. 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

11. This report will be circulated to all members of the Council. 
 

Officers to Contact 
 

Jane Moore, Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel:  0116 305 2649 
Email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk   
 
Sharon Cooke,  Assistant Director 
Tel:  0116 305 7441 
Email: sharon.cooke@leics.gov.uk 
 
Kelda Claire, Service Manager 
Tel:  0116 305 7411 
Email: kelda.claire@leics.gov.uk 

 
 
 

46



 
 

PART B 
 

Background 
 

12. The Cabinet received a report at its meeting on 13 September 2019 seeking 
approval to consult on the draft Corporate Parenting Strategy.  That report set 
out the legislative background to the Council’s role as ‘Corporate Parent’ and 
the principles under which it operates, namely - 
 

 To act in the best interest, and promote the physical and mental health 
and wellbeing, of those children and young people. 

 To encourage those children and young people to express their views, 
wishes and feelings. 

 To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and 
young people. 

 To help those children and young people gain access to, and make the 
best use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant 
partners. 

 To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for 
those children and young people. 

 For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their 
home lives, relationships, and education or work. 

 To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and 
independent living. 

 
Consultation 

 
13. Consultation on the draft Strategy took place between 16th October and 5th 

November 2019.  This included consultation with children and young people in 
care and care leavers through attendance at SYPAC (Supporting Young 
People After Care) and the Children in Care Council.  A wide range of partners 
were also consulted including the Leicestershire and Rutland Safeguarding 
Children Partnership.  This included representatives from LPT, UHL, CCGs, 
Police, district councils, the Voluntary and Community Sector, Secondary Head 
Teachers, Primary School Head Teachers, Further Education colleges and the 
Council’s Adults and Communities Department.  
 

14. The draft Strategy was considered by the Corporate Parenting Board on 22nd 
October 2019, giving further opportunity for partners from health (CCGs and 
LPT), Police and district councils to have an understanding of the purpose of 
the Strategy and to give feedback on the draft document. 
 

15. The consultation ensured that the voice of children as to ‘what makes a good 
corporate parent’ was represented in the final document.  
 

16. The feedback from partner agencies and members was that the Strategy was 
an informative and comprehensive document which gave a good overview of 
aspirations, expectations and roles.  A number of small changes were made to 
the language used, including to clarify actions and outcomes.   
 

47



 
 

17. The main feedback from both children and adults was that whilst the document 
was informative it was not particularly child-friendly. In response to this a task 
and finish group has been established with a group of children in care and care 
leavers to develop a briefer child-focused document.   
 

Views of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

18. The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the 
draft Strategy at its meeting on 5th November 2019.  The Committee welcomed 
the Strategy and identified that the collective and individual responsibility of 
Councillors had been detailed through the seven key principles.  
 

19. Recognising the importance of the Strategy and developing the role of elected 
members as corporate parents was highlighted. The need for accountability 
and challenge was also discussed and it was identified that the Children in 
Care Panel would be a good forum to hold members to account in addition to 
the three member champions in the specific areas of education, training and 
wok, housing and accommodation and health. The Committee also noted that 
the success of the Scrutiny Review Panel had been reinforced through the 
agreement reached with district councils to remove the paying of council tax for 
care leavers up to the age of 25.  
 

The Strategy 
 

20. The Strategy describes the Council’s Corporate Parenting role for the 613 
children and young people in care and 229 care leavers who are currently in 
the care of the Authority (as at August 2019) and the importance of voice and 
choice, safety, achievement and self-esteem in raising the aspirations for these 
children. 
 

21. The Council’s “Promise” to children in care and care leavers sets out its 
commitment and that of partners such as the district councils, the health sector 
and voluntary organisations, to provide the best support, guidance and care to 
children in care and care leavers.  
 

22. The Strategy details that the lead member for children’s services (LMCS) and 
the Director of Children’s Services (DCS) are required by law to hold direct 
local accountability for the effectiveness, availability and value for money of the 
local authorities children’s services (in 1998, the Secretary of State wrote to 
councillors reminding them that they are ultimately accountable for the quality 
of care provided by their local authority and set out their specific responsibility 
to lead this work and monitor its effectiveness). 
 

23. This position has been supported through published guides for councillors by 
the Department for Education in 2003 and 2013, highlighting that all elected 
members should be prepared and ready to champion the interests of looked 
after children and young people in their community. Elected members are in the 
unique position to promote opportunities for looked after children and care 
leavers through their political power and influence, through their connections in 
the community, schools, health services, local businesses and employers. 

48



 
 

24. Leicestershire’s governance arrangements are detailed in the Strategy, 
highlighting that strong corporate parenting means strong leadership, challenge 
and accountability at every level. The governance arrangements that underpin 
our Corporate Parenting approach focus on the importance of the voice of 
children and how they experience the support they receive, feel listened to and 
taken seriously.  The Council’s governance arrangements enable challenge 
and reflection on how effectively it is applying the corporate parenting principles 
and ensuring the high level of care that it strives to provide. 
 

Equalities and Human Rights Implications 
 

25. Equality and human rights implications are addressed throughout the Strategy 
as the aim is to improve standards and outcomes for all children and young 
people in care, including disabled children, young children and those from 
minority and harder to reach groups.  
 

26. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment was undertaken on the 
Strategy that identified no adverse impacts and an overall positive impact. 

 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Final Draft Corporate Parenting Strategy 
Appendix B: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment 
 
Background Papers  
 
The Children and Social Work Act 2017 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted 
 
Statutory guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the Director of Children’s 
Services and the Lead Member for Children’s Services 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/271429/directors_of_child_services_-_stat_guidance.pdf  

 
Children Act 1989: care planning placement and case review 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/441643/Children_Act_Guidance_2015.pdf  

 
Children Act 1989: planning transition to adulthood for care leavers 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397649/CA1989_Transitions_guidance.pdf  

 
Report to the Cabinet on 13 September 2019 “Corporate Parenting Strategy” 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5605&Ver=4  

49

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/contents/enacted
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/271429/directors_of_child_services_-_stat_guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/441643/Children_Act_Guidance_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397649/CA1989_Transitions_guidance.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5605&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate  
Parenting Strategy

2019 - 2022

draftOur Children, Our Future
Leicestershire’s commitment to inspire, support and enable  

children in care and care leavers to be ambitious and successful

51



draft
2  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

Contents:
Foreword  ..................................................................................................................... 3

1. Leicestershire  .......................................................................................................... 4

2. Who are ‘Children in Care and Care Leavers?’ ............................................................. 6

3. What do our children say?.......................................................................................... 6

4. Our Promise ............................................................................................................. 7

5. Corporate Parenting Principles - Children and Social Work Act 2017 ............................ 8

6. Who is involved and responsible? ............................................................................... 8

7. Councillors as Corporate Parents  ..............................................................................10

7.1 Officers within Children and Family Services  ........................................................10

7.2 Virtual School  ...................................................................................................12

7.3 What else do we do to show that we care?  ..........................................................14

8. Governance Arrangements for Corporate Parenting  ....................................................15

8.1 Corporate Parenting Board  ................................................................................15

8.2 Children in Care Council and SYPAC  ...................................................................16

9. What success will look like  .......................................................................................17

Appendix A  .................................................................................................................18

draft

52



draft
Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022  3

Foreword

Ivan Ould  Jane Moore

Lead member for Director of Children’s Services 
Children and Families

In Leicestershire we want to ensure that all children are given opportunities to be happy, healthy and to 
achieve their best outcomes. We embody this in our vision statement and the ‘Road to Excellence’. 

We want children and young people to enjoy positive experiences in safe and supportive families, well 
connected to their local communities and when necessary well supported by a wide range of targeted 
support services - building strong and resilient family relationships.

When children cannot safely live in their family or wider network our priority is to provide safe secure 
and caring homes where children are given all the opportunities they need to inspire them to have 
high aspirations and to support their success though their childhood and into adulthood. We will do 
this by valuing children for who they are and who they want to be. Our Permanency policy sets out our 
commitment to do this. Link

In Leicestershire we are committed to our children in care and care leavers and are determined to ensure 
that we carry out our duty and responsibilities as a Corporate Parent with genuine passion, ambition, 
enthusiasm and care.

We understand that all of our children have individual needs and goals and our care planning and planned 
support offered to all of our children reflects this.

We carefully monitor and support education and learning for our children to enable progress and success 
and strive to ensure that our children are healthy both physically and emotionally.

We know that we will be successful corporate parents if we really listen to our children and ensure that 
their views and opinions have meaning in all areas of our decision making, “You said. We did.” The 
impact of this is seen in the enthusiasm, leadership and effectiveness of our children and their participation 
in our Children in Care Council, Supporting Young People After Care (SYPAC), our Corporate Parenting 
Board and many more participation events.

This Corporate Parenting Strategy provides the foundation and value base for how we will deliver high 
quality services to our children in care and care leavers. It highlights where we are, where we want to be 
and how we intend to develop further to achieve our aspirations as corporate parents and to enable our 
children to meet their own ambitions and be successful in what they do now and in the future.

53



draft
4  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

1. Leicestershire
Our vision

Leicestershire is the best place for all children, young people and their families

This means that we will describe the outcomes we want to achieve for children, young people  
and their families and identify measures that can tell us how well we are achieving them in  
comparison with other English local authorities. We will aim to be the best performing local  
authority in the country against these measures, and where we are not yet there we will set  

stretching targets for annual improvement.

Our mission
Children and young people in Leicestershire are safe and living in families where they can achieve their 

potential and have their health, wellbeing and life chances improved within thriving communities.

Leicestershire County Council is currently (as of August 2019) the corporate parent to approximately 610 
children and young people. As a corporate parent the County Council has a collective responsibility to be a 
good parent to the children and young people in its care, so that they grow up happy, achieve well and have 
successful lives. This means the Council is expected to do what any responsible parent would do for their 
children. 

Responsible parents care about their children’s safety and their health, their education and their leisure 
interests, their friendships and their futures. They know about their children’s development and what their 
talents and achievements are, they understand their problems. They support their child’s education, listen and 
talk to their children so they understand their needs and hear and respond to their worries.

Leicestershire has a strong corporate parenting ethos which recognises that the care that we provide for 
our children is not just about keeping them safe, but also to promote recovery, resilience and well-being. To 
achieve this, we recognise the importance of stability for our children and the Permanence Policy sets out our 
commitment to the children in our care and our ambition to secure emotional attachment, physical stability 
and long-term commitment for our children. 

Leicestershire County Council also recognises the importance of education in transforming life chances 
for children and young people and our aim is that all children in care are able to receive prompt access to 
appropriate, stable education placements and positive 
educational experiences. 

The Leicestershire Virtual School, also known as The 
Fox Academy, actively promotes the education of our 
children in care, working with schools, alternative 
settings and wider services within and beyond 
Leicestershire to secure prompt access to quality 
education, appropriate to their identified needs and 
minimise disruption to stable provision. 

The importance of our corporate parenting 
responsibility to help drive this ambition is outlined  
in the following diagram:

Voice  
and  

Choice
Self Esteem

Ac
hi

ev
em

en
t

Safety

Raising Aspirations

54



draft

55



draft
6  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

2. Who are ‘Children in Care and 
Care Leavers?’
A child (under 18 years) is legally ‘looked after’ by a local  
authority if he or she:

“is provided with accommodation under Section 20 of the Children Act 1989 from the 
local authority for a continuous period of more than 24 hours; is subject to a care order; or 
is subject to a placement order. This also includes disabled children who are provided with 
accommodation under Section 20. Looked after children in care can be placed with foster 
carers, in residential homes, with parents or other relatives (under certain circumstances)”

Definition of a care leaver:

“A care leaver is broadly defined as a person aged between 16 and 25, who has been looked 
after by a local authority for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14 is either currently in care or 
has left care and has been looked after for a period of time after their 16th birthday”

3. What do our children say?
We understand the importance and value of the views of our looked after children and care leavers and 
together we have developed ‘Our Promise’ which informs this strategy. Our children have told us what they 
think makes a good corporate parent.

“Understands  
the impact that decisions  
have on us, and take time  

to explain the decisions that  
have been made”

“Understands when  
we are struggling and 

having a bad day”

“Help us build our 
independence to move  

to adulthood”.

“Listen  
to us”

“Will stand by us  
and believes in us”

“Do not break  
their promises”

“My worker is 
experienced and 

knows what to do”

56



draft
Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022  7draft

4. Our promise
Our Promise sets out our commitment to ensure that Leicestershire County Council and its partners provide 
the best support, guidance and care to our Children in Care and Care Leavers. It demonstrates that we value 
them for their individuality, provide stability and offer aspirational life chances as a good parent provides for 
their children. 

In the same way that a family shares responsibility for bringing up their children with their extended family 
members, the corporate parenting responsibility must be shared by everyone involved in supporting children 
in care. This includes health bodies, education services such as schools and colleges, the police, youth and 
youth justice organisations, and the private and third sectors. 

Leicestershire County Council, elected members and key partner agencies have all signed up to Our Promise. 
Collectively we want to enable all our young people to make positive life choices and achieve their goals and 
beyond. Our Promise makes a commitment directly to young people and their families in 7 Key Areas:

We will support you Respect and Honour  
your identity

We will listen to you We will believe in you

We will find you a place  
you can call home

We will inform you We will be a  
lifelong champion

57



draft
8  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

5. Corporate Parenting Principles –  
Children and Social Work Act 2017
When a child becomes looked after in Leicestershire as corporate parents we are committed to provide 
stability, security and aspirational care for our children and to challenge ourselves ‘would this be good enough 
for my child?’. The 7 principles describe the behaviours and attitudes expected of councils when they are 
acting as any good parent would do by supporting, encouraging and guiding their children to lead healthy, 
rounded and fulfilled lives. 

• To act in the best interest, and promote the physical and mental health and wellbeing, of 
those children and young people.

• To encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes and feelings.

• To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young people.

• To help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best use of, services 
provided by the local authority and its relevant partners.

• To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those children and 
young people.

• For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home lives, 
relationships, and education or work.

• To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent living.

6. Who is involved and responsible?
A strong corporate parenting ethos means that everyone from the Chief Executive down to front line staff, as 
well as elected council members, are concerned about our children and care leavers as if they were their own. 
In Leicestershire, Corporate Parenting is promoted as the responsibility of all. The actions, ambitions and belief 
in our children of the Director of Children and Family Services and the Lead Member set the tone for us all to 
be an effective corporate parent.

Our children our future - Leicestershire’s commitment to inspire, support  
and enable children in care and care leavers to be ambitious and successful. 

58



draft

59



draft
10  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

7. Councillors as Corporate Parents
In 1998, the Secretary of State wrote to councillors reminding them that they are ultimately accountable for 
the quality of care provided by their local authority and set out their specific responsibility to lead this work and 
monitor its effectiveness.

This position has been supported through published guides for councillors by the DfE in 2003 and 2013, 
highlighting that all elected members should be prepared and ready to champion the interests of looked after 
children and young people in their community. 

Elected members are in the unique position to promote opportunities for looked after children and care leavers 
through their political power and influence, through their connections in the community, schools, health 
services, local businesses and employers. If these links can be built upon then ‘life choices’ and outcomes for 
children and young people can be greatly improved. Elected members are supported, by officers to engage 
with children in care and care leavers to support their understanding and gain their voice.

We have 3 elected member champions for our children in care and care leavers. The areas that they lead on 
are Health, accommodation and housing; education, employment and training. 

Within Leicestershire we define how we expect elected members to fulfil their responsibilities as a 
‘corporate parent’ in 7 principles:

• by having an understanding of the profile and needs of the children in the care of the  
local authority

• by being aware of the impact on looked-after children of all council decisions

• by considering whether this would be good enough for your own child

• by ensuring that the council has a focus on improving outcomes for looked-after children

• by acting as an advocate for looked-after children in your local community

• by supporting the Member Champions in their role

• by being aware of the work and aims of the Corporate Parenting Board

7.1 Officers within Children and Family Services 
Officers in Children and Family Services have additional responsibilities to support and provide services 
for looked after children and young people, and care leavers. They will ensure that their care planning and 
transition planning is effective, meaningful and influenced by their voice and choice. 

The Assistant Director for Children’s Social Care has direct responsibility for corporate parenting, as do the wide 
range of roles that work directly with our children, such as: Independent Reviewing officers, Social Workers, 
Participation Workers, Children’s Rights Officers, Youth Offending Workers, Personal Advisors and the Virtual 
School.

60



draft

61



draft
12  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022draft

7.2 Virtual School
In Leicestershire our Virtual School is committed to creating and supporting high aspirations for our children in 
care and those leaving care. The dedication and support offered is in place to help our children achieve their 
best. Our children attend a diversity of schools both geographically and in terms of specialism, however the 
virtual school is central to ensuring that all of our children receive a high standard of education to enable them 
to successfully achieve good outcomes and successful futures. Leicestershire Virtual School are successful by 
working in partnership with schools and social workers towards shared visions and goals. The Virtual School 
support this through monitoring, supporting and challenging where necessary through the review of the 
Personal Education Plans (PEP) and monitoring the use of the Pupil Premium Plus. The voice of our children is 
fundamental to effective planning and the Virtual School is committed to ensuring that the voice of our children 
is not only sought but valued and incorporated into any planning. 

Additionally, the Virtual School lead a broad spectrum of engagement activities and learning opportunities 
including but not exhaustive of the following:

Virtual School
Ambitious

Aspirational
Inspirational

University  
Experience  

Days

Music  
Workshops

Author  
Events

Theatre  
Trips

Independent 
Living Skills 

Course

Tall Ships  
Trip

62



draft

63



draft
14  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

7.3 What else do we do to show that we care?
We are dedicated and committed to ensuring that our children in care and care leavers feel very much 
thought of and cared for by Leicestershire. This is achieved by not only ensuring that the 7 corporate parenting 
principles are fully embedded. But also providing a broader offer of engagement and contact that we consider 
essential to being good Corporate Parents. 

Ambitious
Aspirational
Inspirational

Annual  
celebration of 
achievement

Lead by the  
Virtual School  

- a wide range of 
opportinities  
for fun and  
learning

Lead member  
and Assistant  

Director engagement  
with Children in  
Care Council

 Support towards 
driving lessons and 
experiencing new 

activities

Congratulations  
letter and voucher 

from Assistant 
Director for  

exam results

Letter from  
Director of  

Children and  
Family Services  
at 18 and 21

draft

64

kclaire
Sticky Note
 Information about the Care Leavers Offer sent by the Director of Children and Family Services at 18 and 21



draft
Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022  15

8. Governance Arrangements  
for Corporate Parenting
Strong corporate parenting means strong leadership, challenge and accountability at every level. The 
governance arrangements that underpin our Corporate Parenting approach focus on the importance of the 
voice of our children and how they experience the support they receive, feel listened to and taken seriously. 
Our governance arrangements enable challenge and reflection on how effectively we are applying the 
corporate parenting principles and ensuring the high level of care that we strive to provide. 

8.1 Corporate Parenting Board
The Corporate Parenting Board’s purpose is to ensure that the whole Council and partner agencies have a joint 
commitment to Corporate Parenting. The aim of this is to achieve continuing improvements in the lives and 
outcomes for looked after children and young people and those who are care leavers. The Corporate Parenting 
Board is well attended by partner agencies enabling the multi-agency ownership of the corporate parenting 
principles to be strong. The meeting is co-chaired by our lead member and one of our care experienced young 
people. There is strong representation from our children in care council and Supporting Young People After 
Care (SYPAC) groups, which enables our children to have the platform to challenge, influence and celebrate. 
The terms of reference for the Corporate Parenting Board are contained in Appendix one

Children and 
Families Overview 

and Scrutiny

Children in  
Care Council

Supporting  
Young People  
After Care - 

SYPAC

Corporate  
Parenting  

Board

Children’s Social 
Care and Children 
in Care Member 

panels

65

kclaire_1
Sticky Note
Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee



draft
16  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

8.2 Children in Care Council and SYPAC
Leicestershire’s Children in Care Council is a group of young people in care aged between 7-18 who represent 
children and young people in care in Leicestershire. There are two groups – a younger group aged 7-13 and 
an older group 14+. Together they act as the voice of their peers and meet on a monthly basis to discuss 
and consider the issues faced by children in care; things that are important to them; look at ways of making 
a difference for children in care and how they can influence this locally in Leicestershire as well as nationally 
through such forums as the All Party Parliamentary Group for Looked After Children and Care Leavers.

Our care leavers are vital in shaping the services going forward and improve our offer to all of our children. 

SYPAC is the forum for our care leavers 18 -25 years old and offers a monthly meeting to socialise, discuss 
and influence decisions regarding children in care and care leavers and to highlight their views and opinions. 
There is also attendance from virtual school, children’s rights and welfare rights to support and enhance 
independence skills of our care leavers. 

Both our children in care council and SYPAC are regularly involved in decision making at various levels 
and bring robust challenge to hold decision makers to account both internally, regionally and nationally. 
Both groups have had an effective impact on the support that our children receive and decisions within 
Leicestershire. Some examples of these are outlined below:

Children in Care Council and SYPAC activities Impact

Consulted and influenced the development of  
‘Our Promise’.

Ensuring the vision of Leicestershire is led by the 
needs of our children.

Supported and consulted on the ASDAN (Award 
Scheme Development and Accreditation Network) 
independence work book and how this will be 
implemented to support our children.

Ensuring that children in care are supported with 
developing their independence skills to enable better 
transition to adulthood and independence.

Key role in developing a leaflet to give their views  
for Review of Arrangements.

Enabling the voice of our children being represented 
and listened to in care planning meetings if they 
don’t feel able to attend or represent their view.

Creation of a leaflet for children to understand the 
process of a Child Protection Conference.

Support children in understanding the roles and 
responsibilities of the child protection conference. 
Enable them to be empowered and involved.

Involvement with fostering training. Improvement in understanding of Prospective  
Foster Carers of the impact of being in care.  
Their role in supporting this and an improved 
experience for our children.

Creation of a ‘Family Time Agreement’ to support 
expectations for both children and their families 
about the time that they will spend with each other.

Our children are able to be clear about the 
expectations at the beginning and there is 
consistency with workers in exploring different 
options for family time.

Young person’s interview panel for all relevant  
posts within Children and Family Services.

Most recently direct influence on the appointment  
of our Director, Assistant Director and Field work 
Head of Service.

Comprehensive Mapping program with our care 
leavers in relation to the local offer to care leavers

True representation of voice within the consultation 
and development of the local offer for care leaver. 
Ensuring that this is appropriate and effective.

66



draft
Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022  17

9. What success will look like
As corporate parents we need to know what success will look like to ensure that we are challenging ourselves 
to continually strive for the best for our children. The table below sets out how we will measure our success in 
the delivery of outcomes for our looked after children and care leavers. 

Outcome 1 
Improved  

Physical Health

Outcome 2 
Improved  

Mental Health

Outcome 3 
Placement  

stability and  
safe homes

Outcome 4 
Attainment

Outcome 5 
Care leavers

Children will:

Have improved 
timeliness 
of Health 
Assessments

Be registered  
with a GP

Be registered  
with a dentist

Be up to date 
with all their 
immunisations

Have improved 
timeliness 
of Health 
Assessments

Children will:

Be supported 
through 
evidence-based 
interventions to 
maximise their 
emotional and 
mental well being

Have improved 
Strengths and 
Difficulties 
Questionnaire 
results.

Be referred to 
specialise mental 
health services 
and receive 
treatment in a 
timely manner 
where appropriate

Benefit from joined 
up multi agency 
working to drive 
relationship-based 
approaches

We will:

Where appropriate 
seek to place 
children and young 
people within 20 
miles of their home 
address

Where appropriate 
seek to place 
children and young 
people within long 
term, in house 
provision

Ensure children 
have improved 
placement stability

Our discharge 
planning will 
secure improved 
outcomes for care 
leavers

Make timely 
decisions regarding 
permanence 
and the use of 
SGO’s and Child 
Arrangement Order 
to be used where 
appropriate

Children will:

Be supported to 
achieve their full 
potential

Have a Personal 
education plan 
which will be 
aspirational and 
ambitious

Have their 
progress at school 
monitored and 
every child will 
receive tailored 
support from a 
specialist advisor

We will:

Support care 
leavers to find 
safe, stable and 
suitable places to 
live, making sure 
they are as well 
prepared as they 
can be

Will give 
opportunities to 
keep in touch  
with them until 
they are 25 
and have high 
aspirations  
for them

Support care 
leavers to remain 
with their long-
term foster families 
after they have 
left the care of 
Leicestershire if 
that is in the best 
interests of the 
young person

Support care 
leavers to become 
independent adults 
by helping to 
secure high quality 
education, training 
or employment 
opportunities

Best possible outcome for our children

67



draft
18  Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022

Appendix A
Corporate Parenting Board

Terms of Reference
1)  To ensure that the whole Council and partner agencies adopt a nurturing approach to our children 

in care and care leavers and fulfil their statutory duty as Corporate Parents, in order to achieve 
continuing improvements in outcomes for looked after children and young people. 

2)  To Champion the interests of Children in Care and care leavers. 

3)  Ensuring that promoting the best interests of looked after children is at the core of decision-making of 
the partnership 

This will involve:

Ensuring that the corporate parenting role is understood and fulfilled by all elected members and senior officers 
working across all directorates in the Council and by our partners. 

• Listening to and responding to the voice of children in care and care leavers by meeting and 
talking to children and young people in care on a regular basis.

• Ensuring that children and young people in care and care leavers are able to participate in 
decisions about their care and the shaping and delivery of future services.

• Monitoring and overseeing plans, strategies or policies for looked after children, young 
people and care leavers to ensure performance is maintained. 

• Monitoring the implementation of the Leicestershire Children in Care Pledge 

• Taking issues from the Board meeting forward through Senior Officers from across the 
Council and partner agencies

• Monitoring and reviewing key performance data so that they are achieved and show that 
looked after children have the best start in life. 

The Board will meet four times a year and will be co-chaired by the Lead Member for Children and Families 
and the Chair of the Children in Care Council. 

68



draft
Coroporate Parenting Strategy 2019-2022  19

Membership
• Lead Member for Children and Families (co-chair) 

• Chair of the Children in Care Council (co-chair)

• Children in Care nominated by the Children in Care Council

• Director of Children and Family Services

• Cross party Elected members nominated by the Party Groups

• Children and Family Services Lead Officers: Assistant Director Children Social Care and Targeted Early Help, 
Head of Service Children’s Social Care, Service Manager Fostering and Adoption, Service Manager Children 
in Care, Service Manager Safeguarding Improvement Unit

• Service Manager, Youth Offending Service

• Virtual School Head

• Director of Public Health

• Divisional Director of Families Children and Young People(FYPC) LPT. 

• Designated Nurse for Looked after Children

• Assistant Chief Constable or Police Superintendent with lead for Safeguarding

• District Council representative (Housing)

• Adults & Communities Lead Officer

• LSCB Chair

• Employment and Training Lead

Proposed Format of the Board
• The Board meeting will include informal break-out sessions and activities to engender good discussion 

between Board Members and young people

• Venue will be County Hall committee rooms

• Agenda for Corporate Parenting Board to be set by CiCC and Board Members

69



draft
Published December 2019

T0
45

6

70



1 
 

 

Equality & Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
 

This Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) will enable you to 
assess the new, proposed or significantly changed policy/ practice/ procedure/ 
function/ service** for equality and human rights implications.  
 
Undertaking this assessment will help you to identify whether or not this policy/ 
practice/ procedure/ function/ service** may have an adverse impact on a particular 
community or group of people. It will ultimately ensure that, as an Authority, we do 
not discriminate and we are able to promote equality, diversity and human rights.  
 
Please refer to the EHRIA guidance before completing this form. If you need any 
further information about undertaking and completing the assessment, contact your 
Departmental Equalities Group or equality@leics.gov.uk  
 
**Please note: The term ‘policy’ will be used throughout this assessment as 
shorthand for policy, practice, procedure, function or service. 
 

 

Key Details 
 

Name of policy being assessed: 
 
 
 

Corporate Parenting Strategy  

Department and section: 
 
 
 

Children & Families Service, Safeguarding 
and Performance, Leicestershire County 
Council   

Name of lead officer/ job title and 
others completing this assessment: 

 
 

Kelda Claire – Service Manager 
Safeguarding and Performance 

Contact telephone numbers: 
 
 
 

0116 3059084 

Name of officer/s responsible for 
implementing this policy: 

 
 

Kay Fletcher – Interim Head of Service 
Safeguarding, Improvement and Quality 
Assurance  

Date EHRIA assessment started: 
 
 
 

October 2019 

Date EHRIA assessment completed: 
 

 

November 2019 

 

APPENDIX B 

71

http://corpedrmsapp:8087/Intranet%20File%20Plan/Human%20Resources/Equal%20Opportunities/Equalities%20and%20Diversity/ehria_toolkit.doc
../../../../../../intranet/AboutUs/Pages/Equality-groups.aspx
mailto:equality@leics.gov.uk


2 
 

Section 1: Defining the policy 
 

 
Section 1: Defining the policy  
You should begin this assessment by defining and outlining the scope of the policy. 
You should consider the impact or likely impact of the policy in relation to all areas of 
equality, diversity and human rights as outlined in Leicestershire County Council’s 
Equality Strategy. 
 

 

1 What is new or changed in the policy? What has changed and why? 
 

The Corporate Parenting Strategy forms part of the Council’s Policy 
Framework (Schedule 2 to Part 2 of the Constitution). It supports the Council’s 
Strategic Plan outcome for wellbeing and opportunity and keeping people safe 
and sits alongside the Children and Family Services Department Care 
Placement Strategy 2018-2021 and the Children and Family Services 
Continuous Improvement Plan ‘The Road to Excellence’ 
 
The Corporate Parenting Strategy required review and update in response to 
the launch in April 2019 of the Council’s ‘Promise’ to children in care and care 
leavers, which sets out its commitment and that of partners such as the district 
councils, the health sector and voluntary organisations, to provide the best 
support, guidance and care to children in care and care leavers. 
 
The Strategy describes the Council’s Corporate Parenting role for the 626 
children and young people in care and 276 care leavers who are currently in 
the care of the Authority (as at November 2019) and the importance of voice 
and choice, safety, achievement and self-esteem in raising the aspirations for 
these children. 

 

2 Does this relate to any other policy within your department, the Council or with 

other partner organisations? If yes, please reference the relevant policy or EHRIA. 

If unknown, further investigation may be required. 

Leicestershire County Council have committed to an offer to our children in care and 

care leavers; known as ‘Our Promise’. This offer has been signed up to by partner 

agencies identifying what they will pledge to meet the needs of our children.  

Our Promise makes a commitment directly to young people in 7 key areas which are 

intrinsically linked to the 7 corporate parenting principles upon which the Corporate 

Parenting Strategy is based. 

69. Children in Care 

Promise A5 Portrait 02.pdf

Partners 

commitment to the Promise to Children in Care and Care Leavers (2).doc

84. Care Leavers 

Offer 01A-compressed.pdf
 

 

72

../../../../../../intranet/AboutUs/Pages/Equality-Strategy.aspx


3 
 

 

3 Who are the people/ groups (target groups) affected and what is the intended 
change or outcome for them?  
 
The Corporate Parenting Strategy is for all children in care and care leavers and is 
based upon the collective duty of Leicestershire County Council, elected members 
and partner agencies to ensure that the 7 Corporate Parenting Principles (Children 
and Social Work Act 2017) are effectively met for all of our children, improving 
experiences and outcomes.  
 

To act in the best interest, and promote the physical and mental health 

and wellbeing, of those children and young people. 

To encourage those children and young people to express their views, 

wishes and feelings. 

To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and 

young people. 

To help those children and young people gain access to, and make the 

best use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant 

partners. 

To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for 

those children and young people. 

For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their 

home lives, relationships, and education or work. 

To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and 

independent living. 

 

This Corporate Parenting Strategy provides the foundation and value base for 
how Leicestershire County Council will deliver high quality services to our 
children in care and care leavers.  It highlights where we are, where we want 
to be and how we intend to develop further to achieve our aspirations as 
corporate parents and to enable our children to meet their own ambitions and 
be successful in what they do now and in the future.  
 

4 Will the policy meet the Equality Act 2010 requirements to have due regard to 
the need to meet any of the following aspects? (Please tick and explain how) 

 Yes No How? 

Eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, 
harassment and 
victimisation 

 
 
 

 

 The Strategy identifies the duty to all children in 
care and care leaver to support improved 
opportunity, experiences and outcomes for all.  

Advance equality 
of opportunity 
between different 
groups 

 
 
 

 

 

Foster good 
relations between 

 
 

 

73



4 
 

different groups  

 
 

Section 2: Equality and Human Rights     
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Screening 
 

Section 2: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Screening 
The purpose of this section of the assessment is to help you decide if a full EHRIA is 
required.  
 
If you have already identified that a full EHRIA is needed for a policy/ practice/ 
procedure/ function/ service, either via service planning processes or other means, 
then please go straight to Section 3 on Page 7 of this document.  

 

Section 2  
A: Research and Consultation  

5. Have the target groups been consulted about the 
following?  
 

a) their current needs and aspirations and what is 
important to them; 
 

b) any potential impact of this change on them 
(positive and negative, intended and unintended); 

 
c) potential barriers they may face 

 

Yes No* 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

6. If the target groups have not been consulted directly, 
have representatives been consulted or research 
explored (e.g. Equality Mapping)? 
 

 
 

 

7. Have other stakeholder groups/ secondary groups (e.g. 
carers of service users) been explored in terms of 
potential unintended impacts? 
 

 
 

 

8. *If you answered 'no' to the questions above, please use the space below to 
outline either what consultation you are planning to undertake or why you do not 
consider it to be necessary. 
 

 

 

Section 2 
B: Monitoring Impact 

9. Are there systems set up to: Yes No 

74



5 
 

 
a) monitor impact (positive and negative, intended 

and unintended) for different groups; 
 

b) enable open feedback and suggestions from 
different communities 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

Note: If no to Question 9, you will need to ensure that monitoring systems are 
established to check for impact on the protected characteristics. 

Section 2 
C: Potential Impact 

10.  
Use the table below to specify if any individuals or community groups who 
identify with any of the ‘protected characteristics’ may potentially be affected by 
the policy and describe any positive and negative impacts, including any 
barriers.   
 

 Yes No Comments 
 
 

Age 
 
 

 
 

 The Corporate Parenting Strategy is 
for children in care and care leavers 
0-25 years. To ensure effective and 
meaningful intervention and 
aspirations to improve outcomes.  
The proposed changes should have 
a positive impact enabling a broader 
understanding of responsibilities of 
the whole council, elected members 
and partner agencies.  

Disability 
 

 

 
 

 The Corporate Parenting Strategy is 
inclusive of all our children including 
those with an identified disability. 
Therefore, the positive impact of the 
strategy will include this group of 
children in care and care leavers   

Gender Reassignment 
 

  

 
 

 
 

The Corporate Parenting Strategy is 
inclusive of all our children including 
those identifying with gender 
reassignment. Therefore, the positive 
impact of the strategy will include this 
group of children in care and care 
leavers   

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

 

  
 

The proposal does not make any 
differentiation between children 
based on this protected characteristic 
and therefore no potential or actual 
impact is expected. 

 

Pregnancy and Maternity 
 

 

  
 

The proposal does not make any 
differentiation between children in 
care and care leavers based on this 
protected characteristic and therefore 
no potential or actual impact is 
expected. 

 

75

../../../../../../intranet/AboutUs/Pages/Protected-characteristics.aspx


6 
 

Race 
 

 

  
 

The change is not expected to impact 
of this characteristic.  

 

Religion or Belief 
 

 

  
 

The Strategy will not seek to 
discriminate because of religion or 
belief 
 

 

Sex 
 

 

  
 

The change is not expected to impact 
on this characteristic. 

 

Sexual Orientation 
 

   

 
 

 The Corporate Parenting Strategy is 
inclusive of all our children including 
those identifying as LGBTQ. 
Therefore, the positive impact of the 
strategy will include this group of 
children in care and care leavers   

Other groups  
e.g. rural isolation, 
deprivation, health 

inequality, carers, asylum 
seeker and refugee 

communities, looked after 
children, deprived or 

disadvantaged 
communities 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 The proposed changes should have 
a positive impact on children that 
have an Educational Health Care 
Plan particularly those described in 
‘other groups’.  They will have access 
to more choice and local provision, 
reduced travel and closer friendship 
groups.   

 Community Cohesion 
 

 
 

 Although SEND belonging to a 
particular community is not a 
‘protected characteristic’ within the 
Equality Act 2010, the Council 
recognises social cohesion (the 
promotion of a sense of connection, 
trust and belonging both within and 
across communities and groups) as a 
priority.  The proposed new units and 
schools will provide opportunities for 
the community to engage with the 
new provision benefitting both the 
community, staff and pupils i.e. 
potential work experience, use of 
buildings, good links to the wider 
community to support social mobility 
and independence. 

11.  
Are the human rights of individuals potentially affected by this proposal? Could 
there be an impact on human rights for any of the protected characteristics? 
(Please tick) 
 
Explain why you consider that any particular article in the Human Rights Act may 
apply to the policy/ practice/ function or procedure and how the human rights of 
individuals are likely to be affected below: [NB: include positive and negative 
impacts as well as barriers in benefiting from the above proposal] 
 

 Yes No Comments 
 

76

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents


7 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms  
 

Article 2: Right to life     

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

   

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

   

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

   

Article 6: Right to a fair trial     

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

   

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

   

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion  

   

Article 10: Right to freedom 
of expression 

   

Article 11: Right to freedom 
of assembly and association  

   

Article 12: Right to marry    

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

   

 
Part 2: The First Protocol  
 

Article 1: Protection of 
property/ peaceful 
enjoyment  

   

Article 2: Right to education  
  

   

Article 3: Right to free 
elections  

   

Section 2 
D: Decision 

13. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Is there evidence or any other reason to 
suggest that: 
 

a) the policy could have a different 
affect or adverse impact on any 
section of the community; 
 

b) any section of the community may 
face barriers in benefiting from the 
proposal 

Yes 
 

No 
 

Unknow
n 

 
 
 
 

  

   

77



8 
 

13. 
 

Based on the answers to the questions above, what is the likely impact of the 
policy 
 

  
No Impact  

 
Positive Impact 

 
Neutral Impact 

 
Negative Impact or 
Impact Unknown 

 
Note: If the decision is ‘Negative Impact’ or ‘Impact Not Known’, an EHRIA 
Report is required. 

14. 
 
 

Is an EHRIA report required? 
 

 
       Yes 

 
            No 

 

 

 
Section 2: Completion of EHRIA Screening  
 
Upon completion of the screening section of this assessment, you should have 
identified whether an EHRIA Report is requried for further investigation of the impacts 
of this policy.  
 
Option 1: If you identified that an EHRIA Report is required, continue to Section 3 on 
Page 7 of this document.     
 
Option 2: If there are no equality, diversity or human rights impacts identified and an 
EHRIA report is not required, continue to Section 4 on Page 14 of this document.   

 
 

Section 3: Equality and Human Rights 
Impact Assessment (EHRIA) Report 

 
 

Section 3: Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment Report 
 
This part of the assessment will help you to think thoroughly about the impact of the 
policy and to critically examine whether it is likely to have a positive or negative impact 
on different groups within our diverse communities. It should also identify any barriers 
that may adversely affect under-represented communities or groups that may be 
disadvantaged by the way in which we carry out our business. 
 
Using the information gathered either within the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, this EHRIA Report should be used to consider the impact or likely impact 
of the policy in relation to all areas of equality, diversity and human rights as outlined in 
Leicestershire County Council’s Equality Strategy. 
 

 

Section 3 
A: Research and Consultation  

When considering the target groups, it is important to think about whether new data 

    

  

78



9 
 

needs to be collected or whether there is any existing research that can be utilised. 
 

15. Based on the gaps identified either in the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, how have you now explored the following and what does this 
information/ data tell you about each of the diverse groups? 
 

a) current needs and aspirations and what is important to individuals and 
community groups (including human rights); 
 

b) likely impacts (positive and negative, intended and unintended) to 
individuals and community groups (including human rights); 

 
c) likely barriers that individuals and community groups may face (including 

human rights) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16. Is any further research, data collection or evidence required to fill any gaps in your 
understanding of the potential or known affects of the policy on target groups?  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

When considering who is affected by this proposed policy, it is important to think 
about consulting with and involving a range of service users, staff or other 
stakeholders who may be affected as part of the proposal. 
 

17. Based on the gaps identified either in the EHRIA Screening or independently of 
this process, how have you further consulted with those affected on the likely 
impact and what does this consultation tell you about each of the diverse groups? 
 

79



10 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18. Is any further consultation required to fill any gaps in your understanding of the 
potential or known effects of the policy on target groups?  
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Section 3  
B: Recognised Impact 

19. Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
individuals or community groups who identify with any ‘protected characteristics’ 
are likely to be affected by this policy. Describe any positive and negative 
impacts, including what barriers these individuals or groups may face. 
 

 Comments 
 

Age 
 
 

 

Disability 
 
 

 

Gender Reassignment 
 
 
 

 

Marriage and Civil Partnership 
 
 

 

80



11 
 

Pregnancy and Maternity 
 
 

 

Race 
 
 

 

Religion or Belief 
 
 

 

Sex 
 
 

 

Sexual Orientation 
 
 

 

Other groups  
e.g. rural isolation, deprivation, 

health inequality, carers, 
asylum seeker and refugee 
communities, looked after 

children, deprived or 
disadvantaged communities 

 
 

 

 Community Cohesion 
 
 

 

 
 

20.  
Based on any evidence and findings, use the table below to specify if any 
particular Articles in the Human Rights Act are likely to apply to the policy. Are 
the human rights of any individuals or community groups affected by this 
proposal? Is there an impact on human rights for any of the protected 
characteristics? 
 

 Comments 
 
 

 
Part 1: The Convention- Rights and Freedoms 
  

Article 2: Right to life  
 

 

Article 3: Right not to be 
tortured or treated in an 
inhuman or degrading way  

 

Article 4: Right not to be 
subjected to slavery/ forced 
labour 

 

Article 5: Right to liberty and 
security  

 

81



12 
 

Article 6: Right to a fair trial  
 

  

Article 7: No punishment 
without law  

 

Article 8: Right to respect for 
private and family life  

 

Article 9: Right to freedom of 
thought, conscience and 
religion 

 

Article 10: Right to freedom of 
expression 

 

Article 11: Right to freedom of 
assembly and association  

 

Article 12: Right to marry 
 

 

Article 14: Right not to be 
discriminated against  

 

 
Part 2: The First Protocol 
 

Article 1: Protection of property/ 
peaceful enjoyment  
 

 

Article 2: Right to education 
   
 

 

Article 3: Right to free elections  
 

 

 

Section 3  
C: Mitigating and Assessing the Impact  

Taking into account the research, data, consultation and information you have reviewed 
and/ or carried out as part of this EHRIA, it is now essential to assess the impact of the 
policy. 
 

21. If you consider there to be actual or potential adverse impact or discrimination, 
please outline this below. State whether it is justifiable or legitimate and give 
reasons. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NB:  
 
i) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is illegal, you are required 

82



13 
 

to take action to remedy this immediately.  
 
ii) If you have identified adverse impact or discrimination that is justifiable or 
legitimate, you will need to consider what actions can be taken to mitigate its effect on 
those groups of people. 
 

22. Where there are potential barriers, negative impacts identified and/ or barriers or 
impacts are unknown, please outline how you propose to minimise all negative 
impact or discrimination. 
 

a) include any relevant research and consultation findings which highlight the 
best way in which to minimise negative impact or discrimination 
 

b) consider what barriers you can remove, whether reasonable adjustments 
may be necessary and how any unmet needs that you have identified can 
be addressed 
 

c) if you are not addressing any negative impacts (including human rights) or 
potential barriers identified for a particular group, please explain why 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 3 
D: Making a decision    

23. Summarise your findings and give an overview as to whether the policy will meet 
Leicestershire County Council’s responsibilities in relation to equality, diversity, 
community cohesion and human rights. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Section 3 
E: Monitoring, evaluation & review of the policy  

24. Are there processes in place to review the findings of this EHRIA and make 
appropriate changes? In particular, how will you monitor potential barriers and any 
positive/ negative impact? 
 
 

83



14 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

25. How will the recommendations of this assessment be built into wider planning and 
review processes? 
e.g. policy reviews, annual plans and use of performance management systems 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  

84



15 
 

Section 3: 
F: Equality and human rights improvement plan  

 

 
Please list all the equality objectives, actions and targets that result from the Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) 
(continue on separate sheets as necessary). These now need to be included in the relevant service plan for mainstreaming and 
performance management purposes. 
 

 
Equality Objective 

 
Action 

 
Target 

 
Officer Responsible 

 
By when 

 

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

    

85



16 
 

 

Section 4: Sign off and scrutiny  
 
 

Upon completion, the Lead Officer completing this assessment is required to sign the 
document in the section below. 
 
It is required that this Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) is 
scrutinised by your Departmental Equalities Group and signed off by the Chair of the 
Group. 
 
Once scrutiny and sign off has taken place, a depersonalised version of this EHRIA 
should be published on Leicestershire County Council’s website. Please send a copy of 
this form to the Digital Services Team via web@leics.gov.uk for publishing. 

 

Section 4 
A: Sign Off and Scrutiny 

 
Confirm, as appropriate, which elements of the EHRIA have been completed and are 
required for sign off and scrutiny. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Assessment Screening 
 
 
Equality and Human Rights Assessment Report 
 

 

1st Authorised Signature (EHRIA Lead Officer):  
 
Date: 05.12.2019 
  
 

 

2nd Authorised Signature (DEG Chair): …… . 
 
Date: ………5/12/19…………………… 
 
 

 
 
 

x 

 

86

mailto:web@leics.gov.uk


    

CABINET – 17TH DECEMBER 2019 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL COMMUNITY SAFETY 
STRATEGY 2019-2021 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES   

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the outcome of 

consultation on the draft Community Safety Strategy and seek approval for 
the final Strategy (attached as Appendix A to this report) to be submitted to 
the County Council for approval.  

 

Recommendations   
 

2. It is recommended that  
 

a) The responses to the consultation on the draft Strategy including 
consideration by the Scrutiny Commission are noted; 

 

b) The Community Safety Strategy is submitted to the Council for approval 
on 19 February 2020. 

 
Reasons for Recommendation   
 
3. To note feedback from consultees and how this has informed the final draft of 

the Strategy. The final Strategy must be submitted to full Council for approval 
and implementation as it forms part of the Plans Framework in the Council’s 
Constitution (Part 2, Schedule 2).   
 

Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)   
 
4. The Scrutiny Commission considered the draft Strategy at its meeting on 6 

November 2019.  
 
5. It is intended that the final Strategy will be submitted to full Council for 

approval in February 2020.   
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions   
 
6. The Community Safety Strategy forms part of the Policy Framework as set out 

in Schedule 2 to the Articles of the County Council’s Constitution. 

 

87 Agenda Item 7



7. The County Council has a statutory responsibility to work with other named 
agencies to reduce crime and disorder.  In two-tier local authority areas, the 
duty to produce detailed locality-based plans to reduce crime and disorder lies 
with district-level Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs).  Priorities are 
coordinated at a county level; in Leicestershire this is done via the 
Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board (LSCSB).  The draft 
Community Safety Strategy is based on the LSCSB’s current approach and 
priorities.   

 
8. The County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-22 sets out an outcome-based 

approach with five strategic outcomes for good quality of life in Leicestershire, 
including Keeping Communities Safe.  This covers matters such as 
safeguarding for adults and children, and the need for people to feel safe in 
their daily lives, at home and whilst out and about in the County.  The 
Community Safety Strategy will support this, setting out the Council’s 
responsibilities in relation to crime and disorder issues and priorities agreed 
by CSPs, the Police Crime Commissioner, and other statutory agencies with 
whom the Council works.   
 

9. The Cabinet at its meeting on 13 September 2019 approved the draft 
Community Safety Strategy for consultation with stakeholders.   

 
Resource Implications   

 
10. There are no resources implications arising from the recommendations in this 

report.  The Strategy can be implemented using existing resources within the 
Children and Family Services budget. 

    
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure  

 
11. None. 

 
Officers to Contact    
 
Jane Moore 
Director of Children and Family Services 
0116 305 2649 
 
Paula Sumner 
Assistant Director, Education and Early Help 
Children and Family Services Department 
0116 305 0546 
 
Chris Thomas 
Head of Early Help and Safer Communities 
Children and Family Services Department 
0116 305 6602 

 
 
 

88



PART B 
 
Background 
   
12. The Cabinet received a report at its meeting on 13 September 2019 seeking 

approval to consult on the draft Strategy.  That report also outlined the duties 
placed on local authorities in Leicestershire and how the various agencies 
involved work together and a summary is given below for ease of reference.  
 

Community Safety in Leicestershire 
 

13. The Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board (LSCSB) coordinates 
community safety priorities across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland, and 
includes representatives from the County Council, CSPs, and the “responsible 
authorities” (Police, Public Health, Fire and Rescue, National Probation 
Service, Community Rehabilitation Company, and Police and Crime 
Commissioner).     
 

14. Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) and Community Safety 
Partnerships (CSPs) have responsibility for oversight of the local police force 
and introducing a force-wide Police and Crime Plan for their region. District- 
based CSPs have responsibility for introducing a plan to reduce crime and 
disorder in their locality, recognising that there may be some crossover 
between the PCC’s and CSP’s responsibilities. The Crime and Disorder 
Regulations 2012 introduced a requirement in two-tier local authority 
arrangements for a county level strategy group to introduce a county level 
Community Safety Agreement. This (shown at Appendix B) is co-ordinated by 
the LSCSB and identifies community safety priorities across the county. In 
Leicestershire this is a web-based plan on the internet, which identifies 
common themes/priorities and provides links to the PCC and CSP plans and 
to related national crime and disorder strategies.   
 

15. The County Council’s Community Safety Team (within the Children and 
Family Services Department) liaises with district councils and other agencies 
to plan and coordinate work, provides data, and supports CSPs. The team 
also works with other responsible agencies and helps to provide a 
coordinated response to emerging threats such as serious organised crime, 
child exploitation, and cyber-crime. 
 

The Community Safety Strategy 
 

16. The appended Community Safety Strategy sets out details of relevant 
legislation in relation to the County Council’s responsibilities for crime and 
disorder matters, provides an overview of the role of the community safety 
team, and outlines the crime and disorder priorities agreed by Community 
Safety Partnerships (CSPs), the Police Crime Commissioner, and the 
statutory responsible agencies across Leicestershire. 
 

17. The Strategy includes the following County-wide priorities - 
 

89



• Identify and protect the most vulnerable. 

• Reduce crime and fear of crime. 

• Reduce incidence and impact of Anti-social behaviour (ASB). 

• Reduce harm from alcohol and substance misuse. 

• Reduce risk of harm to young people from cybercrime and bullying. 

• Increase reporting of domestic abuse and protect the most vulnerable. 

• Increase confidence in reporting of hate incidents. 
 
Consultation 

 
18. Consultation with stakeholders in relation to the draft Strategy took place over 

8 weeks between 16th September and 11th November 2019. The consultation 
involved consideration of the Strategy by the Scrutiny Commission on 6th 
November, and via an online survey which was forwarded to stakeholders; the 
CSPs for the district areas, the Police, Combined Fire Authority, Fire and 
Rescue Service, Leicestershire CCGs, the Probation Services, Public Health, 
and Leicester City and Rutland Councils.  
 

19. The Scrutiny Commission supported the draft Community Safety Strategy at 
its meeting on 6 November and had no significant concerns in relation to its 
content.  
 

20. A total of 11 responses were received to the consultation. The feedback was 
very positive with 80% of respondents indicating that the purpose and aims of 
the Strategy were clear, and that the approach of adopting an online web-
based Community Safety Agreement was helpful due to it providing all key 
information on national community safety issues and local community safety 
priorities in one accessible place. 
 

21. There were some more detailed areas of feedback, notably concerning, the 
relationship between PCC and CSP plans, the process for the LSCSB 
reviewing joint priorities, and the need to outline in a little more detail the 
Community Safety Team’s work on serious crime. 
  

22. As a result of the feedback a number of minor additions have been made, 
highlighted on the draft Strategy, in order to 
 

 make it clear that the PCC and CSPs should have due regard to each 
other’s priorities, 
 

 note that the LSCSB will review county-wide crime and disorder 
priorities annually, 

 

 state that the Strategy will take a flexible approach, to enable the 
Community Safety Team to focus on areas of serious and organised 
crime and risk as they emerge as national or local priorities. 

 

90



Equality and Human Rights Implications   
 

23. There are no direct equality or human rights implications for the local authority 
as a partner agency within broader crime and disorder arrangements.   

 
Background Papers 
 
Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2018-22  
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan     
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Leicestershire County Council Community Safety Strategy 
Appendix B – Leicestershire Community Safety Agreement  

91

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan


This page is intentionally left blank



Leicestershire County Council 
Community Safety Strategy 

2019-2021 
 

Purpose 

This strategy document provides details of relevant legislation in relation to 

Leicestershire County Councils (LCC) responsibilities concerning crime and disorder, 

provides an overview of the role of the LCC community safety team, and outlines the 

crime and disorder priorities agreed by Community Safety Partnerships (CSP’s), the 

Police Crime Commissioner, and the statutory responsible agencies across 

Leicestershire.   

 

Background 

Alongside District Councils, Fire and Rescue Authorities, Health Authorities, Police 

Forces, Police and Crime Commissioners and Probation; County Councils were 

designated by the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 as ‘Responsible Authorities’. This 

places a duty on these agencies to work together to reduce crime and disorder in 

their areas.  

Section 5 of the Crime and Disorder Act established Community Safety Partnerships 

(CSPs), which are an alliance of organisations statutorily responsible for reducing 

crime and disorder, substance misuse and re-offending within a set locality. 

Leicestershire has six CSP’s based on district geographical areas which includes 

one merged CSP for Blaby District and Hinckley and Bosworth Borough.  

Police and Crime Commissioners (PCCs) are elected representatives who oversee 
how crime is tackled in a police force area. Their aim is to cut crime and to ensure 
the police force is effective. In terms of responsibilities PCC’s have an oversight 
function in relation to the police and are also required to introduce a Police and 
Crime Plan focused on reducing crime and disorder. It is of note that the PCC and 
CSPs should have due regard to each other’s priorities within their respective plans. 
 
The oversight function in relation to the way in which the PCC discharges duties is 
undertaken by a Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland (LLR) Police and Crime 
Panel. The Panel includes a Leicestershire representative who can raise county 
related issues. The Leicestershire representative is currently the County Council 
Cabinet Lead Member for safer communities and chair of the Leicestershire Safer 
Communities Strategy Board (LSCSB).  
 
The Police and Justice Act 2006 gives statutory responsibility for two tier authorities 
such as Leicestershire, to have a county-level Crime and Disorder strategy group. 
The Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board, chaired by LCC’s Lead 
Member for Safer Communities, comprises representatives from LCC, each of 
Leicestershire’s CSPs, Leicestershire Police, Leicestershire Public Health, the 

APPENDIX A 
93



National Probation Service, Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service and the Office of 
the Police Crime Commissioner.  

As a result of the introduction of Police and Crime Commissioners in 2012, additional 
legislation was introduced focused on county-level strategy groups working within 
two-tier local authority arrangements. The Crime and Disorder regulations 2012 
place a duty on county level strategy groups to introduce a community safety 
agreement (CSA). The purpose of the CSA is to identify and enable co-ordination of 
county wide priorities. In Leicestershire the CSA is also available online to the public 
and provides links to national strategies and priorities linked to crime and disorder.  

STRATEGY DELIVERY 

In two-tier authorities, county councils have a pivotal role in co-ordinating community 

safety activity in addition to their role as a statutory responsible authority. Part of the 

role of the LCC community safety team is to provide support to the county level 

strategy group; the LSCSB. The key aspects of the local approach linked to the 

statutory responsibilities placed on county level crime and disorder strategy groups 

are as follows: 

 That the Leicestershire Safer Communities Strategy Board (LSCSB) will be 

responsible for setting priorities at a county level; 

 The LCC Community Safety Team will co-ordinate with the assistance of 

partner agencies the agenda and the work-streams overseen by LSCSB; and 

 In line with statutory responsibilities within two-tier local authority 

arrangements co-ordination will include assisting in the preparation of a 

Leicestershire community safety agreement, and a regular review of the 

LSCSB terms of reference. 

Another important function of the LSCSB is to draw together senior partners from the 

responsible authorities. The strategy group provides the forum to discuss and agree 

priorities, and check and challenge around matters affecting the delivery of crime 

reduction, offender management, and substance misuse across the county. A part of 

the LCC community safety team duties involve providing support to enable the 

effective operation of this aspect of the LSCSB activity.  

PRIORITIES  

The priorities in relation to crime and disorder were agreed by LSCSB during 2018 

and are outlined in the current CSA. The county wide priorities are as follows: 

 Identify and protect the most vulnerable; 

 Reduce crime and fear of crime; 

 Reduce incidence and impact of ASB; 

94



 Reduce harm from alcohol and substance misuse; 

 Reduce risk of harm to young people from cybercrime and bullying; 

 Increase reporting of domestic abuse and protect the most vulnerable; and 

 Increase confidence in reporting of hate incidents. 

The county wide crime and disorder priorities will be reviewed annually by the 

LSCSB in order to consider any significant changes to national, PCC, or local CSP 

priorities. There are also strong links between these crime and disorder related 

priorities and 3 priorities within the LCC 5-year strategic plan focused on community 

matters. The 3 strategic plan priorities are as follows: 

 Wellbeing and Opportunity: The people of Leicestershire have the 

opportunities and support they need to take control of their health and wellbeing; 

 Keeping People Safe: People in Leicestershire are safe and protected from 

harm; and 

 Great Communities: Leicestershire communities are thriving and integrated 
places where people help and support each other and take pride in their local 
area. 

A part of the LCC community safety team priorities involve working with internal and 

external partners to strengthen links between work-streams being undertaken 

through crime and disorder and community focused strategies. 

LCC Community Safety Team 

Community safety encompasses not just criminal activities but also takes account of 

social and environmental influences. As well as traditional crime prevention and 

reduction activities, community safety also includes addressing quality of life issues.  

LCC’s community safety team currently comprises five members of staff, a Team 

Manager, a Community Safety Coordinator and three Community Safety Officers 

with lead areas of work within anti-social behaviour, domestic abuse, hate incidents 

and Prevent. 

As a two-tier authority, much of LCC’s community safety team role is to provide 

strategic leadership, information and advice to implement county wide delivery in 

conjunction with partners, ensuring an appropriate response to community safety 

matters. The community safety team provide support through attendance at CSPs 

and the drafting of partnership plans, coordination of core areas of business such as 

anti-social behaviour (ASB), hate crime and Prevent, as well as horizon scanning for 

upcoming legislation changes or national developments which may influence local 

delivery. The work of the LCC community safety team is directly linked to enabling 

95



LCC to discharge its duties in partnership with other statutorily responsible agencies 

in relation to reducing crime and disorder. 

The key workstreams linked to the LCC community safety team are highlighted 

under the 5 headings, ASB, Prevent and hate crime, serious organised crime and 

emerging threats, domestic abuse and LSCSB support. The Strategy purposefully 

introduces a flexible approach which will enable the community safety team to focus  

on areas of serious and organised crime and risk as they emerge as national or local 

priorities. 

 

96



 

ASB 

 Provide a co-

ordination role across 

LLR in relation to 

ASB. 

 Chair both the ASB 

Delivery and Strategy 

Groups. Co-ordinate 

development of 

Sentinel multi-agency 

case management 

system 

 Develop joint 

approaches and 

encourage 

collaborative working 

across agencies and 

partnerships in LLR.  

 Review ASB 

minimum standards 

 Keep abreast of 

legislation changes 

and communicate 

impact to LLR 

partners.  

 Co-ordinate 

partnership training 

across LLR agencies 

linked to minimum 

ASB standards   

 

Prevent & Hate crime 

 Ensure LCC fulfils its 

duty under Section 

29 of the Counter-

Terrorism and 

Security Act 2015. 

 Focus on Home 

Office standards 

,introducing training 

on staff awareness, 

drawing links 

preventing 

radicalisation and 

channel project 

referrals 

 Produce and monitor 

a corporate Prevent 

action plan. 

 Keep abreast of 

legislation changes 

and communicate 

these and the 

possible impact to 

relevant LCC 

colleagues and LLR 

partners.  

 Co-ordinate hate 

related work across 

the LLR.  Chair Hate 

delivery group  

 

Domestic abuse & 

vulnerability 

 Commissioning. Co-

ordinate county DA 

needs assessment 

and assist in co-

ordination of LLR 

commissioning 

 Provide link to 

commissioned DA 

services across the 

LLR, and co-ordinate 

relevant data sharing 

requirements 

 Develop county 

focused strategy, DA 

needs assessment, 

development of 

operational practices, 

DA training internally 

and externally 

 Provide link between 

responsible 

authorities and 

District CSP’s in 

relation to the LLR 

vulnerability 

executive 

 Provide co-ordination 

role in relation to 

emerging areas of 

vulnerability work 

Serious & organised 

crime & emerging 

threats 

 Lead on horizon 

scanning for identifying 

emerging national and 

regional threats in 

relation to crime and 

disorder 

 Provide link between 

responsible agencies 

and District CSP’s in 

relation to child 

exploitation and child 

sexual exploitation 

 Co-ordination role in 

developing countywide 

and locality based 

information sharing 

meetings. 

 Co-ordinate the LLR 

senior officer group. 

Focus on developing 

meeting to co-ordinate 

responsible authorities 

around identifying & 

developing joint working 

around emerging 

threats 

 

Support  

LCSCB & senior 

officer group 

 Co-ordinate SOG 

agenda to enable 

responsible 

agencies and CSPs 

to discharge 

statutory duties. 

 Co-ordinate LSCSB 

to support county 

partnership to meet 

statutory functions  

 Attend and support 

District CSP 

meetings. 

 Co-ordinate county 

related data linked 

to community 

safety.  

 Provide input and 

support to priority 

setting at LLR, 

county, and District 

level 

 Involvement in 

meetings focused 

on community 

safety county wide 

& LLR as needed 

 

97



CONCLUSION 

The way community safety operates in Leicestershire is complex and involves many 

different agencies and stakeholders. Due to the nature of the structure and 

responsibilities of the PCC, District CSP’s, and statutorily responsible agencies, 

there is significant risk of duplication or a failure to develop collective strategies and 

priorities. The LSCSB brings together the PCC, CSP chairs, along with senior 

representatives from statutorily responsible agencies, and will continue to have a key 

role in co-ordinating priorities across Leicestershire. The future will also provide 

challenges as structures change, new legislation is implemented, or new threats 

linked to crime and disorder emerge. The emphasis of the strategy will be to 

continue to build strong partnerships across Leicestershire to enable agencies to 

work with the public, identify collective priorities, and introduce effective strategies to 

combat crime and disorder. 

 

 

98



NPS CRC
East & Rutland West

Charnwood  Facebook Twitter Contact
NW Leics  Facebook Twitter Contact
Hinckley & Bosworth  Facebook Twitter Contact

Local Scrutiny Blaby  Facebook Twitter Contact
Satisfaction Surveys Oadby & Wigston  BC  Facebook Twitter Contact

Market Harbourough  DC  Facebook Twitter Contact
Melton  BC  Facebook Twitter Contact

Performance Report
Performance Dashboard

 'Working Together for the Benefit of Everyone' 
2018-22

We will develop Minimum standards across our community safety partenrships

We will ensure that we continually develop our approaches

We will invest in our communities building capacity and focusing on prevention 

Supporting the PCC Plan by being
Efficient

Effectivey counsulting and engaging to inform priority setting

Supporting the PCC Plan by being
Effective

We will deliver our partnership work through local joint action.                                                      

We will build legitamacy in our communities by maintaining a presence and communicating our 
work                                                                                                          

LSCSB Board Documents
LSCSB Performance Documents

How We Are Accountable
(click on links) 

District Partners Responsible Agencies 
and Their Strategies and Their Strategies and Priorities & Shared Priorities

Drugs & Gangs(County Lines)

Integrated Offender Management

Drugs 
Human Trafficking
Domestic Abuse
Manageing Sex Offenders

National Crime Prevention Strategy

National Cyber Security Strategy

Viable Partnerships, Visible Policing, Victim Services, Vulenrability Protection and Value For Money

Local Authories see first column

Key Stakeholders

Crown Prosecution Service (CPS)

Assoc. LA's

HM Govt. Cyber Crime and Fraud Communications Toolkit for Law Enforcement

Community Safety Councillor Workbook
Modern Day Slavery - NCA Best Practice Guide
Modern Day Slavery - National Referral Mechanism (NRM)
Neighbourhood Watch- Safer Community Toolkits

Increase confidence/reporting of hate incidentsOadby and Wigston - 2017-20

       Building Community Capacity
Facilitating Scrutiny and OversiteLFRS

Reduce crime and fear of crime
Increase reporting of domestic abuse & protect victimsMarket Harborough 2017-20

Melton 2017-20

Identify & Protect the most Vulnerable

       Developing Information Sharing(click on link)

Leicester City Council 2016-17

Take a Survey  (see local authority websites)
Read about volunteering

Contact your partenrship:

 Local authority Websites & Social Media Links…
Rutland CC 2017-20

(Click to see the Plan)                                                                                   Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner (OPCC) Crime Plan - Underpinning and supporting community safety across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland - 

NPCC Toolkit-Child Criminal Exploitation & County Lines

Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2017-21

Leics Joint Health & Wellbeing Board
Local Governmant Association (LGA)

       Minimum Standards

Strategies 

(click on link)(Click on Link)

Common Themes 

Charnwood - 2017-20
North West - 2017-20

Being Viable and adding Value

Modern Crime Prevention Strategy 2016

Leicestershire Police Developing and Supporting
    Developing and Supporting our PeopleReduce harm from alcohol & substance misuse

Police Vision 2025
HO Serious Violence Stategy 2018

Embedding Problem Solving
Supporting PerfomanceCSE / Cyber Bullying: Reduce risk of harm to young people 

Hinckley and Bosworth 2017-20
Blaby - 2017-20

Reduce incidence and impact of ASB

Supporting Evidence Based Practice 

NCA Serious & Organised Crime Strategy 2018-19

Gambling Commission- Crime and joint working toolkit

(click on link)

Knife & Gun Crime
Cyber Security

Health (CCG)

Office of Police & Crime Commissioner

Probation

Toolkits 
Disrupting Serious & Organised Crime Tactics
College of Policing Crime Reduction Toolkit

VAL VA Rutland

NCA National Plan 2017-18 How You Can Contribute        Digital Communications & Engagement

Crime Prevention - Gov.uk
Local Govt. Assoc. Safer Comm. Models

99

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://dlnrcrc.co.uk/
https://eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk/
https://www.westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk/
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/pages/safety
https://www.facebook.com/charnwoodbc/
https://twitter.com/CharnwoodBC
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/contacts/community_safety_team
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/community_safety
https://www.facebook.com/pages/North-West-Leicestershire-District-Council/418776214851490
https://twitter.com/NWLeics
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/contacts/community_safety
https://www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk/info/100003/anti-social_behaviour_and_crime/315/the_community_safety_partnership
https://www.facebook.com/hinckandbosbc
https://twitter.com/hinckandbos_bc
https://www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk/info/100003/anti-social_behaviour_and_crime/315/the_community_safety_partnership/4
http://www.blaby.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-plans-policies/corporate-plans-and-strategies/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.facebook.com/blabydc
https://twitter.com/blabydc
http://www.blaby.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-plans-policies/corporate-plans-and-strategies/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/atoz/870
https://en-gb.facebook.com/OadbyWigstonBC/
https://twitter.com/Oadby_Wigston?ref_src=twsrc%5Egoogle%7Ctwcamp%5Eserp%7Ctwgr%5Eauthor
https://myaccount.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/AchieveForms/?mode=fill&consentMessage=yes&form_uri=sandbox-publish://AF-Process-27a0ba0c-cb2a-4465-9be6-eb381e565266/AF-Stage-52c8f881-62b4-4178-bbda-da9aef7fd9a9/definition.json&process=1&process_uri=sandbox-proces
https://www.harborough.gov.uk/community-safety-partnership
https://www.facebook.com/dialog/share?app_id=140586622674265&display=popup&href=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.harborough.gov.uk%2Fdirectory_record%2F2265%2Fcommunity_safety_partnership_plans%23.W6JjOEq8c_w.facebook&picture=&title=Our%20policies%2C%20plans%20and%20str
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Our%20policies,%20plans%20and%20strategies%20-%20Community%20Safety%20Partnership%20plans%20%7C%20Harborough%20District%20Council&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.harborough.gov.uk%2Fdirectory_record%2F2265%2Fcommunity_safety_pa
https://www.harborough.gov.uk/contact
http://www.melton.gov.uk/info/200340/community_safety
http://www.melton.gov.uk/homepage/65/facebook
https://twitter.com/MeltonBC
http://www.melton.gov.uk/contact
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s138277/2%20-%20LSCSB%20Performance%202017-18_Q4%20-%20report.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s138278/Appendix%201%20Safer%20dashboard%202017-18%20Q4.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=1032
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/832-county-lines-violence-exploitation-and-drug-supply-2017/file
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/406868/IOM_Key_Principles_refresh_supplement_final.pdf
https://leics.police.uk/advice-and-information/information-zone/drugs-and-alcohol
https://leics.police.uk/contact-us/faq/Q971
https://leics.police.uk/advice-and-information/victims-witnesses/domestic-abuse
https://leics.police.uk/advice-and-information/information-zone/child-sex-offender-disclosure-scheme
http://www.npcc.police.uk/documents/crime/2016/Final%20A4%20National%20Policing%20Crime%20Prevention%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-cyber-security-strategy-2016-to-2021
https://www.cps.gov.uk/east-midlands
https://www.cyberaware.gov.uk/LEtoolkit
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/community-safety-1e2.pdf
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/specialist-capabilities/uk-human-trafficking-centre/best-practice-guide
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/about-us/what-we-do/specialist-capabilities/uk-human-trafficking-centre/national-referral-mechanism
https://www.ourwatch.org.uk/crimes-archive/spotting-the-signs-2/
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/oadby_and_wigston_community_safety_partnership_strategic_plan_2017_2020/Oadby%20%26%20Wigston%20CSP%20-%20Strategic%20Plan%202017-2020.pdf
http://www.leicestershire-fire.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/community-safety-strategy-2016.pdf
https://www.harborough.gov.uk/directory_record/2265/community_safety_partnership_plans
http://www.melton.gov.uk/info/200340/community_safety
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-safety/safer-leicester-partnership/
https://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-community/community-safety/community-safety-strategy/
https://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/DOCUMENT-LIBRARY/Planning-and-Money/Police-and-Crime-Plan/2017-2021/Police-and-Crime-Plan-2017-2021.pdf
https://www.csepoliceandprevention.org.uk/sites/default/files/Exploitation%20Toolkit.pdf
https://www.leicestershirecommunities.org.uk/uploads/31_590c9d8ed165e289103095.pdf
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2016/10/11/Leics%20JHWS%202017-22v2.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/community-safety
https://www.charnwood.gov.uk/files/documents/csp_partnership_plan_2017_2020/CSP%20Partnership%20Plan%202017%202020%20%282%29%20%282%29.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/safer_north_west_community_safety_partnership_strategy_2017_2020/Community%20Safety%20Strategy%202017-20.pdf
http://www.eelga.gov.uk/documents/conferences/2017/20%20march%202017%20safer%20communities/richard_jolley_and_katie_aston_ppt.pdf
https://leics.police.uk/
http://www.npcc.police.uk/documents/policing%20vision.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk/downloads/file/4294/community_safety_strategy_2014-2017
http://blaby.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-plans-policies/corporate-plans-and-strategies/community-safety-partnership/
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/889-nca-annual-plan-2018/file
https://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/for-licensing-authorities/Licensing-authority-toolkit/Crime-and-joint-working.aspx
https://leics.police.uk/categories/_knife-crime
https://leics.police.uk/categories/cyber-crime
https://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/Our-Work/Community-Safety.aspx
http://whatworks.college.police.uk/Research/Documents/Menu_of_tactics.pdf
http://whatworks.college.police.uk/toolkit/About-the-Crime-Reduction-Toolkit/Pages/About.aspx
http://www.valonline.org.uk/
https://www.varutland.org.uk/
http://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/publications/790-nca-annual-plan-2017-18/file
https://www.gov.uk/crime-justice-and-law/crime-prevention
https://www.local.gov.uk/safer-communities


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

CABINET – 17TH DECEMBER 2019  
 

RECOMMISSIONING OF SUBSTANCE MISUSE TREATMENT AND 
RECOVERY SERVICES   

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH  

 
PART A 

 
Purpose of the Report  
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Cabinet of the model for the 

substance misuse treatment and recovery services which will be procured 
next year, and to seek agreement for the Director to award contracts for the 
services. 

 
Recommendations  
 
2. The Cabinet is recommended to; 
 

(a) Note the model for substance misuse treatment and recovery services; 
 
(b) Authorise the Director of Public Health in consultation with the Director of 

Corporate Resources to award contracts for the provision of substance 
misuse treatment and recovery services with effect from 1st April 2021.  

 
Reasons for Recommendation  
 
3. Delegation to the Director of Public Health will ensure that the re-procurement 

follows due process and is completed to timescale, with contracts in place by 
1st April 2021. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny)  
 
5. The review of substance misuse treatment services and local need, including 

needs assessment, engagement activity, and soft market testing took place 
between July and September 2019 following which a revised model was 
agreed by officers. 

  
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions  
 
6. The model aligns with the following outcomes from the Leicestershire County 

Council Strategic Plan 2018-2022; 
 

101 Agenda Item 8



 

Wellbeing and opportunity: the people of Leicestershire have the opportunities 
and support they need to take control of their health and wellbeing. 
Keeping people safe: people in Leicestershire are safe and protected from 
harm. 
Great Communities: Leicestershire communities are thriving and integrated 
places where people help and support each other and take pride in their area. 
 

7. The model will build on priorities within the Leicestershire Substance 
Misuse Strategy 2020-2023 which was approved by the Cabinet on 22nd 
November 2019. 

 
8. The Early Help and Prevention Review (EHAP) requires that savings are 

secured from substance misuse services by April 2021. 
 
Resource Implications  
 
9. The current Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) requires a one-off 

saving to be made of £98,000 by April 2021 from the substance misuse 
services. The new model will help achieve this saving. 
 

10. Taking into account the required EHAP savings, it is anticipated that the 
County Council’s Public Health budget allocation for the substance misuse 
treatment and recovery system from April 2021 is approximately £4m 
annually.  
 

11. The Director of Corporate Resources has been consulted as appropriate.  
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure  
 
12.      None.  
 
Officer to Contact  
 
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health  
Tel: 0116 305 4239 
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk 

102



 

PART B 
Background  
 
13. A condition of the public health grant requires local authorities to provide an 

accessible drug and alcohol treatment and recovery system. Within the County 
Council this function is delivered through several public health commissioned 
services.  It includes a community substance misuse treatment service, an in-
patient detoxifications service (both jointly commissioned with Leicester City 
Council), and substance misuse residential rehabilitation placements. Current 
contracts end in 2021 and services will need to be recommissioned for 1st April 
2021. 
 

14. Substance misuse treatment services were last recommissioned by Public 
Health in 2016 at which point a substantial cut to the budget (approximately 
£620,000) was made. The EHAP Review has identified substance misuse 
services as an area where savings can be made as part of the MTFS and there 
is currently a requirement to save approximately £100,000 by April 2021 to 
meet the EHAP Review savings target. 
 

15. The future delivery model for substance misuse treatment and recovery 
services was the subject of substantial research and engagement activity 
between July and September 2019.  This included benchmarking against 
national and East Midland specific substance misuse contracts, engagement 
meetings and events across the County with substance misuse treatment and 
recovery service staff, peer mentors, service users and other stakeholders 
including police and district councils. Consultation also took place internally, 
with staff in public health and other departments. Soft Market Testing was 
undertaken to seek the views of the market on potential models of delivery. 
 

New Service Model   
 
16. The model for the substance misuse treatment and recovery system is a Fully 

Integrated Treatment Pathway and Recovery Support. 
  
17. The current model for substance misuse treatment services comprises an 

integrated community substance misuse treatment service across 
Leicestershire and Leicester City commissioned jointly, an inpatient 
detoxification service commissioned jointly with Leicester City, and substance 
misuse residential rehabilitation placements funded separately by each 
authority. 

 
18. The new model will streamline these separate services into a Fully Integrated 

Treatment Pathway comprising community treatment, in-patient detoxification 
and residential rehabilitation placements. In addition, a separate service will 
provide recovery community support. Services will continue to be 
commissioned jointly.     

 

103



 

19. The model is comprised of; 
 
Lot 1 – Integrated Substance Misuse Treatment Service.  This includes the 
community drug and alcohol service for adults and young people, a criminal 
justice/vulnerability service, the in-patient detoxification service and residential 
rehabilitation placements. Placements for in-patient detoxification and 
residential rehabilitation will be agreed and funded by the service provider. 
 
Lot 2 – Recovery Community Support Service. These are services to engage 
those unable to access structured treatment service and will enable people to 
start their recovery journey and provide the aftercare recovery support and 
integration into purposeful activity. This is independent of the treatment 
service.  

  
Equality and Human Rights Implications  

 
20. An Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment screening has been 

undertaken in regard to the proposed recommissioning of substance misuse 
treatment and recovery support services and concluded that the new model 
would have a positive impact.  

 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 22 November 2019 - “Leicestershire Substance Misuse 
Strategy 2020-2023” - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5608&Ver=4  

 
 
 

104

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5608&Ver=4


 
 

CABINET – 17TH DECEMBER 2019 
 

EXCEPTION TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES - PROPOSED 
APPOINTMENT OF A PROVIDER TO DELIVER  

WARM HOMES FUND PROJECT 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to request an exception to Contract Procedure Rules 

to enable a direct appointment to E.on to deliver a project to help address fuel 
poverty in Leicestershire. The project is funded by the Warm Homes Fund, 
established by the National Grid and a Community Interest Company. 
 

2. The Leicestershire Warm Homes Service is part of the Public Health Department.  
Its role is to support and educate members of the public and organisations to 
reduce fuel poverty and provide practical information, advice and guidance to 
people who may experience challenges with their energy use and costs.   
 

Recommendation 
 
3.  It is recommended that the Cabinet approves an exception to the Contract 

Procedure Rules to enable the Council to enter into a contract with E.on to 
deliver a Warm Homes Fund project to residents experiencing fuel poverty in 
Leicestershire, over a 2-year period. 

Reasons for Recommendation 
 
4.  The County Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (Part 4G of the Constitution) 

require that, where the estimated value of a contract exceeds £181,302, formal 
tenders must be invited. 
 

5.  Where an exception to the Contract Procedure Rules is required for contracts 
over £181,302, Rule 6 (b) (ii) requires that Cabinet approval be obtained to the 
exception where this is justified on its merits.  The proposed contract with E.on 
would have an estimated total value of £3.4m over the two years. 

 
6.  The circumstances and financial considerations surrounding the funding bid, 

explained in Part B of this report, mean that other procurement processes are 
difficult and in this instance are not considered necessary. 
 

 

105 Agenda Item 9



Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 
 
7. Subject to the Cabinet’s approval, contracts will be put in place as soon as is 

practicable. The intended project launch is scheduled for February 2020, running 
to project completion in October 2021. 

 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
8. The County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018-2022 sets out the Authority’s overall 

policy framework and approach and includes five strategic outcomes.  The 
proposal in this report aligns in particular with the ‘Wellbeing and Opportunity’ 
outcome, that the people of Leicestershire have the opportunities and support 
they need to take control of their health and wellbeing. 

 
9. The County Council has been moving towards a social model of public health 

with greater involvement of public health across other services and a strong 
emphasis on prevention.  The Director of Public Health Annual Report 2017 
noted areas of deprivation in Leicestershire, including financial poverty and lack 
of access to good quality housing.  This project aligns with Public Health’s Early 
Help and Prevention agenda in its aims to reduce excess winter mortality and ill-
health caused by cold homes. It will provide significant improvements for 
households benefitting through physical improvements to the home and financial 
and behavioural advice to ensure residents maintain a level of resilience and 
impendence to keep warm at home.  

 

Resource Implications 
 
10. The Works contract proposed is estimated to have a total value of £3.4m over the 

2-year period. This funding has been achieved through a successful application 
for external funds so does not affect any budgets or funding that currently sits 
with the Warm Homes team.  

 
11. External funding has been awarded within the bid to create an additional advisor 

post within the Public Health First Contact Plus advice and signposting service 
for 2 years. This is to ensure adequate resource to manage increased numbers 
of referrals as a result of promotional activity during the project. 

 
12. The Director of Corporate Resources and the Director of Law and Governance 

have been consulted on the content of this report. 
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

13. None. 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Mike Sandys  
Director of Public Health 

 Adrian Allen, Head of Service Design and Delivery 
Public Health Department 

Tel: 0116 305 4239  
Email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk  

 Tel:  0116 305 4222 
Email adrian.allen@leics.gov.uk   

 

106

mailto:mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
mailto:adrian.allen@leics.gov.uk


PART B 
 

Background 
 
Fuel Poverty and the Warm Homes Fund 
 
14.  In 2014 the UK Government introduced a statutory target to ensure fuel-poor 

homes in England achieve a minimum energy efficiency rating of Band C by 1 
December 2030. 

 
15. The Warm Homes service within the Council’s Public Health Department, has 

been successful in applying to the Warm Homes Fund administered by 
Affordable Warmth Solutions CIC (AWS). Local authorities and registered social 
landlords had the opportunity to bid for funding to install first time central heating 
measures in low income, fuel poor households, and develop innovative projects 
tackling fuel poverty through additional benefits that might be realised - for 
example: providing advice in the home, insulation measures and income 
maximisation. 

 

Submission of Bid to the Warm Homes Fund 
 
16. AWS required funding bids to demonstrate a commitment of third-party funding 

(i.e. to include assurance of access to additional grant funding as part of Energy 
Company Obligation grants scheme, and other resources). Bids had to 
demonstrate value for money and a clear net benefit of outcomes in comparison 
to the amount of funding requested from AWS. The level of financial detail 
required at the bid submission stage was such that it would be difficult to run a 
competitive procurement process once the funding had been secured, since 
each energy supplier or installer bidding would have different pricing and 
resources to those detailed in the funding bid.  

  
17. The Warm Homes Fund bid was submitted by the County Council’s Warm 

Homes service on the 27th September 2019 in line with the final round of bids 
closing deadline. Prior to submitting a funding bid, soft market testing was carried 
out by the Council to identify interest in the scheme and to test possible ways of 
comparing the different approaches that could be taken by the market in 
delivering the project. Various market options were examined however the main 
challenge was the inability to write a bid in sufficient detail without working 
collaboratively with a delivery partner in advance of the funding award decision. 
Successful bids also required the commitment of third-party funding. 

 
18. Given the challenges identified and not wanting to miss out on this final 

opportunity to bid for the funding, a bid was developed based on a free of charge 
assessment carried out by E.on on the opportunity to target all electrically heated 
properties.  

 
Partnership with E.on 
 

19. E.on is an established energy supplier and has been proactive in wanting to 
create a project in line with other Warm Homes Fund bids it has developed in 
Nottinghamshire and Staffordshire and approached the Council directly.  

107



 
20. The bid submitted focuses on two categories, designed to run in conjunction as 

one project. Firstly, for E.on to install 500 first-time gas central heating systems 
along with relevant insulation measures to primarily private sector housing. 
Secondly, to realise wider benefits that reduce the likelihood of fuel poverty 
through income maximisation, benefit checks and home energy assessments via 
a partnership between E.on and Age UK and by funding additional staffing 
resource within the Public Health First Contact Plus advice and signposting 
service. 

 
21. Properties would be identified by all parties involved with particular focus on Eon 

utilising communications agreed by a project steering group within communities. 
Targeting will utilise a variety of data sets on household energy efficiency, 
heating type, gas network coverage, fuel poverty prevalence and deprivation.  

  
22. Local authority private sector housing leads, and the Lightbulb housing support 

partnership have been engaged as part of the bid development to ensure local 
knowledge and experience can identify households eligible for support.  

 
23. The funding bid was submitted on the basis that it was subject to exception 

approval for direct award and approved by AWS.  
  
Direct Contract Award 
 
24. The intention to direct award a contract to deliver this project follows a precedent 

set by Nottinghamshire County Council directly awarding a similar contract to 
E.on. AWS guidance advised that local authorities are free to set up their own 
partnerships to create effective projects. E.on, is one of the larger established 
and experienced energy suppliers in the UK, with similar existing projects already 
operating in the Midlands region and beyond.  

 
25. In the immediate months prior to the submission of a funding bid, no other party 

directly approached the Council to express a desire for potential Warm Homes 
Fund project collaboration. E.on’s main role in the project is to arrange works for 
both installation of gas boilers and gas network extensions.  Any other minor 
services (such as project management) being provided by E.on are ancillary and 
not severable from the main purpose of the contract which is the works. 
Therefore, the arrangements between the Council and E.on are classified as a 
works contract under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. The proposed 
contract is significantly below the threshold for advertising works under the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 (the contact not being of interest to suppliers outside 
the UK).   

  
Risk Assessment 
 
26. The Council considers the risk of partnering with E.on low on the basis of 

experience, financial risk rating, contingency and existing successful project 
involvement specifically within the Warm Home Fund. 

 
 

108



 
Conclusion 
  
27. An exception is therefore sought to direct award a Works contract to E.ON so 

they may deliver the project for which significant funding has been secured. The 
total project value is estimated at £3.4m over a 2-year period.  

   
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
28. There are no adverse equality or human rights implications arising from this 

report – there are no proposed changes to policies or strategies, services, and 
so on, which would indicate any adverse effect on particular groups. If approved, 
the contract proposed would improve the lives of eligible residents, currently 
living in fuel poverty, by providing them with warmer homes and/or greater 
financial resilience. There will be positive implications for certain groups at 
increased risk of the effects of fuel poverty, for example those with long term ill-
health affected by cold weather will benefit from the target eligibility criteria set 
out by AWS. 
 

Environmental Implications  
 
29. The installation of first-time gas central heating in combination with insulation 

measures is considered appropriate to ensure all adequate means to reduce the 
need to heat the property are reasonably addressed. There is a need to balance 
affordability in terms of running costs for residents in using their heating system 
with the environmental sustainability of continued use of fossil fuels. It is 
recognised that use of existing gas network infrastructure has a role to play in 
future decarbonisation of energy use at home.  

 
Background Papers 
 
Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2018-2022  
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan 
 
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2017 
http://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/dph-annual-report-2017.pdf 
 

109

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/council-plans/the-strategic-plan
http://www.lsr-online.org/uploads/dph-annual-report-2017.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

CABINET – 17 DECEMBER 2019 
 

RESPONSE TO CHARNWOOD BOROUGH COUNCIL’S DRAFT 
CHARNWOOD LOCAL PLAN (2019-36) PREFERRED OPTION 

CONSULTATION 
 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

PART A 
 

Purpose of the Report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to seek agreement for the County Council’s 
response to the consultation issued by Charnwood Borough Council relating to 
its ‘Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) Preferred Option’. 

 
Recommendations 
 
2. It is recommended that the comments set out in paragraphs 18 to 80 of this 

report and the detailed consultation response appended be approved as the 
County Council’s response to Charnwood Borough Council’s ‘Draft Charnwood 
Local Plan (2019-36) Preferred Option’. 
 

Reasons for Recommendation 
 

3. To provide the County Council’s response to Charnwood Borough Council. To 
seek to ensure alignment with the strategic outcomes of the County Council’s 
Strategic Plan, with the Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan 
(SGP), and to influence the content of the Local Plan in the interests of local 
communities. 

 
Timetable for Decisions (including Scrutiny) 

 
4. Following consideration by the Cabinet on 17 December 2019, the response of 

the County Council will be submitted to Charnwood Borough Council.  
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
     

5. On 23 November 2018, the Cabinet approved the Strategic Growth Plan 
“Leicester and Leicestershire 2050: Our Vision for Growth”.  Each of the nine 
other partners approved the SGP through their respective governance 
processes between October to December 2018, including Charnwood Borough 
Council on 5 November 2018. 

 

111 Agenda Item 10



6. Leicester and Leicestershire’s Strategic Growth Plan and its delivery through 
Local Plans are important contributions to achieving the vision set out in 
“Working Together for the Benefit of Everyone”, the County Council’s Strategic 
Plan for 2018-22 which was approved by the Council in December 2017.   

 

7. On 15 May 2019 the County Council declared a Climate Emergency, and in 
doing so agreed to take a number of actions including reducing emissions from 
road transport and waste disposal, and to work with other partners and public 
bodies to deliver the ambitious goal of carbon neutrality by 2030 via all relevant 
technologies, strategies and plans.  

  
Resource Implications 
 

8. There are no direct resource implications arising from this report.  
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 

9. A copy of this report will be circulated to all members of the County Council 
representing Charnwood divisions.  

 
Officers to Contact 
 

Tom Purnell   
Assistant Chief Executive  
Tel: 0116 305 7019   Email: tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk 
 

Sharon Wiggins  
Strategic Planning Manager, Chief Executive’s Dept. 
Tel: 0116 305 8234   Email: sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tim Smith 
Policy Officer, Chief Executive’s Dept  
Tel. 0116 305 7219  Email: tim.smith@leics.gov.uk    
 

112

mailto:tom.purnell@leics.gov.uk
mailto:sharon.wiggins@leics.gov.uk


PART B 

 
Background 
 
The Strategic Growth Plan and Local Plans 
 
10. The Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan (SGP), and the local 

plans through which it will be delivered, will make important contributions to 
achieving the vision set out in “Working Together for the Benefit of Everyone”, 
the County Council’s Strategic Plan for 2018-22.  The SGP supports all five 
strategic outcomes, but has a particularly important role in contributing to the 
delivery of the Strong Economy and Affordable and Quality Homes outcomes.   
 

11. The SGP has been prepared jointly by the seven local planning authorities in 
the county (district councils), the County Council as the highway authority, 
Leicester City Council as a unitary authority with combined planning and 
highways responsibilities, and the LLEP. A partnership Members Advisory 
Group, chaired by Mr. Pendleton CC, oversees its preparation and delivery.   
 

12. The SGP sets out a strategy for the growth and development of Leicester and 
Leicestershire over the period to 2050, enabling partners to consider the longer 
term needs of the area and opportunities which extend beyond the 
conventional timeframe of a Local Plan.   
 

13. It enables partners to plan effectively for the future, providing Local Plans with a 
consistent strategic framework for the wider area, guiding decisions on 
infrastructure investment and helping make the case for Government funding. 

 

14. For the north and north west parts of Leicestershire, which includes Charnwood 
Borough, the foci for growth set out in SGP are: 

 The Leicestershire International Gateway; 

 Managed growth for Loughborough and Coalville; 

 The northern end of the A46 Priority Growth Corridor.    
 
15. The essential infrastructure to support the delivery of growth shown on the SGP 

strategy diagram for the north and north west parts of Leicestershire are the M1 
smart motorway, A46 Expressway (route to be defined), M42/A42 Expressway, 
rail improvements and HS2. Also, the new Junction 20a on the M1 will have a 
positive impact on the delivery of growth in the north and north west parts of 
Leicestershire.       

 
16. This is the third consultation on a Local Plan review in Leicester and 

Leicestershire to take place since the approval of the SGP in December 2018. 
It is therefore appropriate, at this stage, to consider compliance of the preferred 
option for the draft Charnwood Local Plan 2019 to 2036 with the strategic steer 
provided by the SGP.  

 
17. Since the SGP was approved in December 2018 the County Council has 

declared a Climate Change Emergency. It will work towards carbon neutrality 
by 2030; and aims to lead by example working through how it is going to deliver 

113



services in a carbon neutral way.  It will seek to reflect the Climate Change 
Emergency in the Council’s Strategic Plan when it is updated and the 
Environment Strategy is to be revised and an action plan developed.   

 
Proposed Response to the Preferred Option Consultation  
 
Overarching and general comments  
 
18. Charnwood Borough Council is currently undertaking consultation on its Draft 

Charnwood Local Plan 2019 to 2036; this is an informal consultation period on 
preferred options to inform its thinking on its emerging plan and will be followed 
in due course by formal consultation on its Pre-Submission Draft Local Plan 
(Regulation 19).  

 
19. The County Council welcomes the opportunity to comment on the emerging 

Local Plan, which seeks to align with the new SGP for Leicester and 
Leicestershire and new evidence of the need for homes and jobs.  Once 
progressed through to adoption the new local plan will replace the current 
Charnwood Core Strategy which was adopted in November 2015 and provides 
a development strategy for the Charnwood Borough area to 2028. Charnwood 
Borough Council anticipate the publication of the Pre-Submission Draft Plan 
and Examination in Public of the plan in 2020.  

 

20. Forty-three questions are posed in the consultation document.  Officers from 
key service areas have appraised the document from their key service area 
perspectives and key comments are set out in this report with detailed 
comments included in the appendix. 

 

Vision, Development Strategy, Housing and Employment 
 

21. With regard to the vision ‘environment’ needs to be placed higher, at the 
forefront of the vision.  There is an iincreasing recognition that unless 
environmental issues (climate change, biodiversity loss, resource scarcity) are 
addressed there will not be a strong economy or much in the way of a quality of 
life. As such, Charnwood Borough is advised to move ‘environment’ to the fore.  
   

22. The County Council recognises that a significant proportion of the housing need 
for the Borough to 2036 is already planned for; this includes three Sustainable 
Urban Extensions (SUEs): 

 North East of Leicester at Thurmaston SUE; 

 West of Loughborough SUE; and 

 North of Birstall SUE. 
   

23. These SUEs will continue to deliver houses after 2028 into the new local plan 
period, and in the case of the North East of Leicester at Thurmaston SUE 
(planning permission for 4,500 homes) beyond 2036 as well. 

 
24. Charnwood BC proposes to save the policies from the Core Strategy regarding 

the North East of Leicester at Thurmaston SUE and west of Louqhborough 
SUE, and the draft Local Plan contains updated policies for the north of Birstall 

114



(confirming as a SUE allocation), and the Watermead Regeneration Corridor 
(confirming as an allocation as a regeneration corridor to support the 
regeneration of Thurmaston, help meet the needs for jobs and maximise the 
potential of the Country Park). 

 
25. The confirmation and identification of strategic sites as SUEs to deliver a 

significant proportion of the Borough’s planned growth is welcomed as this will 
help secure the infrastructure investment required to deliver new homes and 
jobs.   

 

26. A commitment to comprehensive masterplanning is sought within the draft 
Local Plan to aid the co-ordination and delivery of strategic sites and specific 
smaller sites; particularly where there is likely to be a cumulative impact from 
several related sites. 

 
27. There are a further 70 smaller housing allocations identified in the draft Local 

Plan in the Leicester Urban Area, the Loughborough Urban Area, Shepshed 
Urban Area, service centres and other settlements. 

 
28. Outside of the proposed SUEs the scattered and relatively small-scale nature of 

the development locations around the Borough means that it will be especially 
important for the Local Plan to have strong policies around the identification of 
cumulative impacts and the securing of mitigation to offset those impacts to 
achieve the stated vision and objectives. 

 
29. Charnwood Borough Council’s preferred strategy, based on evidence (including 

the use of the new national standard methodology for calculating housing need) 
is to plan for a low growth scenario with a significant element of flexibility to 
take account of changing circumstances.  This translates into Charnwood 
Borough needing to a provide a further 5,930 homes to meet needs for the 
longer plan period once commitments are taken into account, and a further 
1,300 additional homes intended to provide sufficient flexibility to maintain a 
supply of housing land. 

 
30. The County Council supports an evidence-based approach to arriving at the 

preferred scale of housing provision, but expresses caution and concern  this 
may be too low for the following three reasons: 

 

 Firstly, the Local Plan provision figure ideally needs to incorporate a 
buffer of 20% to enable sufficient flexibility, and to provide Charnwood 
Borough with the ability to maintain a five-year land supply of 
deliverable sites. It appears that this is not the case.   
 

 Secondly, partners are now in a position where the scale of unmet 
housing need for Leicester City is becoming clearer and although the 
redistribution of this unmet need is likely to be zero towards 
Charnwood Borough due to the strategy of the SGP, it is suggested 
that sufficient scope needs to be incorporated in emerging plan 
making to increase provision if informed through the Statement of 
Common Ground that this should be the case.  

115



 

 Thirdly, a low growth option does not appear to chime well with the 
Government’s national ambition to achieve the delivery of 300,000 
new homes each year, although it is noted that the low growth option 
would still require a step change in housing delivery in Charnwood 
Borough compared to its current Core Strategy requirement (820 
homes a year). 

 

31. As such it is considered that the proposed further housing provision figure of 
7,252 homes should be increased or regarded as a minimum and that further 
consideration is given to increasing the figure on the finalisation of the 
Statement of Common Ground. 

 
32. With regard to employment land the County Council strongly supports the 

development and further expansion of the Loughborough University Science 
and Enterprise Park and notes the continued support for this in the draft Local 
Plan, recognising the scope to be one of the largest science parks in the UK 
with a diverse range of businesses within the knowledge-based and high 
technology manufacturing sectors. 

 
33. Reference is made to the wider needs for larger strategic distribution units in 

Leicestershire and the current study being undertaken at a Housing Market 
Area level to ensure a combined approach is taken to address the needs of this 
sector.  The County Council supports this approach and understands the 
results will inform the Pre-Submission Draft Plan. 

 
34. Charnwood Borough Council has reviewed existing employment commitments 

and considers these continue to meet its needs and deliver its preferred 
strategy for economic growth. These commitments include employment 
provision as part of the SUEs at the North East of Leicester, West of 
Loughborough and North of Birstall as well as part of the Watermead 
Regeneration Corridor.  

    
35. It is considered that this approach, together with the continued focus of 

employment uses in Loughborough and Leicester, is appropriate; however, 
should further housing provision be made this should be balanced with the 
further identification of employment land to provide the opportunity for the co-
location of jobs and homes.   

 
36. It is noted that the importance of the service sector is referred to in the draft 

Local Plan, but little reference is made to Loughborough University and 
Loughborough College as important employers in the area.  It is understood 
that the inclusion of figures quantifying the number of employees would 
illustrate the contribution made from these employers. 

 

37. With regard to town centres it is considered that town centre leakage figures 
and a list of key tourism assets need to be included to help understand how the 
local town centres currently function and the assets they contain.  

 

116



38. Cultural institutions such as the Charnwood Museum and Loughborough 
Library, which is the largest in the County, play a significant role in supporting 
Loughborough town centre and its regeneration, and in supporting the priorities 
around protecting and enhancing heritage assets and encouraging greater 
tourism at attractions such as the Great Central Railway, Carillion and 
Stoneywell.     

 

39. Draft Policy LP36 (North of Birstall Sustainable Urban Extension), refers to the 
Leicestershire Minerals Development Framework but this has now been 
replaced by the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan up to 2031 which 
was formally adopted on the 25th September 2019.  Regard should be given to 
the Mineral and Waste Safeguarding Charnwood Borough Document S2/2015 
which forms part of the plan and lists the areas of the borough which are 
safeguarded for mineral purposes.  Several of the allocations in the Draft 
Charnwood Local Plan lie in sand and gravel safeguarding areas and this 
should be considered.  

 

40. Site allocation HS 43 is adjacent to two approved waste management sites; 
Newhurst Quarry where a large-scale energy recovery facility is being 
developed, and the nearby former roof tiles factory where a waste transfer 
station currently operates from Ingleberry Road.  These are safeguarded in the 
Mineral and Waste Safeguarding Charnwood Borough Document S2/2015 
which forms part of the recently adopted Leicestershire Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan. 

 
41. Specific comments have been provided on the proposed allocations from a 

Highways Development Management perspective and these are included in the 
appendix. 

 
Environment and Climate Change 

 
42. With regard to key challenges, there is not just the challenge from the impacts 

of climate change there is also the challenge of taking the actions needed to 
avoid the worst effects of climate change (i.e., by reducing emissions, 
increasing carbon sequestration etc) by reducing energy demand, changing to 
renewable forms of energy, low / zero carbon transport / mobility solutions, 
increasing energy efficiency etc. Addressing this challenge will reduce the need 
to put time, money and effort into dealing with the impacts of climate change. 
Taking action on this should also create new economic and employment 
opportunities for the area. The Plan should strive to reference the full challenge 
of climate change. 
 

43. It is requested that a further bullet point to draft Policy LP2 on high quality 
design is added as follows: 

  Create places that work for both people and wildlife. 
 

44. It is considered that draft Policy LP25 on Open Spaces, Sport and Recreation 
does not sufficiently take into account wider health issues. Open space in itself 
will not support people’s health and wellbeing. The quality of that open space 
and the available facilities is also an important factor as is the environment 

117



within which it is set especially in terms of air quality. As such, suggested policy 
wording is proposed to reflect this.  
 

45. The County Council supports the principle that developments should contribute 
towards the quality of the area over the lifetime of the development, and would 
expect the Local Plan to set out how this is to be achieved in terms of the use 
of any non-standard materials or items proposed to be used within the public 
highway (e.g. through commuted sums). 

 

46. Reference needs to be included to reducing impacts for areas of habitat that 
are vulnerable to climate change as per the Natural England Climate Change 
Vulnerability Mapping. Ensuring habitats which are vulnerable are in the best 
condition, to allow resilience to the negative impacts of climate change. 

 

47. The County Council is proactive in supporting sustainable modes of travel. In 
October 2018, the County Council adopted its new Passenger Transport Policy 
and Strategy (PTPS) and is currently undertaking service reviews to consider 
affordable solutions to meet communities’ needs. In the context of the PTPS, it 
should be noted that the County Highway Authority is increasingly looking to 
put the onus on site promoters to come forward with passenger transport 
proposals appropriate to the scale and nature of their development as opposed 
to seeking financial payments through S106 agreements. It would be useful if 
the supporting text to the policy could reflect this. 

 

48. Furthermore, the PTPS recognises the increasing financial challenges of 
supporting non-commercial, traditional bus services and potentially requires 
alternative solutions such as demand responsive transport or community 
initiatives to be explored. As such, the County Highway Authority would look to 
work with the Borough Council through the planning process to ensure that new 
development is appropriately supported by passenger transport services. 
  

49. The commitment to pursuing walking and cycling initiatives in conjunction with 
the Local Plan is welcomed. With regard to the preparation of Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plans, it is important that these are developed around 
appropriate geographical areas, in conjunction with relevant wider strategies in 
planning/development, and in partnership with the County Highway Authority 
and other bodies (e.g. Leicester City Council) where applicable. 

 
Infrastructure and delivery 

 
50. The Vision refers to “…excellent connections by bus…”. This, along with any 

other references to bus services (or similar) throughout the document (e.g. 
within draft policy LP33), should be widened out to refer more generally to 
“passenger transport” to reflect the County Council’s Passenger Transport 
Policy and Strategy (PTPS). The distinction is important given that the PTPS 
recognises the increasing financial challenges of supporting non-commercial, 
traditional bus services and the need for alternative solutions such as demand 
responsive transport or community initiatives. 
 

118



51. The initial transport evidence undertaken by Charnwood Borough Council 
helpfully highlighted the magnitude of transport impacts of differing growth 
options, both in terms of quantum and spatial focus. The evidence suggests 
that, in overall terms, the levels of housing growth proposed in the draft local 
plan should be capable of being accommodated on the transport system over 
the plan period, subject to appropriate mitigation.  

 

52. In comparison to the existing core strategy, the proposed distribution of new 
homes in the draft local plan contains a greater number of relatively smaller 
sites, more widely spatially distributed. This being the case, it will be important 
for the local plan to have strong policies around the identification of cumulative 
impacts and the securing of mitigation to offset those impacts to achieve the 
stated vision and objectives. 

 

53. With regard to specific locations, the identification of Shepshed as forming part 
of the Strategic Growth Plan’s “Leicestershire International Gateway” suggests 
that it will be necessary to revisit transport connectivity assumptions for this 
area, for example in respect of where people may choose to work in future. It 
may be necessary to consider joint work with North West Leicestershire District 
Council to develop supporting transport evidence in relation to this. 

 

54. Notwithstanding growth being relatively more scattered than the existing core 
strategy, Charnwood Borough Council’s transport evidence suggests that the 
draft Local Plan proposals are nonetheless likely to place considerable 
additional pressure on Loughborough’s transport system, which will require a 
coordinated strategy for mitigation. 

 

55. Equally, the proposed concentration of further growth around the north and 
west edges of the Leicester Urban Area, when combined with growth within the 
City and Blaby District, means that a coordinated strategy will similarly be 
needed to develop and underpin delivery of transport mitigation measures in 
this area. 

 

56. Additionally, the proposed further growth in settlements in and around the Soar 
Valley is likely to put pressure on a highway network which is subject to 
significant resilience issues (i.e. regular flooding, limited cross-river 
connectivity). As above, this will need to be considered as part of strategies for 
mitigation in this area. 

 

57. Comprehensive masterplanning is sought to aid the delivery of specific sites.  
For example, within this context of comprehensive masterplanning, the 
proposal for two separate, relatively small-scale housing sites through 
allocation HS5 (Land at Gynsill Lane and Anstey Lane, Glenfield) is not 
especially helpful in transport terms, particularly in the context of potential 
adjoining growth opportunities in Leicester City and Blaby District. The County 
Council would prefer to see coordinated, joint working between the three 
authorities to deliver a single, comprehensively master planned development in 
this area. 

 

119



58. Reference to rail needs to be included in the Draft Local Plan, particularly given 
the importance of Loughborough Railway Station and the key supporting role to 
the quarrying industry within the borough. 

 

59. Noting the potential interactions of growth proposed through the draft Local 
Plan with neighbouring Districts (including Leicester City, Blaby and North West 
Leicestershire) and the potential resulting cumulative impacts within and 
without the Borough, text could be added to policy LP34 on the Local and 
Strategic Road Network to reflect this and provide a basis for cross-boundary 
contributions and mitigation. 

 

60. The Local Plan should provide a robust policy framework for ensuring that the 
cumulative impacts of growth (both within and without the Borough) are 
properly understood, the approach to mitigation is clearly identified and the 
costs and approach to funding for supporting infrastructure and mitigation is 
also clear. This may include the need for comprehensive masterplanning 
across sites, the development of supporting strategies and the development of 
an agreed approach to the funding and cash-flowing of mitigation/supporting 
infrastructure. 

 

61. The Local Plan should also have due regard to the potential longer-term 
strategic growth and infrastructure requirements (including transport) within the 
“south east Charnwood” area (i.e. Syston, East Goscote etc.) as part of the 
Strategic Growth Plan’s “A46 Priority Growth Corridor”. 

 

62. There is little mention of Park and Ride, which is referred to in relation to the 
North of Birstall SUE but not in regard to ‘Sustainability’ or ‘Parking’. 
 

63. The support for the provision of superfast broadband networks for all homes 
and businesses is a welcome inclusion. 

 
64. As part of this support, it is advised that Charnwood Borough Council considers 

creating incentives for future investment in digital infrastructure within the Local 
Plan. This could include outlining how planning policies will facilitate the rollout 
of both fixed full fibre and mobile infrastructure. 

 
65. The Children and Family Services Department at the County Council is liaising 

with Charnwood Borough Council on the requirements for education arising 
from the draft Local Plan.  

 
66. The County Council’s new Growth Unit will be able to assist with accelerating 

the delivery of strategic sites. 
 

Comments from Strategic Property Services at the County Council  
 
67. The comments of the Strategic Property Services, Corporate Resources 

Department in relation to Leicestershire County Council’s role as a Landowner 
with property interests within Charnwood Borough follow below.  

 
 

120



Vision and Objectives 
 

68. The vision and objectives are generally welcomed and show strong links with 
the Strategic Growth Plan and the County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018 – 22. 
However, the Development Strategy at Paragraph 1 could be expanded by the 
following addition, namely, “to maintain the role of Service Centres as vibrant 
sustainable communities by the allocation of appropriate levels of new 
development”. 

 
Development Strategy 
 

69. The approach of using the standard methodology as a baseline assessment is 
seen as sound and complies with the requirements of the NPPF. However, it is 
recognised that there will be substantial unmet needs within Leicester City 
which will need to be accommodated within neighbouring authorities; the 
distribution of which will be set out in a Statement of Common Ground (SOCG) 
to be agreed by all authorities across the HMA. It is therefore essential that the 
plan is flexible enough to take account of the both the unmet needs of the City 
and potential economic growth. It is therefore considered that the proposed 
allocation of 7252 homes be regarded as a minimum and that further 
consideration be given to increasing this allocation on the finalisation of the 
MoU. 
 

70. In relation to employment needs the strategy needs to address any potential 
areas of market failure particularly in relation to providing the ability for fledgling 
business to be established and thrive providing a ladder for expansion and 
business development. 

 
71. The Settlement Hierarchy is seen as sound and the distribution of new homes 

across the hierarchy as logical as it concentrates on larger urban sites that 
have the ability to deliver the infrastructure required to support the new 
communities. In addition, the allocation of housing to Service Centres is seen 
as essential to maintaining the sustainability of these communities. However, 
the allocation of specific sites removes the flexibility essential to good plan 
making by reducing the ability to bring forward sites on an opportunity basis to 
meet any shortfalls in supply. Further, the reliance on small sites to deliver 10% 
of the allocation is questioned as is their ability to deliver the infrastructure 
required to mitigate their impact on local services. 

 
72. The aspiration that development is of good design meets that of the Strategic 

Plan and Strategic Growth Plan and is therefore welcomed. 
 

 Housing  
 

73. To reiterate, with the exception of the three sustainable urban extensions (sites 
HS1 – HS3) the allocation of specific sites reduces the opportunity for other 
sites in sustainable locations to be brought forward to meet shortfalls in 5-year 
supply. In relation to its own land interests within Charnwood Borough the 
County Council would seek to promote the following housing site as a potential 
alternative to that proposed in Policy LP3:- 

121



 Land at Farley Way, Quorn – The Council owns 8 acres of land at 
Farley Way, Quorn situated to the west of the A6 By-pass adjoining 
existing development. Whilst, the land had previously been considered 
as being located within a flood risk area, exhaustive survey and 
technical appraisals have been undertaken in consultation with the 
Environment Agency which clearly demonstrate that the current flood 
map is flawed and that the development of the site is not constrained. 
It is therefore considered that the site is capable of contributing at least 
48 new homes towards the housing needs of the village in a 
sustainable location close to all existing services and within what 
would be the logical limits of development. By comparison the site at 
Loughborough Road, Quorn is situated in a less sustainable location 
more remote from the village centre and extends into the area of 
separation between Quorn and Loughborough. Further, the land at 
Farley Way is both available, with a willing landowner, and deliverable. 
Additional information addressing the perceived flood zoning 
constraints has already been presented to the Local Planning 
Authority to provide confidence that the site provides a deliverable 
development option. 

 
Affordable Housing 
 

74. The delivery of affordable housing accords with the Council’s strategic 
objectives and is therefore supported. The level of affordable housing proposed 
at 30%, as a maximum, reflects the overall needs of the Borough, however, the 
proposal that small sites be exempt from contributing towards the achievement 
of the overall need may act to constrain the delivery of required numbers. 
Recognition that the proportion of affordable housing can be reduced in 
circumstances where it can be demonstrated that the viability of a site cannot 
support the full 30% of affordable housing is seen as sound.  

 
75. Policy LP5 is seen as maintaining the vitality of smaller settlements and 

therefore welcomed. 
 

Employment and Regeneration 
 

76. The development and further expansion of the Loughborough University 
Science and Enterprise Park is strongly supported. 
 

77. In common with the allocation of housing sites the policy constrains the 
potential of bringing forward sites on an opportunity basis in locations which 
meets the criteria set out in the remainder of Policy LP12. For example, the 
County Council owns a 2.5 acre site at Barrow Road, Quorn with the ability to 
deliver circa 45,000 square feet of employment space within easy reach of the 
village in a location that provides excellent access to the major road network at 
a scale that would be attractive to SMEs and capable of meeting the needs of 
the growing community. Further, the land, which is within flood zone 1, is both 
available and deliverable. 

 

122



78. In addition, by taking a more flexible approach the opportunity exists to make 
up any shortfall in land supply caused by any existing employment sites being 
redeveloped for alternative uses. 

 
79. Policy PL16 is supported as it provides the opportunity to stimulate economic 

growth through the diversification of rural farming businesses and the economic 
use of underutilised assets. 

 
Environment 
 

80. Policies LP19 – LP28 are seen as sound and meeting the requirements of the 
NPPF in relation to the range of issues covered and seeks to protect and 
enhance the important landscape, geological and other natural features of the 
Borough whilst promoting its leisure and economic potential. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 

81. There are no equality and human rights implications arising from the 
recommendations in this report.  

 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 23 November 2018: Leicester and Leicestershire Strategic 
Growth Plan – Consideration of Revised Plan for Approval 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4 
 
Report to full Council on 6 December 2017: Strategic Plan and Single Outcomes 
Framework  
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4 
 
Minutes of the County Council meeting held on 15 May 2019 (10 (a) Climate 
Emergency) 
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5112  
 
Appendix 
 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft 
Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) Preferred Option Consultation  
 
 
 
 

 

123

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=4603&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5104&Ver=4
http://cexmodgov1/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=5112


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

RESPONSES  
FROM 

CHAPTE
R 

PAGE  
NO 

COMMENT 

Environment  2 10 Section on Environment – Include the % of Rights of Way with Ease of Access.  

ENV 3 12 Key Challenges - there is not just the challenge from the impacts of climate change there is 
also the challenge of taking the actions needed to avoid the worst effects of climate change 
(ie, by reducing emissions, increasing carbon sequestration etc) by reducing energy 
demand, changing to renewable forms of energy, low / zero carbon transport / mobility 
solutions, increasing energy efficiency etc. Addressing this challenge will reduce the need to 
put time, money and effort into dealing with the impacts of climate change. Taking action on 
this should also create new economic and employment opportunities for the area. Plan 
needs to reference the full challenge of climate change. 

ENV 3 12 Vision – ‘Development will have been managed to improve the economy, quality of life and 
the environment.’  
 
Putting the environment last can imply that it is the least important of the list. Increasing 
recognition that unless we address the environmental issues (climate change, biodiversity 
loss, resource scarcity) there won’t be an economy to develop or much in the way of a 
quality of life. If CBC has declared a climate emergency, then it would make sense to put this 
at the fore of the vision. 

ENV 3 12 Vision - delivering growth to a high design quality that benefits our communities.’ 
 
May be picked up elsewhere but could include reference to low/zero carbon, more 
environmentally sustainable development. Or add ‘that benefits our communities and the 
environment.’ 
 
Also opportunity when talking about the types of homes to reference that all new homes will 
be low carbon in line with forthcoming Future Homes Standard and proposed changes to the 
NPPF. 

ENV 3  
 

12 Change the sentence to ‘Regeneration capitalises on industrial heritage including the Great 
Central Railway and the Grand Union Canal’ 

ENV 3 13 Vision – planting trees will only have a small effect on reducing Charnwood’s GHG 
emissions. Will need more fundamental changes to local economy, energy systems, 

125



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

housing, transport and industry. Bit disingenuous to imply that it can be particularly 
addressed by planting trees and maintaining woodlands.  

ENV 3 13 Development Strategy – opportunity to mention Ultra Low and Low carbon transport / 
mobility solutions. 

ENV 3 13 Development Strategy – will need to go beyond ‘seeking high environmental standards in 
new development’ – will need to require it – at least to level of Future Homes Standard and 
future NPPF. 

ENV 3 
 

13 Next to attractive opportunity to mention the word ‘green’. This would cover aspirations to 
ensure that the town is green, addresses any considerations of air quality and opportunities 
for biodiversity and combat climate change such as the likelihood of urban heating and 
flooding. 

ENV 3 13 Society – doesn’t make reference to the health impacts from pollution caused by vehicles, 
housing, businesses and industry – addressing pollution should also be crucial for 
supporting healthy communities. 

ENV  
3 

14 Add improve permeability of landscape for species. 

ENV 3 14 Environment – is it enough to just ‘seek to deliver biodiversity gain’? It is a legal requirement 
of development 

ENV 3 14 Economy – possible opportunity to make reference to ‘green / low carbon industry’ as a 
sector to encourage in the area 

ENV 3 
 

15 Item 5 add in the word ‘appropriate’ tree planting 

ENV  
3 

15 Item 6 protect the Borough’s soil resources by encouraging appropriate management of soil 
by encouraging biodiverse landscapes in new development and management of land such 
as open spaces.  

ENV  
3 

15 Economy: Helping build a strong responsive and competitive economy. Item 3 ‘green’ 

ENV 3 
 

16 Economy: helping build a strong responsive and competitive economy. Items 7 add in the 
words Biodiverse farming that achieves net zero in carbon emissions.  

ENV 4 
 

17 Paragraph 3 mentions protecting our most environmentally sensitive locations but perhaps 
should include the word ‘enhance’-this reflects the ambition outlined in the Environment Bill.   

126



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

ENV 4 
 

17 Last Sentence penultimate paragraph should read ‘good natural environment’ 

Transport 
Strategy  

3 
(Vision 
and 
Objectiv
es) 
 

18 Q: Do you have any comments on the vision and objectives or think we have missed 
something? 
 
The scattered and relatively small-scale nature of the development locations around the 
borough means that it will be especially important for the local plan to have strong policies 
around the identification of cumulative impacts and the securing of mitigation to offset those 
impacts to achieve the stated vision and objectives. 
 
The Vision refers to “…excellent connections by bus…”. This, along with any other 
references to bus services (or similar) throughout the document (e.g. within draft policy 
LP33), should be widened out to refer more generally to “passenger transport” to reflect the 
County Council’s Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy (PTPS). The distinction is 
important given that the PTPS recognises the increasing financial challenges of supporting 
non-commercial, traditional bus services and the need for alternative solutions such as 
demand responsive transport or community initiatives. 
 

TSAP 4 
(Develo
pment 
Strategy
) 
 

22 Q: Do you agree that we should pursue a low growth rather than a high growth 
scenario? 
 
The initial transport evidence undertaken by Charnwood Borough Council helpfully 
highlighted the magnitude of transport impacts of differing growth options, both in terms of 
quantum and spatial focus. The evidence suggests that, in overall terms, the levels of 
housing growth proposed in the draft local plan should be capable of being accommodated 
on the transport system over the plan period, subject to appropriate mitigation.  
 
However, with regards to the pattern and scale of development proposed, it will be important 
for the local plan to have strong policies around the identification of cumulative impacts and 
the securing of mitigation to offset those impacts to achieve the stated vision and objectives. 
 

ENV 4 24 Should Public Health not also be a consideration for the Development Strategy 

127



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

ENV 4 
 

27 Paragraph 1 the regeneration corridor should also support maximising the potential of other 
open space assets such as the Grand Union Canal and River Soar.  

ENV 4 27 Should there not also be reference to Public Health in considering what types of 
development proposals will be supported. 
 
Could it not also refer to encouraging Low / Ultra low forms of vehicles eg EV’s, LEV’s 

ENV  
4 

28 protect and enhance most environmentally sensitive areas. 

ENV 4 
 

28 contribute to mitigating, resilient and adapting to climate change 
Under protect and enhance the intrinsic character of the countryside.  

TSAP 4 
(Develo
pment 
Strategy
) 
 

29 Q: Do you agree with our preferred development strategy and the way it allocates 
development to different parts of the Borough? 
 
In comparison to the existing core strategy, the proposed distribution of new homes in the 
draft local plan contains a greater number of relatively smaller sites, more widely spatially 
distributed. This being the case, it will be important for the local plan to have strong policies 
around the identification of cumulative impacts and the securing of mitigation to offset those 
impacts to achieve the stated vision and objectives. 
 
With regard to specific locations, the identification of Shepshed as forming part of the 
Strategic Growth Plan’s “Leicestershire International Gateway” suggests that it will be 
necessary to revisit transport connectivity assumptions for this area, for example in respect 
of where people may choose to work in future. It may be necessary to consider joint work 
with North West Leicestershire District Council to develop supporting transport evidence in 
relation to this. 
 
Notwithstanding growth being relatively more scattered than the existing core strategy, 
Charnwood Borough Council’s transport evidence suggests that the draft Local Plan 
proposals are nonetheless likely to place considerable additional pressure on 
Loughborough’s transport system, which will require a coordinated strategy for mitigation. 
 
Equally, the proposed concentration of further growth around the north and west edges of 

128



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

the Leicester Urban Area, when combined with growth within the City and Blaby District, 
means that a coordinated strategy will similarly be needed to develop and underpin delivery 
of transport mitigation measures in this area. 
 
Additionally, the proposed further growth in settlements in and around the Soar Valley is 
likely to put pressure on a highway network which is subject to significant resilience issues 
(i.e. regular flooding, limited cross-river connectivity). As above, this will need to be 
considered as part of strategies for mitigation in this area. 
 

ENV 4 
 

30 ADD 

 Create places that work for both people and wildlife  

ENV 4 30 Note: high quality design and materials is to be commended but it is also important to 
consider ongoing / long-term maintenance. As non-standard materials can be costlier to 
maintain, suitable resource should be secured to fund ongoing long-term maintenance 
 

ENV 4 32 ADD 
We will require new developments to make a positive contribution to Charnwood, 
by……….and provide attractive and functional places that meet the current and future needs 
of the stakeholders, where people will want to live. 

ENV 4 33 LP2 the word biodiversity should be added into the sentence on respect and enhance the 
character of the area, having due regard to ‘biodiversity’  

TSAP 4 
(Develo
pment 
Strategy
) 
 

35 Q: Do you have any comments on draft policy LP2 (High quality design)? 
 
The County Highway Authority (CHA) supports the principle that developments should 
contribute towards the quality of the area and for that to be over the lifetime of the 
development. Either through additions or amendments to the draft policy, or through 
supporting text, the CHA would expect the Local Plan to set out how this is expected to be 
achieved in practice, in terms of the use of any non-standard materials or items proposed to 
be used within the public highway (e.g. through the use of commuted sums). 
 

Highway 
Development 

 39 Birstall, Glenfield, Syston and Thurmaston are, in principle, potentially appropriate locations 
for growth in the district, given the range of facilities these locationsprovide; proximity to 

129



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

Management Leicester; and public transport provision. 
Specific proposals in these areas should be taken forward in a comprehensively master 
planned approach, one that reflects any existing development proposals (including as 
relevant in neighbouring authorities) and other growth options with which this might interact, 
and that establishes the overall package of infrastructure measures (highways, 
transportation and otherwise) required to enable the growth and the approach to delivery / 
funding. 
 

HDM  39 Land off Birstall Meadow Road/ Long Meadow Way, Birstall (10 dwellings): 
Birstall Meadow Road/ Long Meadow Way are subject to Section 38 agreements / part 
publicly maintained. S38 (unadopted) fronting the proposed site and access works required 
to be approved by LHA plus developer/s who maintain the road.  

HDM  
 

39 Land at Gynsill Lane and Anstey Lane, Glenfield - Two parcels (120 dwellings): 
Eastern parcel abuts Leicester City boundary and is located on A5630 Leicester Road 
(50mph section) – the Anstey Lane corridor is a key route into/ out of Leicester and connects 
to the Strategic Road Network (A46 to M1 to M69).  
Western parcel to the south of C3201 Gynsill Lane (60mph section). Has limited or no 
shared boundary with the public highway.  
There are very likely to be cross-boundary implications that would need to be considered, for 
example impacts on roads for which Leicester City Council and/or Highways England is the 
highway authority. 
The A46 around the west and north of Leicester and the M1 between Junction 21a and 
Junction 21 experience significant congestion, accident and journey time unreliability 
problems, and this would need to be reflected / considered in any transport assessment 
work. 
Whilst it is within the boundaries of Leicester City, the delays and congestion on A563 outer 
distributor road can have knock on affects for roads within the County (e.g. through Anstey) 
as drivers divert to less congested (and less appropriate) routes. This too will need to be 
reflected / considered in any transport assessment work.  
A5630 is an A-class road with a speed limit over 40mph thus may be restricted by policy IN5 
of the LHDG. 

HDM  39 Land south east of Syston - Two parcels (747 dwellings): 

130



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

 Eastern parcel: Does not abut public highway although wider strategic landscaping/ open 
space within proposed allocations seems to abut C4301 Barkby Road. 
Western larger parcel: Abuts residential cul-de-sacs only - St Pauls Drive, Pine Drive and 
Cedar Drive. Potential question of suitability of existing roads to carry the additional traffic 
from a development of 500+ dwellings (Policy IN5). This will need to be reflected / 
considered in any transport assessment work.  
 

HDM  39 Land north of Barkby Road, Syston (157 dwellings) 
Barkby Road, Syston (208 dwellings): 
 

HDM  
 

39 Rear of 36-46 Colby Road, Thurmaston (12 dwellings): 
Has no shared boundary with the public highway – land to rear of existing properties. 

HDM  
 

39 Rear of Manor Medical Centre, Melton Road, Thurmaston (20 dwellings): 
Does not abut the public highway. Located off A607 Melton Road on the Melton Road 
Service Road, less than 150m to Leicester City boundary. A607 is a key route into/ out of 
Leicester and connects to the Strategic Road Network (A46 to M1 and Newark).  

HDM  39-40 Loughborough is, in principle, a potentially suitable location for growth in the district, given 
the range of facilities it provides; connections to Leicester and the M1; and public transport 
provision. 
Specific proposals within Loughborough should be taken forward in a comprehensively 
master planned approach, one that reflects any existing development proposals (including 
as relevant in neighbouring authorities) and other growth options with which this might 
interact, and that establishes the overall package of infrastructure measures (highways, 
transportation and otherwise) required to enable the growth and the approach to delivery / 
funding. 

HDM  
 

39 Land off Beacon Road, Loughborough (54 dwellings): 
Does not abut the public highway – only BOTAT K56 (known as Cross Hill Lane) 

HDM  
 

39 Sital House, 3-6 Cattlemarket, Loughborough (15 dwellings): 
Whilst adopted highway, Cattlemarket is pedestrianised.  

HDM  
 

39 Devonshire Square Opportunity Site, Loughborough (252 dwellings): 
Devonshire Square through to Granby Street, and Forest Road to Browns Lane are both one 
of a number of key routes that provides orbital traffic movements around Loughborough 

131



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

urban centre. This will need to be reflected / considered in any transport assessment work. 

HDM  
 

39 Former Petrol Station, Pinfold Gate, Loughborough (25 dwellings): 
Pinfold Gate is intersected by A6 Jubilee Way (Loughborough Inner Relief Road). Section of 
Pinfold Gate on which the site is located can only be accessed via Sparrow Hill (to the north) 
and not off A6. Exit from Pinfold Gate via Sparrow Hill or right turn only onto A6.  
A6 forms part of the County’s proposed Major Road Network and is a key orbital route that 
provides traffic movements around Loughborough urban centre. It experiences congestion 
and delays in peak periods. 

HDM  
 

39 Part of Baxter Gate Opportunity Site, Loughborough (210 dwellings): 
Site located on High Street and Pinfold Gate. There is pedestrian only access from Pinfold 
Gate onto A6 Jubilee Way (A6 vehicular access via B5350 Leicester Road and Baxter Gate). 
The A6 forms part of the County’s proposed Major Road Network and is a key route that 
provides orbital traffic movements around Loughborough urban centre. It experiences 
congestion and delays in peak periods; this will need to be reflected / considered in any 
transport assessment work. Site within 100m of pedestrianised Market Place (former A6).  

HDM  
 

40 Retail Warehouse Car Park, Regent Place, Loughborough (37 dwellings): 
Site abuts A6 Derby Road. A6 forms part of the County’s proposed Major Road Network and 
is a key route that provides traffic movements around Loughborough urban centre. It 
experiences congestion and delays in peak periods. 

HDM  
 

40 Beacon House, Forest Road, Loughborough (9 dwellings): 
B5360 Forest Road fronting Beacon House is a one-way street in the direction of 
Loughborough urban centre. It forms a key route that provides orbital traffic movements into 
and around Loughborough urban centre. 

HDM  
 

40 31-32, Market Place, Loughborough (5 dwellings): 
Whilst adopted highway, Market Place is pedestrianised. 

HDM  
 

40 Former Main Post Office, Sparrow Hill, Loughborough (16 dwellings): 
Site bordered by B589 The Coneries, Sparrow Hill and Cradock Street; and within 120m of 
A6 Jubilee Way. A6 forms part of the County’s proposed Major Road Network and is a key 
route that provides orbital traffic movements around Loughborough urban centre. It 
experiences congestion and delays in peak periods. 
B589 is a key route between the A6 / Loughborough urban centre and Loughborough train 
station/ A60 (wider Charnwood)/ A6004 (part of the County’s proposed Major Road Network 

132



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

around Loughborough). 

HDM  40 Carillon Court Shopping Centre, Derby Square, Loughborough (43 dwellings): 
A512 Derby Square fronting the site is a one-way street in a westerly direction (towards the 
A512 Ashby Road and subsequently the A6004 Epinal Way (part of the County’s proposed 
Major Road Network around Loughborough)). Vehicular access to Derby Square via the 
northern section of C6006 Swan Street (southern section forms part of Loughborough urban 
centre pedestrianised zone). 

HDM  40 Land off Highland Drive and Knox Road, Loughborough (24 dwellings): 
Highland Drive/ Knox Road are subject to Section 38 agreements. Access works required to 
be approved by LHA plus developer/s who maintain the road. 

HDM  40 30 Meadow Lane, Loughborough (52 dwellings): 
The site is located on C6205 Meadow Lane and is within 300m of the A6 and 450m of the 
A6004. The C6205 is a key route between the A6 / Loughborough urban centre and 
Loughborough train station/ A6204 (wider Charnwood)/ A6004 (part of the County’s 
proposed Major Road Network around Loughborough); this will need to be reflected / 
considered in any transport assessment work. 

HDM  40 Land Rear of Snell’s Nook Lane, Loughborough (Nanpantan) (120 Dwellings): 
C7205 Snell’s Nook Lane forms part of a key route from Nanpantan, south Loughborough 
and Woodhouse to the A512 and M1. The A512 between Loughborough urban centre and 
the M1 Junction 23 can experience congestion and delays especially during peak hours 
(major works/S278 has commenced); this will need to be reflected / considered in any 
transport assessment work.  

HDM  40 Land at Woodthorpe, east and west of A6004 Epinal Way, Loughborough – two 
parcels (334 dwellings): 
Eastern parcel abuts A6004 Terry Yardley Way (50mph) and Main Street, Woodthorpe. 
A6004 is part of the County’s proposed Major Road Network around Loughborough and 
leads to the A6 towards Leicester; this will need to be reflected / considered in any transport 
assessment work. A6004 is an A-class road with a speed limit over 40mph thus any 
proposed new access on the A6004 may be restricted by policy IN5 of the LHDG.  
Western parcel does not abut public highway and is segregated from the nearest adopted 
highway by designated open space / outdoor sport pitches; this will need to be reflected / 
considered in any transport assessment work.  

133



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

HDM  40 Nanpantan Grange, Land south west of Loughborough (544 dwellings):  
Does not abut the public highway; the nearest adopted highway is a cul-de-sac which serves 
a hospice. Given the number of dwellings proposed consideration should be given to the 
suitability of the route to the site to carry the additional traffic; this will need to be reflected / 
considered in any transport assessment work.  

HDM  40 Shepshed is, in principle, a potentially suitable location for growth in the district, given the 
range of facilities it provides; proximity to Loughborough and the M1; and public transport 
provision. Those parts of the settlement to the north of the A512 benefit most greatly from 
sustainable access to Shepshed District Centre.   
 
 

HDM  40 Land off Fairway Road, Shepshed (378 dwellings): 
The site is bordered by Fairway Road and the M1. Fairway Road leads to the A512 Ashby 
Road East part of the County’s proposed Major Road Network and then leads to the wider 
Strategic Road Network (M1 junction 23). The A512 between Shepshed and the M1 Junction 
23 can experience congestion and delays especially during peak hours (major works/S278 
has commenced in the area). The C3211 Leicester Road (off Fairway Road) leads into 
Shepshed District Centre. This will need to be reflected / considered in any transport 
assessment work. 

HDM  40 32 Charnwood Road, Shepshed (15 dwellings): 
C3212 Charnwood Road is a key route into Shepshed District Centre and the site abuts the 
designated District Centre boundary. 

HDM  40 Land west of the B591/Ingleberry Road and north of Iveshead Road, Shepshed (174 
dwellings): 
B591 Ingleberry Road (60mph) leads to the A512 Ashby Road East part of the County’s 
proposed Major Road Network and then leads to the wider Strategic Road Network (M1 
junction 23).  The A512 between Shepshed and the M1 Junction 23 can experience 
congestion and delays especially during peak hours (major works/S278 has commenced in 
the area). Access to a range of facilities, including schools, public transport and Shepshed 
District Centre are on the opposite site (to the north) of the A512. As it is more remote from 
Shepshed than other locations, it is likely to be a challenge in terms of walking, cycling and 
public transport connectivity. This will need to be reflected / considered in any transport 

134



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

assessment work.  
The B591 is a B-class road with a speed limit over 40mph, thus any proposed new access 
on the B591 may be restricted by policy IN5 of the LHDG.  

HDM  40 Land North of Hallamford Road and west of Shepshed, Shepshed (250 dwellings): 
Outside of ‘Limit to Development including Commitments’ and separated from developed 
Shepshed.  Any proposal for a possible local plan strategy that envisages distributing 
significant levels of growth to more rural areas should be informed by a cumulative impact 
assessment and by consideration of the approach to securing mitigation for such impacts. 
This location is relatively more remote from Shepshed than other locations, which is likely to 
be a challenge in terms of walking, cycling and public transport connectivity.  

HDM  40 20 Moscow Lane, Shepshed (49 dwellings): 
Moscow Lane is located off the A512 Ashby Road West (part of the County’s proposed 
Major Road Network) and then leads to the wider Strategic Road Network (M1 junction 23). 
Moscow Lane appears rural in nature (no footways/kerbing). Consideration should be given 
to the suitability of the route to the site to carry the additional traffic or mitigation measures. 
Access to a range of facilities, including schools, public transport and Shepshed District 
Centre are on the opposite site (to the north) of the A512. Consideration needs to be given 
to walking, cycling and public transport connectivity.  

HDM  40 Land rear of 62 Iveshead Road, Shepshed (76 dwellings): 
C7207 Iveshead Road leads to the A512 Ashby Road Central part of the County’s proposed 
Major Road Network and then leads to the wider Strategic Road Network (M1 junction 23). 
The A512 between Shepshed and the M1 Junction 23 can experience congestion and 
delays especially during peak hours. This will need to be reflected / considered in any 
transport assessment work.  
Access to a range of facilities, including schools, public transport and Shepshed District 
Centre are on the opposite site (to the north) of the A512. Consideration needs to be given 
to walking, cycling and public transport connectivity.  

HDM  40 Land at Tickow Lane, Shepshed (243 dwellings): 
The site is bordered by Tickow Lane and A512 Ashby Road West (60mph). The A512 Ashby 
Road West forms part of the County’s proposed Major Road Network and then leads to the 
wider Strategic Road Network (M1 junction 23).  The A512 between Shepshed and the M1 
Junction 23 can experience congestion and delays especially during peak hours. This will 

135



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

need to be reflected / considered in any transport assessment work. The A512 is an A-class 
road with a speed limit over 40mph thus any proposed new access on the A512 may be 
restricted by policy IN5 of the LHDG. 

HDM  40 Land at Ashby Road West, Shepshed (27 dwellings): 
The A512 Ashby Road West (60mph) leads to the wider Strategic Road Network (M1 
junction 23). The A512 between Shepshed and the M1 Junction 23 can experience 
congestion and delays especially during peak hours. A512 is an A-class road with a speed 
limit over 40mph thus any proposed new access on the A512 may be restricted by policy IN5 
of the LHDG. 

HDM  41 Of the relatively less urban/ more rural settlements in the district, Anstey, Barrow upon Soar, 
Mountsorrel, Quorn, Rothley and Sileby are, in principle, potentially suitable locations for 
providing for some growth, given their range of facilities, that they are served by public 
transport and have good accessibility to services not available within the settlement. 
Piecemeal additions to relatively more rural settlements can provide challenges insofar as 
they can result in widespread cumulative impacts on infrastructure (highways, transportation 
or otherwise), but it is not possible for a particular site alone to mitigate those impacts. 
Thus, should theproposed draft local plan strategy be taken forward as 
envisaged;distributing significant levels of growth to these areas; any specific development 
proposals should be informed by a cumulative impact assessment for each settlement and 
by consideration of the approach to securing mitigation for such impacts. 

HDM  41 High Leys Farm/ Manor Farm, Anstey (110 dwellings): 
The site is located on Bradgate Road (Service Road). This leads on to the C3206 Bradgate 
Road and The Nook, and subsequently connects to the wider Strategic Road Network (A46, 
to M1 to M69). C3206 provides orbital traffic movements around Anstey. This will need to be 
reflected / considered in any transport assessment work. 

HDM  41 Leicester Road, Mountsorrel (10 dwellings): 
Has no shared boundary with the public highway – land to rear of existing properties. 

HDM  41 Loughborough Road, Quorn (75 dwellings): 
The site is bordered by the C5214 Loughborough Road (50mph) and the A6 (70mph). The 
A6 is part of the County’s proposed Major Road Network around Loughborough and 
connects through to Leicester; this will need to be reflected / considered in any transport 
assessment work. The A6 is an A-class road with a speed limit over 40mph thus any 

136



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

proposed new access on the A6 may be restricted by policy IN5 of the LHDG. 
The site also abuts a 4-arm roundabout serving the two roads detailed above, plus the 
A6004 Terry Yardley Way (50mph) and the A6 Loughborough Road (50mph) which is a 
direct route into Loughborough urban centre. This area can experience congestion and 
delays in peak hours; this will need to be reflected / considered in any transport assessment 
work. The A6/ A6004 leads to the wider Strategic Road Network (A512 to M1 junction 23). 

HDM  41 Land at Woodcock Farm, Rothley (107 dwellings): 
Both sites are adjacent to the A6 which is part of the County’s proposed Major Road 
Network and connects Loughborough through to Leicester. It leads to the wider Strategic 
Road Network (A46 and M1); this will need to be reflected / considered in any transport 
assessment work. 

HDM  41 Kendal Road, Sileby (32 dwellings) 
Land off Barnards Drive, Sileby (228 dwellings): 
HS63 Kendal Road, Sileby and HS64 land off Barnards Drive, Sileby do not abut adopted 
highway.  

HDM  41 Of the relatively more rural settlements in the district, Cossington, East Goscote, Hathern, 
Queniborough and Rearsby are, in principle, potentially suitable locations for providing for 
some small-scale growth, given they only have some (not all) local facilities and that they 
have lower service levels of public transport. 
Piecemeal additions to relatively more rural settlements can provide challenges insofar as 
they can result in widespread cumulative impacts on infrastructure (highways, transportation 
or otherwise), but it is not possible for a particular site alone to mitigate those impacts. Thus, 
should the proposed draft local plan strategy be taken forward as envisaged; distributing 
significant levels of growth to these areas; any specific development proposals should be 
informed by a cumulative impact assessment for each settlement and by consideration of the 
approach to securing mitigation for such impacts. 

HDM  41 Land west of Main Street and north of Syston Road, Cossington (54 dwellings) 
Land rear of Derry’s Garden Centre, Cossington (70 dwellings): 
The sites are likely to present challenges in terms of walking, cycling and public transport 
connectivity. This will need to be reflected / considered in any transport assessment work.  
The land to the rear of Derry’s Garden Centre does not abut adopted highway.  

HDM  41 Land off Melton Road, East Goscote (223 dwellings): 

137



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

The site does not abut Melton Road nor any adopted highway. It is bordered to the east by 
the A607 Rearsby Bypass (60mph) which is a key route between Melton and Leicester; any 
proposed new access on the A607 may be restricted by policy IN5 of the LHDG. 
The A607 leads to the wider Strategic Road Network (A46 and M1); this will need to be 
reflected / considered in any transport assessment work. 

HDM  41 Land rear of 89 Loughborough Road, Hathern (35 dwellings): 
The site connects to A6 Loughborough Road in two locations between existing dwellings. 
These routes into the site would appear to be sub-standard in terms of geometry and 
potential visibility thus this would need to be considered in any proposal.  

HDM  41 Land off Zouch Road, Hathern (50 dwellings): 
The site is located on the A6006 Zouch Road (60mph); any proposed new access on the 
A6006 may be restricted by policy IN5 of the LHDG. 
The site is adjacent (within 150m) to the A6 part of the County’s proposed Major Road 
Network between Loughborough and Kegworth, and then subsequently to the Strategic 
Road Network (M1, A50 and A42); this will need to be reflected / considered in any transport 
assessment work. 

HDM  41 Land off Melton Road, Queniborough (55 dwellings) 
Land at Threeways Farm, Queniborough (100 dwellings): 
The sites are located on the C3308 Melton Road. This leads directly into Syston District 
Centre or to the A607, which is a key route to Melton/Leicester. The A607 also connects to 
the wider Strategic Road Network (A46 and M1); this will need to be reflected / considered in 
any transport assessment work. 

HDM  41 Land off Gaddesby Lane, Rearsby (47 dwellings): 
The site has no direct vehicular access onto the A607 Rearsby Bypass, and is only 
connected by Bridleway I116.  
 
 

TSAP 5 
(Housin
g) 

42 Q: Do you think the sites allocated for housing set out in draft policy LP3 are the right 
sites? If not, what changes or alternative sites would you propose? 
 
The scattered and relatively small-scale nature of the development locations around the 
borough means that it will be especially important for the local plan to have strong policies 

138



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

around the identification of cumulative impacts and the securing of mitigation to offset those 
impacts to achieve the stated vision and objectives. 
 
In locations where there are clusters of allocated sites in proximity (e.g. Syston, Shepshed), 
proposals should be taken forward in a comprehensively master planned approach, which 
reflects any existing development proposals (including as relevant in neighbouring 
authorities) and other growth options with which this might interact, and establishes the 
overall package of infrastructure measures (highways, transportation and otherwise) 
required to enable the growth and the approach to delivery/funding. There could be cross-
boundary implications that would need to be considered, for example impacts on roads for 
which Leicester City Council is the highway authority. 
 
In the context of comprehensive masterplanning, the proposal for two separate, relatively 
small scale housing sites through allocation HS5 (Land at Gynsill Lane and Anstey Lane, 
Glenfield) is not especially helpful in transport terms, particularly in the context of potential 
adjoining growth opportunities in Leicester City and Blaby District. The CHA would prefer to 
see coordinated, joint working between the three authorities to deliver a single, 
comprehensively master planned development in this area. 
 
Whilst sites HS43 and HS44 are allocated as part of the growth proposed for Shepshed, 
they do not adjoin the wider urban area and are therefore likely to be relatively isolated from 
the town in transport terms, and more challenging to provide good quality sustainable travel 
connections to and from. The Local Plan will need to have strong policies in place to 
overcome this. 
 
Development within the “south east Charnwood” area (i.e. Syston, East Goscote etc.) should 
have due regard to the potential longer-term strategic growth and transport infrastructure 
requirements for this area as part of the Strategic Growth Plan’s “A46 Priority Growth 
Corridor”. Particular consideration may be required in relation to proposed allocation sites 
HS8, HS9, HS11 and HS67 within the draft Local Plan. 
 

TSAP 5 42 Q: For some of the larger sites, we have shown on the Policies Map an indication of 

139



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

(Housin
g) 

the potential division of the site between the extent of the built form and the area for 
landscaping and green infrastructure. Do you think this potential division should be 
used to inform development at those locations? 
 
The delineation (and associated status) of potential landscaping and green infrastructure 
areas within allocated sites needs to be sufficiently flexible to ensure that this does not 
prevent the delivery of essential transport infrastructure required to facilitate these sites. 
 

TSAP 5 
(Housin
g) 

49 Q: Do you have any comments on draft policy LP6 (Housing Mix)? 
 
With regards to new housing and specialist accommodation for older and disabled people 
across the Borough, it will be important to ensure that, as far as possible, these are situated 
in locations with satisfactory access to essential services and existing transport provision, to 
minimise potential additional transport requirements. 
 

HDM  61 Employment land at Watermead Business Park, Syston (12.34 hectares): 
The site is located on the Strategic Road Network, the A46 Leicester Western Bypass 
(70mph) and the A607 Syston Western Bypass (70mph). These are key routes into/ out of 
Leicester and connect to the wider Strategic Road Network (A46 Newark, to M1 to M69). 
There are to be cross-boundary implications that would need to be considered, for example 
impacts on roads for which Highways England is the highway authority. The site also 
borders and includes the C3306 Wanlip Road, which leads onto the A46 westbound.  
The A46 around the west and north of Leicester and the M1 between Junction 21a and 
Junction 21 experience significant congestion, accident and journey time unreliability 
problems, and this would need to be reflected / considered in any transport assessment 
work. 
The A607 and A46 are A-class roads with speed limits over 40mph thus may be restricted by 
policy IN5 of the LHDG. 

ENV 6 66 Assume any rural economic development would also need to meet requirements on not 
damaging the environment, meeting net biodiversity gain, mitigating and adapting to climate 
change etc? 

ENV 6 71 Should it not also refer to providing infrastructure that encourages the use of electric vehicles 

140



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

be that private vehicles, taxis, buses etc 

ENV 7 75 We recognise the intrinsic value of the natural environment, its value as natural capital and 
the range of ecosystem services that it provides. 
 
This is not so evident within the document. Still feels as if the environment is secondary to 
economic growth and housing development. 

ENV  
7 

77 ADD 

 Protecting landscape character and biodiversity 

ENV 7 77 Further to comment on the intrinsic value of the environment and natural capital LP19 does 
not include ref to this and instead pics out the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside – which is not the same thing. This needs to be addressed 

ENV 7 
 

80 LP19 protect landscape character and biodiversity 

TSAP 7 
(Environ
ment) 
 

82 Q: Do you have any comments on draft policy LP19 (Landscape, Countryside, Green 
Wedges and Areas of Local Separation)? 
 
It would be helpful if the final version of Policy LP19 made clear that it would be acceptable 
for essential infrastructure (including for transport) to be provided across green wedges and 
areas of separation where necessary to facilitate the development. An example where this 
might apply is the proposed allocation site HS5. 
 

ENV 7 
 

82 Tree and hedge planting 

ENV 7 83 Not sure LP22 adequately recognises the intrinsic value of the natural environment, its value 
as natural capital and the range of ecosystem services that it provides and therefore is 
unlikely to protect it. 
 

ENV  
7 

85 Note: Need to be mindful about the amount of tree planting in the highway and potential 

maintenance/safety implications. Significant underground services in the public highway will 

restrict where certain features including trees can be sited.   

141



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

ENV 7 85 L)22LCC would welcome involvement in the production the SPD on Biodiversity Net Gain 
recognising that habitat networks are cross district and therefore a strategic approach to the 
production of the SPD is essential.  

ENV 7 87 LCC would be keen to ensure our Tree Implementation Plan is connected to Charnwood 
Tree Strategy 

TSAP 7 
(Environ
ment) 
 

90 Q: How do you think we can best achieve our aspiration of significantly increasing the 
number of new trees that are planted in the Borough? 
 
The CHA acknowledges the role that trees can play in enhancing the quality of the area and 
helping to tackle climate change, including those planted as part of new developments. 
However, for these benefits to be realised in practice, it is vital that any newly planted trees 
that are likely to interact with the public highway are covered by effective management and 
funding arrangements for the lifetime of the development. Either through additions or 
amendments to the draft policy, or through supporting text, the CHA would expect the Local 
Plan to set out how this is expected to be achieved (e.g. through commuted sums and 
management companies/trusts). 
 

ENV 7 91 Feel policy does not sufficiently take into account the wider health issues. Open space in 
itself will not support people’s health and wellbeing. The quality of that open space and the 
available facilities is also an important factor as is the environment within which it is set 
especially in terms of air quality.  

ENV  
7 

92  Providing appropriate landscaping and a landscape scheme 
REPLACE WITH 

 Providing appropriate and practical landscape design solutions that reflect the identity 
and quality of place whilst meeting the current and future needs of the stakeholders in 
a sustainable and creative way. 

TSAP 7 
(Environ
ment) 
 

93 Q: Do you have any comments on draft policy LP24 (Heritage)? 
 
The CHA supports the principle that developments should contribute towards the quality of 
the area over the lifetime of the development. Either through additions or amendments to the 
draft policy, or through supporting text, the CHA would expect the Local Plan to set out how 

142



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

this is expected to be achieved in terms of the use of any non-standard materials or items 
proposed to be used within the public highway (e.g. through commuted sums). 
 

ENV 7 104 Reduce impacts for areas of habitat that are vulnerable to climate change as per the Natural 
England Climate Change Vulnerability Mapping. Ensure that habitats vulnerable are in the 
best condition, to allow resilience to the negative impacts of climate change. Not referred to 
within the section.  

ENV 7 104  LP33 requiring new developments to provide well-lit, safe and attractive walking and cycle 
routes that also offer connectivity for people and nature. 

TSAP 7 
(Environ
ment 

108 Q: Do you have any comments on draft policy LP30 (Sustainable Construction)? 
 
We would expect to see specific reference within Policy LP30 to incorporating electric 
vehicle charging infrastructure within the design of new homes/developments. 
 

WASTE 8 109 Could LP 33 go further and seek to reduce dependency on the private motor vehicle. This 
will be critical to meeting climate change and air quality / health targets. Also relevant for LP 
35 

WASTE 3 14 In response to point 1 it is felt that there should be reference to the reduction of waste in 
addition to the minimisation and recycling of waste. In line with the revised waste hierarchy 
of 2008, prevention should be given the greatest priority. 

ENV 8 102 Policy is good 

HDM  
 

115 The Sustainability policy LP33 quantifies 400m from a bus stop. This probably exceeds our 
PT policy.  
 

HDM  115 “We will also work with infrastructure providers to trial new technologies such as street 
lamppost charging points and rapid charging hubs.” Think Policy colleagues were waiting on 
government guidance on this. Lamppost / street charging, licensing and potential public 
liability isn’t at all straightforward. 

TSAP 7 
(Environ
ment) 

116 Q: Do you have any comments on draft policy LP33 (Sustainable Transport)? 
 
The CHA is proactive in supporting sustainable modes of travel. In October 2018, the County 

143



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

 Council adopted its new Passenger Transport Policy and Strategy and is currently 
undertaking service reviews to consider affordable solutions to meet communities’ needs. In 
the context of the PTPS, it should be noted that the CHA is increasingly looking to put the 
onus on site promoters to come forward with passenger transport proposals appropriate to 
the scale and nature of their development as opposed to seeking financial payments through 
S106 agreements. It would be useful if the supporting text to the policy could reflect this. 
 
The commitment to pursuing walking and cycling initiatives in conjunction with the Local Plan 
is welcomed. With regards to the preparation of Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 
Plans, it is important that these are 
developed around appropriate geographical areas, in conjunction with relevant wider 
strategies in planning/development, and in partnership with the CHA and other bodies (e.g. 
Leicester City Council) where applicable. It is important that any LCWIPs produced across 
the housing market area follow a consistent, robust approach/methodology to ensure that 
these are best placed to secure funding for delivery of proposals identified. In practice this 
may require several geographically focussed LCWIPs rather than a single LCWIP for the 
district as a whole and it would be helpful if the wording within the policy/supporting text 
could be tweaked to provide flexibility in respect of this.  
  

TSAP 9 
(Infrastr
ucture 
and 
Delivery
) 
 

117-
121 

General Comment: 
 
The lack of any reference to rail within this chapter is surprising given the importance of 
Loughborough Railway Station and the key supporting role to the quarrying industry within 
the borough. 
 

TSAP 9 
(Infrastr
ucture 
and 
Delivery
) 

118 Q: Do you have any comments on draft policy LP34 (Local and Strategic Road 
Network)? 
 
Noting the potential interactions of growth proposed through the draft Local Plan with 
neighbouring Districts (including Leicester City, Blaby and North West Leicestershire) and 
the potential resulting cumulative impacts within and without the Borough, it would be helpful 

144



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

 if some supporting text could be added to policy LP34 to reflect this and provide a basis for 
cross-boundary contributions and mitigation (it may be considered more appropriate to 
embed this in the policy to ensure it has a sufficiently robust basis). 
 
The third bullet point of the proposed policy refers to “ensuring that any road improvements 
are supported by a robust transport assessment” – should the underlined portion actually be 
“development”? 
 

HDM  118 “We will reduce congestion…” Not sure that wording is in line with the NPPF. 
 

HDM  119 “Leicestershire County Council, as the local Highway Authority, has prepared a 
Leicestershire Highway Design Guide which provides advice on highway design, including 
parking standards. It makes recommendations on the levels of car, cycle, motorcycle, 
electric car charging and disabled parking that should be provided.”  

TSAP  121 Q: What more should the Council and its partners do to ensure that there are robust 
plans in place for providing the infrastructure that is necessary to support new 
development in Charnwood? 
 
The Local Plan should provide a robust policy framework for ensuring that the cumulative 
impacts of growth (both within and without the borough) are properly understood, the 
approach to mitigation is clearly identified and the costs and approach to funding for 
supporting infrastructure and mitigation is also clear. This may include the need for 
comprehensive masterplanning across sites, the development of supporting strategies and 
the development of an agreed approach to the funding and cash-flowing of 
mitigation/supporting infrastructure. 
 
The Local Plan should also have due regard to the potential longer-term strategic growth 
and infrastructure requirements (including transport) within the “south east Charnwood” area 
(i.e. Syston, East Goscote etc.) as part of the Strategic Growth Plan’s “A46 Priority Growth 
Corridor”. 
 

TSAP  121 Q: What steps could the Council and its partners take to ensure that a comprehensive 

145



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

network of public transport services remains available? 
 
In October 2018, the County Council adopted its new Passenger Transport Policy and 
Strategy, and service reviews are currently taking place under this policy to consider 
affordable solutions to meet communities’ needs. In the context of the PTPS, it should be 
noted that the CHA is increasingly looking to put the onus on site promoters to come forward 
with passenger transport proposals appropriate to the scale and nature of their development 
as opposed to seeking financial payments through S106 agreements. This approach 
recognises the increasing financial challenges of supporting non-commercial, traditional bus 
services and potentially requires alternative solutions such as demand responsive transport 
or community initiatives to be explored. As such, the CHA would look to work with the 
Borough Council through the planning process to ensure that new development is 
appropriately supported by passenger transport services. 
 

HDM  138 Burial Ground (yellow) – south west Loughborough 
Does not abut the public highway – only BOTAT K59 (off Nanpantan Road – C3210) and 
PROW footpath K58 (off Cricket Lane). 

  
 

 Not much mention of Park and Ride. Comes up in the Broadnook allocation but not in 
Sustainability or Parking. 

Strategic 
Planning 
 
 
 
   

  Strongly welcome the emphasis on strategic sites in the ‘right’ locations; clearly expressed 
through saving the policies from the current Core Strategy regarding the North East of 
Leicester at Thurmaston SUE and west of Louqhborough SUE, and the draft Local Plan 
which contains updated policies for the north of Birstall (confirming as a SUE allocation), and 
the Watermead Regeneration Corridor (confirming as an allocation as a regeneration 
corridor to support the regeneration of Thurmaston, help meet the needs for jobs and 
maximise the potential of the Country Park). 
 
Note Charnwood Borough Council’s preferred strategy, based on evidence (including the 
use of the new national standard methodology for calculating housing need) is to plan for a 
low growth scenario with a significant element of flexibility to take account of changing 
circumstances.  This translates into Charnwood Borough needing to a provide a further 
5,930 homes to meet needs for the longer plan period once commitments are taken into 

146



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

account, and a further 1,300 additional homes intended to provide sufficient flexibility to 
maintain a supply of housing land. 
 
The County Council supports an evidence-based approach to arriving at the preferred scale 
of housing provision, but expresses caution and concern this may be too low for the 
following three reasons: 
 

 Firstly, the Local Plan provision figure ideally needs to incorporate a buffer of 20% to 
enable sufficient flexibility, and to provide Charnwood Borough with the ability to 
maintain a five-year land supply of deliverable sites. It appears that this is not the 
case.   

 Secondly, partners are now in a position where the scale of unmet housing need for 
Leicester City is becoming clearer and although the redistribution of this unmet need 
is likely to be zero towards Charnwood Borough due to the strategy of the SGP, it is 
suggested that sufficient scope needs to be incorporated in emerging plan making to 
increase provision if informed through the Statement of Common Ground that this 
should be the case.   

 Thirdly, a low growth option does not appear to chime well with the Government’s 
national ambition to achieve the delivery of 300,000 new homes each year, although it 
is noted that the low growth option would still require a step change in housing 
delivery in Charnwood Borough compared to its current Core Strategy requirement 
(820 homes a year). 

 
As such it is considered that the proposed further housing provision figure of 7,252 homes 
should be increased or regarded as a minimum and that further consideration is given to 
increasing the figure on the finalisation of the Statement of Common Ground. 
 
It would be helpful for the housing supply information to be set out more fully and with more 
clarity, so the ’step change’ towards the SGP strategy can be seen more clearly. 
 
With regard to employment land the County Council strongly supports the development and 
further expansion of the Loughborough University Science and Enterprise Park, and notes 

147



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

the continued support for this in the draft Local Plan, recognising the scope to be one of the 
largest science parks in the UK with a diverse range of businesses within the knowledge-
based and high technology manufacturing sectors. 
 
Reference is made to the wider needs for larger strategic distribution units in Leicestershire 
and the current study being undertaken at a Housing Market Area level to ensure a 
combined approach is taken to address the needs of this sector.  The County Council 
supports this approach and understands the results will inform the Pre-Submission Draft 
Plan. 
 
Charnwood Borough Council has reviewed existing employment commitments and 
considers these continue to meet its needs and deliver its preferred strategy for economic 
growth. These commitments include employment provision as part of the SUEs at the North 
East of Leicester, West of Loughborough and North of Birstall as well as part of the 
Watermead Regeneration Corridor.  
    
It is considered that this approach, together with the continued focus of employment uses in 
Loughborough and Leicester, is appropriate; however, should further housing provision be 
made this should be balanced with the further identification of employment land to provide 
the opportunity for the co-location of jobs and homes.  
 
Welcome the opportunity to work with Charnwood Borough, North West Leicestershire 
District and the LLEP to further develop the vision and delivery of the Leicestershire 
International Gateway.  
 
Also wish to see commitment to comprehensive masterplanning within the draft Local Plan 
to aid the co-ordination and delivery of strategic sites and specific smaller sites; particularly 
where there is likely to be a cumulative impact from several related sites.   

Economic 
Growth  

  Question 1 - Profile of Charnwood could be expanded to include town centre leakage figures 
and a list of key tourism assets  
Query the need for even the remaining non-food allocation given the move to on-line sales 
and the number of empty units – is there a way of encouraging use of existing empty units 

148



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

before new ones are built? 
Question 7 – Draft Policy LP 2 omits any mention of new design to mitigate against climate 
change – ground source heat pumps, rainwater harvesting , green roofs wind turbines etc. 
Question 8 – good to see references in there around increasing biodiversity as this could be 
bottom of the pile in asks from any developer contributions. 
Question 10 - Support Draft Policy LP 5 as it backs up work of the Rural Housing Enabler 
through the Leicestershire Rural Partnership. 
Section 6.7 employment talks of the importance of the service sector but there is little on the 
University /college as an important employer in the area – are there any figures that could be 
included? 
Question 23 – how is the plan going to address issues around charity shops and betting 
shops? 

Superfast 
Broadband 

  The support for the provision of superfast broadband networks for all homes and businesses 
is a welcome inclusion. 
As part of this support, it is advised that Charnwood Borough Council consider creating 
incentives for future investment in digital infrastructure within the Local Plan. This could 
include outlining how planning policies will facilitate the rollout of both fixed full fibre and 
mobile infrastructure. 
For example, Charnwood Borough Council may look to incorporate policies that enable the 
future of mobile connectivity and the rollout of small cells for 5G which will become 
increasingly important within urban areas. The Local Plan could also seek to ensure that all 
new developments have sufficient ducting space for full fibre connectivity. It could further 
support the effective use of rooftops and street furniture to accommodate mobile digital 
infrastructure including new 5G technologies.  
A ‘dig once’ approach could be prioritised and consideration given to mandating ‘open 
access’ full fibre provision to all new developments regardless of size.  

Minerals and 
Waste 
Planning 

  Please be aware that on page 148 of the document, Draft Policy LP36 (North of Birstall 
Sustainable Urban Extension), the policy refers to the Leicestershire Minerals Development 
Framework but this has now been replaced by the Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan up to 2031 which was formally adopted on the 25th September 2019.  Regard should be 
given to the Mineral and Waste Safeguarding Charnwood Borough Document S2/2015 
which forms part of the plan and lists the areas of the borough which are safeguarded for 

149



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

mineral purposes.  Please be aware that several of the allocations in the Draft Charnwood 
Local Plan lie in sand and gravel safeguarding areas and this should be considered.  
 
With regards to the proposed site allocations, please be aware that site allocation HS 43 is 
adjacent to two approved waste management sites; Newhurst Quarry where a large-scale 
energy recovery facility is being developed, and the nearby former roof tiles factory where a 
waste transfer station currently operates from, Ingleberry Road.  These are safeguarded in 
the Mineral and Waste Safeguarding Charnwood borough Document S2/2015 which forms 
part of the recently adopted Leicestershire Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 

Adults and 
Communities 

  There are a number of good and diverse museums in Charnwood (including Charnwood 
Museum) and it seems a shame that they are not referenced. Similiarly there is no reference 
to Loughborough Library, the largest in the County. These cultural institutions play a 
significant role in supporting Draft Policy LP14 and the priorities around protecting and 
enhancing heritage assets and encouraging greater tourism at attractions such as the Great 
Central Railway; Carillion, Charnwood Museum and Stoneywell.   

Strategic 
Property  

  The comments of the Strategic Property Services, Corporate Resources Department 
in relation to Leicestershire County Council’s role as a Landowner with property 
interests within Charnwood Borough follow below.  

 
Vision and Objectives 
The vision and objectives are generally welcomed and show strong links with the Strategic 
Growth Plan and the County Council’s Strategic Plan 2018 – 22. However, the Development 
Strategy at Paragraph 1 could be expanded by the following addition, namely, “to maintain 
the role of Service Centres as vibrant sustainable communities by the allocation of 
appropriate levels of new development”. 

 
Development Strategy 
The approach of using the standard methodology as a baseline assessment is seen as 
sound and complies with the requirements of the NPPF. However, it is recognised that there 
will be substantial unmet needs within Leicester City which will need to be accommodated 
within neighbouring authorities; the distribution of which will be set out in a Statement of 
Common Ground (SOCG) to be agreed by all authorities across the HMA. It is therefore 

150



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

essential that the plan is flexible enough to take account of the both the unmet needs of the 
City and potential economic growth. It is therefore considered that the proposed allocation of 
7252 homes be regarded as a minimum and that further consideration be given to 
increasing this allocation on the finalisation of the MoU. 

 
In relation to employment needs the strategy needs to address any potential areas of market 
failure particularly in relation to providing the ability for fledgling business to be established 
and thrive providing a ladder for expansion and business development. 
 
The Settlement Hierarchy is seen as sound and the distribution of new homes across the 
hierarchy as logical as it concentrates on larger urban sites that have the ability to deliver the 
infrastructure required to support the new communities. In addition, the allocation of housing 
to Service Centres is seen as essential to maintaining the sustainability of these 
communities. However, the allocation of specific sites removes the flexibility essential to 
good plan making by reducing the ability to bring forward sites on an opportunity basis to 
meet any shortfalls in supply. Further, the reliance on small sites to deliver 10% of the 
allocation is questioned as is their ability to deliver the infrastructure required to mitigate their 
impact on local services. 
 
The aspiration that development is of good design meets that of the Strategic Plan and 
Strategic Growth Plan and is therefore welcomed. 
 
 Housing  
To reiterate, with the exception of the three sustainable urban extensions (sites HS1 – HS3) 
the allocation of specific sites reduces the opportunity for other sites in sustainable locations 
to be brought forward to meet shortfalls in 5-year supply. In relation to its own land interests 
within Charnwood Borough the County Council would seek to promote the following housing 
site as a potential alternative to that proposed in Policy LP3:- 

 

 Land at Farley Way, Quorn – The Council owns 8 acres of land at Farley Way, Quorn 
situated to the west of the A6 By-pass adjoining existing development. Whilst, the 
land had previously been considered as being located within a flood risk area, 

151



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

exhaustive survey and technical appraisals have been undertaken in consultation with 
the Environment Agency which clearly demonstrate that the current flood map is 
flawed and that the development of the site is not constrained. It is therefore 
considered that the site is capable of contributing at least 48 new homes towards the 
housing needs of the village in a sustainable location close to all existing services and 
within what would be the logical limits of development. By comparison the site at 
Loughborough Road, Quorn is situated in a less sustainable location more remote 
from the village centre and extends into the area of separation between Quorn and 
Loughborough. Further, the land at Farley Way is both available, with a willing 
landowner, and deliverable. Additional information addressing the perceived flood 
zoning constraints has already been presented to the Local Planning Authority to 
provide confidence that the site provides a deliverable development option. 

 
Affordable Housing 
The delivery of affordable housing accords with the Council’s strategic objectives and is 
therefore supported. The level of affordable housing proposed at 30%, as a maximum, 
reflects the overall needs of the Borough, however, the proposal that small sites be exempt 
from contributing towards the achievement of the overall need may act to constrain the 
delivery of required numbers. Recognition that the proportion of affordable housing can be 
reduced in circumstances where it can be demonstrated that the viability of a site cannot 
support the full 30% of affordable housing is seen as sound.  

 
Policy LP5 is seen as maintaining the vitality of smaller settlements and therefore welcomed. 
 
Employment and Regeneration 
The development and further expansion of the Loughborough University Science and 
Enterprise Park is strongly supported. 

 
In common with the allocation of housing sites the policy constrains the potential of bringing 
forward sites on an opportunity basis in locations which meets the criteria set out in the 
remainder of Policy LP12. For example, the County Council owns a 2.5 acre site at Barrow 
Road, Quorn with the ability to deliver circa 45,000 square feet of employment space within 

152



APPENDIX 
Leicestershire County Council Response to Charnwood Borough Council’s Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) 
Preferred Option consultation  

 

easy reach of the village in a location that provides excellent access to the major road 
network at a scale that would be attractive to SMEs and capable of meeting the needs of the 
growing community. Further, the land, which is within flood zone 1, is both available and 
deliverable. 
 
In addition, by taking a more flexible approach the opportunity exists to make up any shortfall 
in land supply caused by any existing employment sites being redeveloped for alternative 
uses. 
 
Policy PL16 is supported as it provides the opportunity to stimulate economic growth through 
the diversification of rural farming businesses and the economic use of underutilised assets. 

 
Environment 
Policies LP19 – LP28 are seen as sound and meeting the requirements of the NPPF in 
relation to the range of issues covered and seeks to protect and enhance the important 
landscape, geological and other natural features of the Borough whilst promoting its leisure 
and economic potential. 
 

 

153



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2019.
	4 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 to 2023/24 - Proposals for Consultation.
	5 Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children's Social Care Services.
	Appendix A Ofsted Inspection Children's Social Care Services
	Appendix B C&FS Ofsted Action Plan

	6 Corporate Parenting Strategy.
	Appendix A Draft Corporate Parenting Strategy
	Appendix B EHRIA Corporate Parenting Strategy

	7 Community Safety Strategy 2019-2021.
	Appendix A Community Safety Strategy
	Appendix B Community Safety Agreement Framework
	Sheet1


	8 Re-commissioning of Substance Misuse Treatment and Recovery Services.
	9 Exception to Contract Procedure Rules - Proposed Appointment of a Provider to Deliver Warm Homes Fund Project.
	10 Response to Charnwood Borough Council's Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-2036) Preferred Option Consultation.
	Appendix  Response to Charnwood Borough Councils Draft Charnwood Local Plan (2019-36) Preferred Option consultation




